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NOMC^ATION OF LAURA D'ANDREA TYSON,
CHAIRPERSON, COUNCIL OF ECONOMIC AD-
VISERS

THURSDAY, JANUARY 21, 1993

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs,

Washington, DC.

The committee met at 9:55 a.m., in room 562 of the Dirksen Sen-
ate Office Building, Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr. (chairman of the

committee) presiding.
The Chairman. Let me call on Mr. Bennett, who has asked be-

cause of a very pressing matter that he is called on to attend, if

he might make an initial comment. And I call on him for that pur-
pose.

OPENEVG COMMENTS OF SENATOR ROBERT F. BENNETT
Senator Bennett. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your

indulgence and your kindness.
Ms. Tyson, I nave to leave immediately for another confirmation

elsewhere, as I'm sure do some of the other Senators. I simply
wanted to make a statement at the outset about how impressed I

was with our conversation in my office and tell you my best wishes,
unless some bombshell arises in this hearing that is called to my
attention later, of my intention to support your confirmation and
work closely with you, and wish you the very best.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN DONALD W. RIEGLE, JR.

The Chairman. Thank you, Senator Bennett.
I think today the practice I would like to follow is to make an

opening comment with respect to our nominee and ask Senator
D'Amato as Ranking Member to do likewise, and then proceed to

the nominee and allow each member in their first period of recogni-
tion to have extra time should they need it to make additional

opening comments that they wish to make at that time, in the in-

terest of trying to move forward today. If there's no objection to

that, that's the practice we'll follow this morning.
We are meeting, of course, to consider the nomination of Laura

Tyson to chair the Council of Economic Advisers. I welcome her

today v,';'.rm.ly. This is a very important position in our Govern-
ment.

In fact, no issue is more important to the future of our Nation
than the careful and wise design and implementation of our na-

(1)



tional economic policies. It affects every person in our country. The
Council has a critical job of providing the analysis that has to be
the foundation for that economic strategy.
This nominee brings excellent qualifications, and I strongly sup-

port her nomination. In fact, I believe you will bring strong and
fresh leadership at a critical time in our national history, and I am
very encouraged by your appointment.
The seriousness of our current economic weakness, I think, is

very clear. This nominee inherits problems not of her making and
she must help guide our way as we undertake to improve our situa-
tion.

We have now gone 4 years without any per capita economic
growth. Unemployment remains at 7.3 percent, which is V2 a per-

centage point higher than where it was when the National Bureau
of Economic Research told us that the recession had ended. And
the number of Americans with jobs is still below the level it was
before the recession began some 2V2 years ago. So in a job sense
this is not a recovery, it's a long-term stagnation, and I think a
sign of failed economic strategies.
Recent economic indicators have shown some slight improve-

ment, but nothing that would indicate that the underlying trend
lines are really now headed in the right way. Consumer debt is

high and consumer savings rates are extremely low, so we can't ex-

pect to see a consumer led growth spurt here.
Debt levels of our corporations also remain very high. Commer-

cial real estate markets remain dangerously overbuilt, as is well
known by this committee. Weakening foreign economies are de-

pressing U.S. exports. And, of course, defense spending is continu-

ing to decline and jobs are vanishing in that sector. Real interest
rates remain high, especially on long-term debt, and money growth
has consistently fallen short of even the Fed's own low growth tar-

get.

Many of the major layoffs and plant closings announced by com-

panies across the country have not yet actually taken place. And
when that happens, the future unemployment rate is going to be
driven up.

I would say over the longer term, the outlook is just as troubling.
We are not adequately investing in the future. Net business invest-
ment over the past 4 years has fallen to about IV2 percent of net
domestic product, down by half from the levels that we saw in the
1960's and 1970's. What investment we have had is dependent
heavily on foreign capital coming into this country. That has trans-
formed us from the world's largest creditor to the world's largest
debtor Nation. That has meant that many of the benefits of that

foreign investment will now be sent overseas to its foreign owners.
We have also cut back sharply on public investment in infra-

structure, and as a result our cities are in very serious
difficulty,

as are other areas of the country. And the condition of our schools

where we develop human capital has also deteriorated markedly.
On top of that, over the last 20 years, we have lost many of our

high tech industries essential to our future growth and prosperity.
So clearly, powerful new economic strategies are needed.
We need at the base 8 million new iobs in the private sector over

the next 4 years. That's 2 million jobs a year, 165,000 roughly a



month on a linear basis, and that's an enormous job surge that has
to be set in motion by our country.

I think our nominee understands this need and recognizes the
vital importance of our strategic industries to our job base and to

our national well-being. She has been willing to argue for tough po-
sitions on critical trade issues to ensure the survival of key indus-
tries in this country. Because she understands that our trade policy
must be part of a coordinated and integrated national economic

strategy, she also supports innovative and responsible fair trade

policies to spur U.S. investment and growth here in this economy
and job growth associated with it.

She brings superb credentials for the job. She graduated suma
cum laude from Smith, received her Ph.D. from MIT, has taught
at Princeton and at the Harvard Business School. She is now full

professor at the University of California in Berkeley. She has writ-

ten three books, edited five others, and authored more than 40 arti-

cles.

I have a number of letters of support for Professor Tyson from

leading economists, including Nobel Prize winners Lawrence Klein
of the University of Pennsylvania and Robert Solow of MIT, among
others. And I would ask without objection that they be made part
of the record.

We are delighted to have her here with us today. She is no

stranger to this committee, having testified just last June before
the Committee on Foreign Investment. And we look forward to

hearing from her shortly.
Senator D'Amato.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR ALFONSE M. D'AMATO
Senator D'Amato. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am

going to ask that my statement be placed in the record so we can

spend our time listening to the nominee.
The Chairman. Without objection, so ordered.
Senator D'Amato. And have an opportunity to pose our ques-

tions.

The Chairman. Very good.
Ms. Tyson, it is our standard practice to ask you if you will stand

now. I want to administer the oath, and then we will call on you
for your comments.
We are delighted to have you. If I may now, let me invite you

to present any members of your family that may be present and
make your opening comment. Then we will go to additional com-
ments from members of the committee.

TESTIMONY OF LAURA D'ANDREA TYSON, NOMINATED AS
CHAIRPERSON OF THE COUNCIL OF ECONOMIC ADVISERS
Ms. Tyson. Thank you very much. I am honored to be here today

before you. Chairman Riegle, Senator D'Amato, and the members
of the committee.

I would like to thank Senator Dianne Feinstein for her opening
introductory statement, which I have been handed.
The Chairman. We will make that a part of the record.
Let me invite you to pull that microphone just a little closer so

you can be heard in the back of the room.



Ms. Tyson. I do have some family members here with me. I have
my husband, Erik TarlofT, who is a gifted writer, and as many of

you might know from reading the New York Times, also a very
funny writer. My 9-year-old son was supposed to be here, but some-
how or other I haven't succeeded in making economics quite inter-

esting enough for him.
I Laughter. I

Ms. Tyson. He preferred actually to do his homework this morn-
ing, so he is doing his homework.

I did, however, bring my sister, Susan Lee, who came to spend
the week with me during the inaugural activities.

Let me begin by thanking the members of the committee that I

was able to meet with over the past 2 weeks. There were some very
provocative and probing questions, very helpful comments, and I

really look forward to working with all members of the committee
in the coming years.
As I think the members of this committee will understand, the

short term technical problems and the long term competitiveness
problems that face our economic future are not simply theoretical
or mathematical constructs. They are real world facts, and their

impact on the lives of ordinary Americans is real and potentially
devastating.

I have been studying the problems of the American economy
carefully for over a decade, since I first worked with John Young,
who was then the CEO of Hewlett Packard. John Young was the
head of President Reagan's Commission on Industrial Competitive-
ness, and it was a bipartisan effort. John Young did turn to some
academics at Stanford and Berkeley to help him define the problem
of competitiveness.
What was the issue or issues confronting the Nation in the long

term? We actually came up with a definition of competitiveness,
which has become fairly standard in discussions. And that is the

ability of a Nation to produce goods and services that meet the test
of international competition, at the same time generating rising liv-

ing standards for the citizens.

Since that time, since the 1982 commission, the competitiveness
of the American economy has exhibited continuing and disturbing
signs of erosion. During the last decade, our trade imbalances have
totalled over a trillion Hollars, our producers have lost huge market
shares in several key international industries: computers, auto-

mobiles, commercial aircraft, telecommunications products, ma-
chine tools to name a few.
At the same time, our gross domestic product per capita, which

is one of the broadest gauges of standard of living, has grown more
slowly than that of tne other advanced market economies, our

major competitors. Our real wages have fallen or stagnated for

most American workers for more than two decades. Our investment
rate has persistently lagged behind that of our competitors in plant
and equipment and research and development for civilian purposes,
and worker training.
We can tell the story of the competitiveness difficulties of the

American economy with many statistics. Perhaps to me the most
disturbing is the fact that since 1980, the portion of American fami-

lies, full-time workers with annual incomes below the poverty rate



for a family of four, has increased from 12 percent to nearly 18 per-
cent. What that means is that full-time work in the United States

no longer secures a bright future for our children.

As an academic who has chosen to study real world problems
rather than abstract mathematical models, I hope that I can bring
to the Council an ability to bear an informed and intuitive sense

of how economic policy affects people's lives. I also believe that this

practical, pragmatic approach is shared by the other members of

President Clinton's economic team.
I am deeply honored to be working with such distinguished indi-

viduals as your former congressional colleagues, Lloyd Bentsen and

Congressman Leon Panetta, also from the great State of California,
and with Robert Rubin, the chair of the new Economic Council. We
have already established a very good, firm working relationship
and I can assure you that, if I am confirmed as chair of the Council

of Economic Advisers that the council will indeed play an integral

part of President Clinton's economic team.
To me, all the questions confronting this Nation's economy, ques-

tions of recession, of competitiveness, of national solvency, all of

these questions must finally be understood in terms of the quality
of American life. All must be understood in terms of a simple, con-

crete question, are the lives of our citizens improving? That ques-

tion, I believe, is at the heart of President Clinton's plan, putting
people first.

Putting people first is precisely what my economic philosophy
seeks to do. I look forward to working with you, both political par-
ties, and with the American people to strengthen the economy, not

only for ourselves in our generation, but for future generations as

well.

Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you very much.
Senator Feinstein has arrived and is, I think coming around. Oh,

I beg your pardon.
Welcome. Please come on up to the table. We have, of course, re-

ceived your statement, but we are delighted to have you here.

Let me invite you to pull that microphone over so you can be
heard. And we would welcome any comments you have at this

time.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR DIANNE FEINSTEIN, U.S. SENATOR,
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Senator Feinstein. Thank you very much. Senator Riegle and
members of the committee. It is a pleasure for me to be before you
to say a few words on behalf of Laura Tyson, because Laura Tyson
is a native Californian, and she was also one of my economic advis-

ers in my Senate campaign. So I have an opportunity to know her.

There is one quote I would like to read, which I believe is de-

scriptive and appropriate. It is a quote by Mr. Robert Kuttner, in

an article he wrote, an op ed piece for the Washington Post, enti-

tled "Real World Economist." Ajid if I might quote:
The Nation's leading economists who gathered this past week for the annual

meeting of the American Economic Association are upset that Bill Clinton did not
draw from the old boy network to select his chief economist. Instead, he picked
Laura Tyson of the University of California at Berkeley, an unconventional econo-



mist with a dazzling intellect, who chooses to work in English rather than in alge-
bra, and to study the real economy rather than build sand castles.

I think this is very descriptive and I would hke to speak from
the perspective of a Cahfornian who has recently become your col-

league. What I found during the last two years in California were
economic predictions that did not in any way, shape, or form match
the reality of the California economy. California is the largest
State. It is not out of the recession. It is approaching double-digit
unemployment.
Laura Tyson is knowledgeable on the real world. She is a re-

spected economics professor at the University of California at

Berkeley. She has earned a reputation of being a pragmatic yet un-
conventional expert in the field of economics. Her focus has been
on technology, trade, and competitiveness in the international econ-

omy, and it gives her invaluable perspective as our Nation com-
petes in a rapidly changing global marketplace.

In her recently published book. Who's Bashing Whom?, Professor

Tyson outlines a progressive trade policy to assist American compa-
nies now disadvantaged in selling products abroad. This is only one

example of the type of program Laura Tyson will explore as we at-

tempt to jump start our economy.
The nominee's extensive writing also shows her detailed knowl-

edge of foreign policy, economic competitiveness, and the economic

systems of the eastern European countries.

She was born in New Jersey. She earned her doctorate in eco-

nomics from MIT in 1974. But it was in California at one of the

leading think tanks for progressive economic policymaking that
Professor Tyson has earned her outstanding reputation.
She is the director of the Berkeley Institute of International

Studies, as well as the research director for the Berkeley Round
Table on the International Economy. Her advice has been sought
by a wide range of groups.
She is a member of the Cuomo Commission on Trade and Com-

petitiveness, the Economic Policy Institute Research Council, the
Council on Foreign Relations, the subcommittee on a Global Eco-
nomic Strategy for the United States, and the Los Angeles Times
Board of Economists.
Laura Tyson has described herself as a "cautious activist." To

me, that I believe will be the single most important characteristic

she will bring to the Council of Economic Advisers. She will build
a consensus among her colleagues as she promotes innovative eco-

nomic programs.
I might say I took her advice in my campaign. And based on that

advice, was able to beat an incumbent U.S. Senator. It was good
advice, and it was responded to by the people of California.

It is my very strong feeling that she is an excellent choice, and
will distinguish herself and the Council of Economic Advisers.
Thank you very much.
The Chaif^man. Senator, thank you very much. That is a very

important statement. We welcome it and we welcome you today. I

know you have other things to do today, so let me excuse you if

you need to go, and we will proceed in order now.
Senator Fkinstein. Thank you very much. Senator. I appreciate

it.



The Chairman. Ms. Tyson, I want to start on an issue that re-

lates to the jobs situation in the country right now, and I want to

refer to a chart here that President Clinton has made reference to

as well.

What it shows is that when we started this recession and have
come down through time, out now some 21 months since its incep-
tion, we have gone into a situation where we have had an enor-
mous job loss. If we look at what has happened on average in seven

previous recessions, by this time since the start of a recession, we
would be way up here in terms of job recovery and job growth. In

fact, at the present time, we are way down here; there is an enor-
mous gap. This is fundamentally different than what we have seen
in our past experience.
So you have this odd situation where there is a recovery in the

GNP growth, modest I would say, but we're not seeing the jobs
come back. In fact, we're seeing, if anything, a disappearance of

jobs, a lot of the best jobs in manufacturing. We see them in the
defense industries, but we see them also in other areas of manufac-
turing. We are seeing a lot of them disappear even in financial

services, where there is a lot of consolidation going on.

I deduce from this, and in listening to what President Clinton
has had to say, he has set a goal, as I understand it, of shooting
for the creation of some eight million new private sector jobs out
over the next 4 years. Is that the essential bottom line goal in

terms of the economic strategy that is being developed now?
Ms. Tyson. That was definitely a stated goal during the cam-

paign and it certainly remains a priority issue. There is very firm

understanding of the special features of this recovery, as you sug-
gested, both a modest recovery—that is, we haven't had any period
of time during which the growth rate really has gotten up into the
5 or 6 percent range that you sometimes see, often see in a strong
recovery. This is a modest recovery, and jobs are not recovering.
That is recognized as a major priority issue.

The Chairman. I want to now, in the time that I have, look at
the trade situation particularly, because you've written about that
issue. I want to have you respond in this area.
This chart shows what our merchandise trade deficit has been

with the rest of the world since 1980 on a cumulative basis. And
it really is a stunning portrayal of national economic difficulty.
This chart is notched in $100 billion segments. We don't often have
charts that try to count that high. But, as you can see, out through
the end of 1992, we now have had over $1 trillion cumulative mer-
chandise trade deficit with the rest of the world. Unfortunately, it's

continuing to grow. We had a very sharp trade deficit last year.
If you look at some of our bilateral trade performance with se-

lected countries, you will see here that with respect to Japan par-
ticularly, we have had deficits every year in our trading with Japan
starting out at $12 billion in 1980, getting up by 1987 to nearly $60
billion. It has come down somewhat into the $40 billion a year
range, but it has started to go back up again, which is a dangerous
sign I think for our economy.
But a total over a period since 1980 of $V2 trillion that the Japa-

nese and their trading practices have extracted from our country,



s

I think weakening our country, damaging our job base. And the

problem isn't getting any better; it's getting worse.
If I could have the one on Mainland China. We talk about Com-

munist China, probably one of the most repressive governments on
Earth. We are seeing now the same pattern developing here that
we saw with Japan. In other words, these huge bilateraltrade defi-

cits getting much larger each year. In fact, we can't keep this chart

revised, because the numbers for 1992 have grown so rapidly. It's

now said that the deficit for 1992 is going to be, when the final

numbers are in, somewhere between $15-$17 billion. That means,
that much additional money has left the United States and gone
to Communist China, creating jobs there as jobs continue to dwin-
dle in this country.
As you look at this situation— I realize this is just one dimension

of the problem. I don't mean to suggest it's the whole problem—
it's only part of it. But when you look at the job loss related to

these huge trade deficits and the element in which trade cheating
or unfair trade practices may be part of it, how serious are these
trade deficits as a contributor to the unemployment problem in this

country?
Ms. Tyson. Let me start by noting that the trade imbalance

problem is a problem that, as you know, I have worried about a lot

in my own work. It has been a very disturbing decade in terms of
the cumulative trade imbalance. We did have, of course, some im-

provement between 1987 and the present time. However, what is

disturbing about the situation is that even with the improvement,
we ended up with trade imbalances in the $70 billion range.
What that means, of course, is that if, for example, in the next

few vears, the next year, say, the U.S. economy does end up grow-
ing faster than some of our major trading partners, it's very likely
that that trade imbalance will start to deteriorate again.
The Chahjman. In other words, it will get worse for us?
Ms. Tyson. It will get worse for us.

What's disturbing is that during a period of time when we are

really trying to make some progress to get rid of it, we ended up
with an imbalance which is in the $70 billion range, and likely as
I said, if we grow more rapidly than our trading partners, to re-

verse and turn up again.
The second thing I want to say is you talked a bit about Japan

and China. As you also know, in my work, an important focus of

my work has been to think about the trade problem as an export
issue. It certainly is true that we have gained jobs in the United
States from exports and we have lost jobs from imports.
We want to try to increase the gains by increasing our exports

and that, of course, is made difficult for us when we confront access

barriers with major trading partners. Such barriers have certainly
been documented in the case of Japan in particular industries. And
they have been documented in the case of China in particular in-

dustries.

So I think it is very important for us as we worry about trade
in the United States, as we worry about job creation in the United

States, to be very active in making sure that we identify and re-

spond to trade barriers that really adversely affect our producers
at home, and therefore our job base at home.



The Chairman. We'll come back to that just a little later.

Senator D'Amato.
Senator D'Amato. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Professor Tyson, I am very much concerned about the question

of deficit reduction and the need that has been expressed by some,
and it would seem yourself as well, to raise taxes. In one article,

you speak to the issue of raising energy taxes, and you indicate

that $30-$40 billion might be raised. Then you suggest in another
article that $400-$500 billion could be raised, miraculously it says.
That's in the Los Angeles Times, June 21, 1992.
How would you raise that $400-$500 billion? You seem to indi-

cate when the economy gets into stride, that's when you would rec-

ommend undertaking that action. Where would you get this $400-
$500 billion? Is that something you're advocating?
Ms. Tyson. No, let me first explain that particular comment and

then I will talk generally about deficit reduction.

That article, I was really raising the point—it was motivated by
a chart in The Economist, the British financial magazine. They
produce charts on economies around the world showing different

features of them. And there was a particular chart which showed
if you rank countries by taxes as a percentage of GDP, and you
looked at where the U.S. stood in this ranking out of I think 25

countries, the U.S. was really at the bottom, that our tax share,
our tax take as a percentage of GDP is actually not, compared to

other major industrial countries, some of which do better than us
and some of which do worse than us, but there's no sort of pattern
here, other than that they have much higher and rising tax bur-
dens.
What that statement about the $400-$500 billion was not a pol-

icy proposal as much as an observation that if we had the average
tax burden of the other OECD countries, that is the other major
industrial countries of the market system, that we could raise reve-
nue in that range if we simply had that rate. It was an observation
rather than an advocacy position.

Now, let me get to the issues of deficit reduction, and what I

think we will all have to consider.

Senator D'Amato. Could I just interrupt for a moment? I have
a little trouble following this. I read this article and it says, once
the recession is over—this is June 21, 1992, Los Angeles Times—
if we increase our overall tax rate to the average rate paid by the
other advanced industrial countries, we could raise an additional

$400-$500 billion in Government revenue and miraculously cure
our deficit problem. I mean, aren't you advocating this?

Ms. Tyson. Let me tell you what I do think is my advocacy posi-
tion. First of all, what I would say is the following. I think tnat all

of us would agree, as certainly the members of the Clinton eco-

nomic team agree, and I believe from talking to you all that you
would agree that the deficit is a problem we must all address.

In reducing the deficit or addressing that problem, there have
been a series of studies, bipartisan studies, partisan studies, aca-
demic studies, studies by business interest groups, and all of them
have reached basically a similar conclusion. The conclusion is there
is no simple, easy, silver bullet way out of our deficit problem. That
a serious approach is probably going to require that all items be
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on the table. Those items will include some revenue issues and
some spending issues.

As to the composition of those, I think it's important to evaluate
a series of spending cuts or tax measures in terms of other goals
then reducing the deficit as well. So you would have to look at a
series of things, and that is my position.

I think that again, another thing that you pointed out in that
statement there was to do something about deficit reduction when
the economy recovers. The reason I made that statement is because
as we find ourselves in a difficult situation, we have an economy
which is not a robust economy. We have an economy which is, be-

cause of the jobs recession and because of the high unemployment
rate, we have an economy with a lot of excess capacity in it. One
estimate, sort of a conservative estimate, is we have four percent
excess capacity. We are not fully utilizing our resources. And we
also know that if we look to the out years, particularly 1996, 1997,
and beyond, that the deficit is moving up rapidly.
So we have a problem here. We want to both restore the economy

to a more robust state and deal with the deficit in the long run.
Senator D'Amato. I understand that, and I hear the buzzer and

I am going to try to adhere to not going beyond that. But if we are

talking about raising $400-$500 billion, and it certainly seems that
this is advocated
Ms. Tyson. Let me say that that is not advocacy.
Senator D'Amato. My point is, where do you get these taxes?

You're not going to get them from taxing only people making over

$200,000.
Ms. Tyson. Let me emphasize for the record that that was an ob-

servation that if we behaved the way the other advanced industrial

countries behaved in terms of tax burden as a percentage of

GDP
Senator D'Amato. Are you advocating that we follow their exam-

ples?
Ms. Tyson. I am not advocating it.

Senator D'Amato. Because I have to tell you I reject that as a
manner by which to move this country forward.
Ms. Tyson. I simply made the observation that some of these

countries, take Germany for example, which are doing—^have done
over the past decade quite well compared to us in terms of GDP
per capita growth

Senator D'Amato. So we take one country and we say over a dec-

ade that it's been doing well. Now we're going to adopt their tax-

ation methodologies?
Ms. Tyson. As I said. Senator D'Amato
Senator D'Amato. You see, this becomes important because peo-

ple begin to set up, as I say, straw men like this and we get indus-

trial countries and say, look there, they're doing well, and we
should follow. And our tax rate isn't as high, et cetera. That doesn't

cover the entire spectrum.
Ms. Tyson. Of course not.

Senator D'Amato. It may take a year, 2 years, or even a decade.

Ms. Tyson. Of course not. Let me just state my position on look-

ing at other countries. I was trained as a comparative economist.

I started work looking at other systems and then I began to look
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at our own. I believe there are things we can learn from other sys-
tems.
We should not in any way think, or you should not think I advo-

cate in any way simply part and parcel copying another system.
One can learn from the experiences of other economies. But I really
want to emphasize that that was not an advocacy position. And
what I tried to state in my answer was what my position is. We
need to look at all options, because we have a very serious deficit

reduction plan, a program we must develop.
Senator D'Amato. Thank you.
The Chairman. We will now proceed in a fashion where I am

going to invite each member to make an opening comment if they
wish to. I am not going to start the time clock until you move to

a question, so that everybody has a chance to make an initial com-
ment if they should wish to do so as we go on down the order in

which people have arrived.

Senator Murray.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR PATTY MURRAY
Senator Murray. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the op-

portunity to make an opening comment.
I just wanted to say, Dr. Tyson, that I really enjoyed our con-

versation. Your understanding of the issues affecting Washington
State from aerospace to high tech to trade was very impressive,
and I look forward to working with you.

I was also very pleased to hear Senator Feinstein talk about the
fact that you were going to talk in down-to-earth language that ev-

eryday people understand, because my feeling throughout this last

year, throughout the campaign was that the economy is the most
critical issue affecting all of us, and even for those people who are

working today their concern is that they may not have a job a year
from now, or 2 years from now, 5 years from now.
And they want to know what is our economy going to be for the

future and how—what kind of job do I train my children for, what
kind of education do they need, and what is the big picture going
to be. And they want to hear it in realistic terms.
So I look forward to hearing that from you and to hearing from

you throughout this hearing about what you see as the short term
solutions. Is it a middle income tax break? Do we need to deal with

helping people buy homes? How do we deal with the health care
issues? And in the longer term, what is our economy going to be
based on 10, 15, to 20 years from now.
Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you. Senator Murray.
Senator Faircloth.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR LAUCH FAIRCLOTH
Senator Faircloth. Thank you.
Ms. Tyson, in his inaugural address, President Clinton talked

about sacrifice. I assume by sacrifice, he means additional taxes.
The American people are paying a third of their income now for

taxes. I have been through hearing after hearing, or several here.
I have heard talk of tax increases. I have heard talk of sacrifice.

And I haven't ever heard one word mentioned about reduced spend-
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ing in the Federal Government, which is one of the causes of the

problem, the major cause.

I hope that we will consider reducing the deficit by reducing Fed-
eral spending, which is the only way we're going to reduce it. It has
never been proven we could reduce it by increased taxes. If they
have, I would like for you to tell me later on how we did it and
when.
Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you very much.
Senator Boxer.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR BARBARA BOXER
Senator Boxer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Forgive me, because

I made a mistake and made an appointment to give a speech this

morning and I miscalculated and I am very happy that Senator
Feinstein was here.

I ask unanimous consent, Mr. Chairman, that my statement and
introduction be placed in the record.

The Chairman. Without objection, we're delighted to have it.

Senator Boxer. I would just say that I am very impressed with
the individual who sits before us. I think Bill Clinton made a very
wise choice.

I think there are Senators sitting here, some would think it is

relevant to discuss what other countries do and others don't. I re-

spect both views. When I get to the questions, I am going to ask

you what other countries do, vis-a-vis their industries. Because we
are in a global economy and it seems to me that America can't sit

back and not pay attention to what other countries do. Or we have
to look at what they're doing vis-a-vis our own trading posture and
how it's affecting our economy. I'll get to those questions later. I

welcome you.
The Chairman. Senator Boxer, I indicated just before you arrived

that we're going to modify the approach just a little bit this morn-

ing. I was going to invite each member to make a brief opening
comment and we wouldn't start the time lights first, which you've
just done and Mr. Faircloth has just done. And then proceed into

your initial questions through the 5 minute period and then we will

rotate on that basis.

Senator Gramm. Since everybody started, why don't we let every-
body do a little opening statement.
The Chairman. I am open either way. Kit, I know you have a

problem, do you not, where you have to go to the Appropriations
Committee?
Senator Bond. I think four of us are going to have to leave at

11:00 o'clock. We'll come right back. I intend to be around.
The Chairman. I am happy to do it either way. I think the view

is that we get to the questions. So, Senator Boxer, why don't you
go ahead with your initial round of questions, and then we will go
next to Senator Bond.
Senator Boxer. Thank you very much.
As I said just seconds ago, as I look around the world today, I

see there are many countries whose policy it is to work with major
industries to help develop those major industries. And frankly, at
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a great cost to America, subsidize those industries. We see Airbus,

we see computer areas, we see other high tech areas.

I come from a State, for example, that's very big in aerospace.

And it is very difficult for me to talk to workers and management
and try to explain why America does nothing by way of a policy

here. And other countries, who we compete with, are very, very in-

volved.

Could you give us an overview, more general than specific? You
don't have to pick a particular industry if you don't want to. Of

your view as to whether or not it is important for America to look

at what these other countries do and perhaps when you feel that

what they do puts us in a very uncompetitive situation, step in

with some kind of industrial policy or, for want of that term, an

economic strategy if you will.

Ms. Tyson. I think that the kinds of issues that Senator Boxer

is raising are issues that really motivated this piece of research,
called Who's Bashing Whom? Incidentally, the title comes from my
writer husband, a lovely title.

The way I see the situation is, in many industries we have a se-

ries of trading partners who have done a variety of things to really

promote and build their own industrial capacity. Sometimes they
have done that within the international rules, and sometimes they
have done it outside the international rules. There are a series of

cases that I've looked at in very detailed fashion which really show
that these policies have had the effect of being beneficial to the pro-

ducers in foreign countries and often harmful to our producers.
These kinds of policies can run from market access barriers, for

example, that confronted Motorola and Cray Supercomputer in

their attempts to sell outstanding products in the Japanese market,
to the problems confronted by McDonnell Douglas and Boeing be-

cause of the heavy subsidies the Europeans have given to their air-

craft, to sort of spillover effects on the United States, for example,
that come from European policy to encourage Japanese producers
to produce in Europe and then to sell to the United States or to

sell in other markets where U.S. companies are competing.
The variety of policies that other countries use, and they do have

and have had and continue to have detrimental effects on the Unit-

ed States. So first I think you need to understand what other coun-

tries are doing, just because what they're doing has bad effects on

us. And if we're going to make policy in an informed kind of fash-

ion, we at least need to know the game that's being played.

Now, what do we do about this? My ideal really would be to have
a better set of rules, multilateral rules, and a stronger multilateral

system so that certain kinds of activities by foreign governments
were really precluded.

If we had a set of rules that concerned restrictive business prac-

tices, or concerned foreign government subsidies, then certainly the

trade conflicts that we've been involved in, certainly the things that

our foreign trading partners have done, would simply have been
disallowed.

That's why we should be absolutely committed at all times to try
to foster the GATT system, to try to get a strong Uruguay Round
solution, to try to go even further than that and deal with issues
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that are already on the table in the current round of discussion. So
I am first and foremost in favor of a strong multilateral system.
What I try to argue again, if I may go back to my openinjp^

state-
ment of emphasizing my pragmatism rather than my sort of under-

lying ideologies, my pragmatic approach would suggest that it

takes a long time to get international agreements. As you can see,
the Uruguay Round has dragged on for six years. We negotiated
with the Europeans for a decade on an agreement on controlling
subsidies to Airbus, a decade. And during that decade, Airbus be-
came the second major producer in the world, displacing McDonnell
Douglas, and is now in a position of serious competition for Boeing.
So the question for the United States, frankly, becomes interim

question, what to do in the meantime in the absence of multilateral
rules. And I think there we have to consider policies that make the
United States a more attractive place to do business for American
companies.
These are general policies about promoting lower cost of capital,

promoting investment in the United States, giving us a better
skilled and flexible work force. They are also policies that have to

do with civilian research and development support because in

many industries that I have looked at, we have American compa-
nies without much research and development support facing com-
panies with a substantial amount of support coming through their

governments.
We have to be very active in using American trade law that we

have effectively, and we have to recognize the nature of the com-
petition and negotiate actively and effectively with our trading
partners to deal with their practices. And I think that's what we
have to do.

We need also to learn from other countries about what works and
what doesn't work. That is, again, to go back to Senator D'Amato's

question, I do not advocate that we copy other countries. On the
other hand, I do suggest that certain things other countries have
tried have worked very well for them.

For example, in the German case, there is a widespread view
based on a lot of research that their apprentice system is very fine

and they are able to have a more flexible and skilled work force

because of the way that business works with educational institu-

tions to train people. I think that's important and should be part
of our policy that we learn from other countries.

That certainly doesn't mean that we adopt a full-fledged plan-
ning approach to our industrial sector, which I do not advocate. So
I just want to make clear what I think the nature of the problem
is, what I think we can learn from other nations, and the kind of

things which we in our own system can consider doing better.

The Chairman. Thank you.
Senator Bond.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR CHRISTOPHER S. BOND
Senator Bond. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Tyson, as I understand the past role of the CEA, it has been

to act as an advocate having the President's ear for basic economic

principles, principles that are important, some of us believe, to the
success of our country.
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The CEA has been a strong voice for free market, broad economic
interests. It has advocated protecting entrepreneurship and the op-

portunities for small business to grow. This has been the underly-

ing theology.
Based on that theology in the past, I think the CEA has played

a role in killing the proposal to invest billions of dollars in the su-

personic transport. More recently, the Department of Commerce
came forward with an idea to promote analog HD TV. It turned out
that was killed. And fortunately so, because as a result our indus-

tries have gone forward with digital HD TV.

Frankly, I think there is no shortage of pragmatists who will be
in the Cabinet and in Congress who will come up with ideas for

specific Government actions that have significant economic impact.
I would like to know what is your underlying

economic philoso-

phy? What viewpoint do you believe you snould be representing
and advocating to the President and to this body?
Ms. Tyson. Let me start by agreeing with you that my under-

standing of the role of the Council of Economic Advisers, which I

would commit myself to maintain, is that the Council of Economic
Advisers advises the President. It also, in advising the President,
does speak to general economic issues and to, of course, the basic

underpinning of our system, which is a free market economy.
I am trained as an economist in the United States. I am totally

committed to a market system. I am totally committed and I un-
derstand the strengths of our system.

I want to, by working with my colleagues in the Clinton adminis-

tration, deal with making that market system stronger, not with

making it weaker.
On the issue of entrepreneurship, just

let me say that certainly
having looked at high technology inaustries as I have, I certainly

recognize the importance of entrepreneurial activities to the devel-

opment of whole new industries in the United States. I recognize
the importance of the small sector of this economy to the creation

of jobs in the United States.

And so I think that I am a great advocate of those policies which
would promote investment by entrepreneurial companies, promote
the formation of new companies that provide us both with new
technologies and new jobs. So I think you can rest assured that I

will support the broad economic interests, support the market sys-

tem, defend against interventions in the market system, and pro-
mote entrepreneurship and small business.

Now, having said that, let me just talk a little bit about a phrase
that's been used about me in the press, which I adopted for myself,
so I feel free to use it. And that is "cautious activism." I think what
I really am getting at here again relates very much to how I an-
swered Senator Boxer's question.
We need to recognize that the kind of international competition

that we are engaged in is not simply a market phenomenon. That
there are companies involved, there are markets involved, and
there are governments involved shaping those markets.

I think if you look at the history of a number of major industries
in the United States, what you will hear the CEO's say, and I have
heard many CEO's of American companies say, we are not compet-
ing simply against private foreign companies; we are competing
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against foreign governments. And we are competing against foreign
governments in the sense that we can access foreign markets, or
we find that we are competing against a highly subsidized credit

arrangement in a foreign sale, or we find that we are competing
against a sort of targeted industrial policy, which is to say a foreign
nation says we want to get a certain share of this market that the
United States has by a certain period of time.

My position at that point is again to say, let's understand what
foreign companies are doing and let's think about what we can do
consistent with our own system. I am not advocating that we un-
dermine our own system as much as to think about what can we
do with our tax policy, what can we do with our organization of ci-

vilian research and development support? What can we do with our

training system? What can we do with our own trade laws? What
can we do with international leadership of the trading system to

address those very real problems?
I would argue that my long term objective is to make the market

more perfect. But understanding at any moment in time that the
choices we face in international competition are not simply market
choices; they are market choices affected by what foreign govern-
ments do.

Senator Bond. I guess I am a little bit confused, though, because

you talk about the strategic industries. Are you saying that the
Council of Economic Advisers should help us identify strategic in-

dustries that need support?
Ms. Tyson. No. I do not think that the Council of Economic Ad-

visers—actually, I don't think that the Council of Economic Advis-
ers should do that. And it will not do it.

I actually argue that, in fact, what we need to do is to under-
stand what other countries are doing. And so when I talked about
the need to have a forward-looking strategy of following what's

happening in global competition in major industries, it really was
to say there are a number of industries in which we have a lot of

international trade with a lot of foreign intervention.

We should have a knowledge base on which we base our own
policies. It is definitely not an active policy of setting up lists of

these are the industries we should promote and these are the in-

dustries that we should not promote. That's not something that I

should advocate. I haven't advocated that in any place.
On the other hand, let me say that it's important—again, I will

just end by saying it's important that other countries do that.

Senator Bond. I thought I read in some of your writings that if

some industries are strategic, what should policymakers do? One
answer is that they should do as little as possible to inflict competi-
tive harm or extra burdens on the strategic industries. A second
answer is that they should go even further and promote them.

Is that an accurate refiection? This is Harvard Business Review
of 1988. Do you still agree with that?
Ms. Tyson. I would say that the notion of promotion there would

be a general notion of using—my preference, and it is stated in

many of my writings, is to use as broadly based policies as possible.
I would like to see us use policies that encourage investment by

all industries. And to use training policies that improve the skills

of workers for all industries, and to use research and development
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programs such as making the R&D tax credit permanent, which

help all industries.

As far as civilian technology programs, which is another area
where I think we can help a large variety of industries, we can or-

ganize our civilian technology programs in such a way that they
are market driven. That is, if you look at the way the advanced

technology program of MIST works at the Department of Com-
merce, that program is very much market driven in the sense that

American companies come forward with proposals for various re-

search programs. There is an evaluation as to their commercial and
research merit. So it is a market system. It is not the Grovemment
choosing which things to promote and which not to promote.

It is the Government in general coming forward to switch our

very substantial support for technology through the military to

more support for technology through the civilian sector. But then
to use our own strengths of the market system to have those

choices be driven by the market and not by the Government.
The Chairman. Thank you Senator Bond.
Senator Kerry.

OPENING STATEMEr^ OF SENATOR JOHN F. KERRY
Senator Kerry. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Tyson, welcome. I appreciated the opportunity that we strug-

gled to have to try to spend a little time together. I apologize again
about the craziness of that day.

I know a couple of my colleagues on the other side have spent
some time laying down the tax marker which proves that despite
the fact that administrations change around here, politics doesn't.

And I guess that's the beginning of the definition of the lines that
will be drawn.
But I suppose it would be equally fair to point out that over the

last 12 years we never had a balanced budget proposed to us up
here. Congress spent less money almost every year than the admin-
istration proposed. I don't know an economist worth their salt in

this country who suggests you can keep the economy moving and
deal with tne deficit that we have been left while not looking some-
where for revenue as Presidents Bush and Reagan did in every sin-

gle year they were president, notwithstanding the phony rhetoric.

So I certainly hope that with this new administration will come
a little more candor around here about the reality of the choices we
now face.

One of the problems we face in New England as well as in other

parts of the country is a very significant credit crunch. In fact, in-

dustrial commercial lending declined by 5 percent last year from
$690 billion in 1990 to $594 bilHon in 1991.

I would like to ask you if you would share with us your percep-
tions of how serious a problem this credit crunch is and how you
view the relationship. Is it simply that people look at the economic
indicators and at the downturn and the overhang in real estate and
the decline in spending, the cuts in defense spending, and mistakes
within the computer industry and other kinds of things, all of

which add up to a fairly bleak economic outlook and little job

growth? Or is it much more significantly related to regulatory pol-

icy, that there's money available, that there are going concerns that
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are seeking it, but there is a major fear among the lending institu-

tions to lend? I just would like to hear you share your thoughts
with us on that problem.
Ms. Tyson. Let me first say that there is general agreement I

would say that over the past 2 years the financial institutions,
banks and thrifts, have been lending considerably less. And inter-

estingly, as the economy even has begun to recover, that that has
remained a problem. There is also consensus that this is a con-
straint on our ability to grow. But there is a lot less consensus as
to why this has occurred.

So the consensus is that there is a problem. President Clinton
talked about the problem in the campaign and is sensitive to the

problem. There seems to be less consensus about the reasons for

the shortfall, slow growth in lending.
Several—in fact I think the problem here is that several factors

are playing in it with the same general result. Therefore, it is hard
to assess their relative weight.

For example, we do have, as you suggested, because of problems
in particular industries, say the real estate industry or because

problems are worse in certain parts of the country than others, in

Massachusetts and in California, where there are very high unem-
ployment rates and where it really is hard to argue that the reces-

sion is over when you look at the state of those economies, well if

you have special industry problems and special regional problems,
then of course you would expect that lenders in those areas might
say this is a slow economy, the risk of lending is very high, it's par-

ticularly high to small and medium-size business. Do I really want
to make that loan? Particularly, do I really want to make that loan

when on the other side you have something else going on which is

very high interest rates on long term securities?

We have a term structure of interest rates right now which is

quite remarkable in terms of the gap between short term rates and
long term rates. A lender looking at a recessionary market with
risk and looking at a high interest rate, long term Government se-

curity, might be naturally attracted to the long term Government
security. Tnat is certainly going on to some extent.

We also obviously have had new financial standards imposed as

a result of some major legislation over the last 2 years, FIRREA
and FIDICIA, to really deal with some long term safety and sound-
ness issues in the American financial system. Those are long term

problems which needed to be addressed. And we have worked long
and hard to try to address them with regulation. In addition to

which we have, of course, had the new Basle Agreements to try to

deal with the solvency of the international financial system by hav-

ing all major financial institutions involved in international finance

deal with an adequate capital base.

Finally, we have had, certainly anecdotally, and I think there is

a widespread view that the anecdotes add up in this case to some
real evidence, that there has been a pendulum problem that we
have gone from regulators that were possibly not zealous enough
in the applications of regulations to regulators who are possibly
overzealous or overeager or overcommitted to regulation. So that

the problem may not be the regulations themselves, but the way
in which they are actually implemented.
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So we have all of these factors playing into the situation. That
then says what do we do about it? I would suggest that we try to

do a number of things. First and foremost I would like to see us
work on a package to get the economy into a serious recovery to

get a credible long run deficit reduction program. What that would
do for us would be to reduce the risk to lenders, give them better

loan opportunities out there, it would shift the term structure of in-

terest rates making Government securities less attractive as an al-

ternative. So that's the first thing, the fundamental thing.
I think we should look very carefully at the issue of the

securitization of small business loans. Because I think that small
business loans in this economy, and once again in economies
around the world, capital markets no matter how sophisticated
often have a hard time dealing with the special needs of small and
medium sized businesses, particularly small businesses. We need to

try to deal with that on a long term basis, regardless of the cyclical
state of the economy. So we need to explore actively issues of

securitization of small business loans.

Finally, President Clinton is committed to looking at the whole
issue of whether or not within existing regulations there is some
way to move with caution and prudence to improve how the regula-
tions themselves are implemented, to deal with whether or not—
he has a series of new appointments to make in the regulatory
area. To really see whether we cannot move that pendulum a little

bit back toward balance in terms of the new regulations we have

by implementing them in the least burdensome way possible. And
President Clinton believes that there is probably some room to do
that.

So we will be working—I believe we will be working on trying
to put together a team very quickly to look into how we might ease
the regulatory burden without undermining the regulations.
Senator PCeruy. My time is up. I might just add I know we've

given you a copy of the letter that I and others sent to President
Clinton suggesting some of those administrative steps he might
take. And I hope that you would move on those.

Ms. Tyson. Yes. I would look forward to working with this com-
mittee in particular on these issues where many people here have
very detailed understanding of the history of the regulations and
then the history of what has been happening in their regions as a
result. So I look forward to working with you on that issue.

Senator Ki<:RRY. Thank you very much.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Senator Faircloth.

Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Professor Tyson, President Clinton has said that he would reduce

the deficit in half in 4 years. You have said this means revenue
and spending issues must be on the table.

Based upon your study, how would you propose that we reduce
the deficit by half? Or how are we going to do it? And what specific
taxes would you increase? And, more specifically, where would you
reduce spending in the Federal Government?
Ms. Tyson. Let me begin by saying—repeating what I said be-

fore. It is striking if you look at the studies that have been done
on the issue of deficit reduction, and these studies have been done
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by a wide variety of groups and individuals including there have
been some distinguished studies such as the Nunn-Domenici study
that Senators Nunn and Domenici were involved in.

All of these studies come to an important set of conclusions. One
is there is no simple answer to the deficit. There is no single thing
that we can look to to resolve this problem.
The second conclusion is, therefore it follows, it's a derivative

that to do this right we really need to put everything on the table.

That is, we cannot tie one hand behind our back and say we're

going to solve what is a major problem for the country by ruling
out certain kinds of actions. I think that we need to have political

courage to say that all things must be considered. I think that's the
sacrifice that President Clinton was talking about.

It was not one-handed. It was not to say that we're going to deal
with this by no spending cuts and only by tax increases. That's

simply not a correct reading.
As far as looking at, then, what needs to be done, one thing we

know certainly, or two things we know certainly. One thing we
know certainly is that our problem in the out years is a health cost

problem primarily. And so one of the things we must all do, and
obviously this is a first priority for President Clinton, is to come
up with a credible health care program, one that both contains the

runaway costs of the programs we currently have, but at the same
time really does deal with the very urgent fact that we have 39
million—37, 39 million people who are not currently insured by our

system.
We have the most expensive system in the world and we have

a system which lets large numbers of working Americans—these
are not non-working Americans—working Americans fall through
the cracks. So health care is first and foremost the priority issue.

As far as taxes are concerned, let me reiterate some of the points
that were made during the campaign that I think, again, most of
these studies would emphasize. Sure.
Senator Faircloth. Ms. Tyson, what taxes are you proposing to

increase and where do you propose to make the spending cuts?
Ms. Tyson. Let me say that we are at this point in time, the

whole group of economic advisers to President Clinton is discussing
various possible components of a package. We have made no deci-

sions on this package, and therefore it would be inappropriate for

me to make specific statements since there have been no specific
decisions made.

I can give you some general guidelines. One guideline would be
that we are very committed to promoting investment. That is the
cornerstone of the campaign. If you look to the campaign, you will

see that there has been great emphasis put on using tax incentives
to promote investment.
So I would suggest that a basic principle would suggest that we

are not going to raise taxes on investment issues. We want to en-

courage investment, not discourage investment.
The important thing in thinking about taxes is that taxes not

only raise revenues, they also encourage things or discourage
things, depending upon how you set them.
Senator Faircloth. I am well aware of that.



21

Ms. Tyson. So we are going to try, working with you, working
with Congress, to come up with a package which encourages things
we need to encourage, hke savings and investment, while at the

same time raising some revenues for our deficit reduction program.
Senator Faircloth. You have, in a number of your writings, said

that we need additional deficit spending, that we aren't spending

enough. The deficit isn't big enough in other words, we need to get
it bigger. Would you give me a hint as to how much money we need
to borrow and how big the deficit needs to be before we become
rich?

[Laughter.]
Ms. Tyson. All right. Those statements reflect what I started to

get into before but didn't get a chance to finish. We have a very

complicated situation on our hands, and it is complicated for the

following reason. We have an economy which is underemployed. We
have 7.3 percent of our population unemployed and other people
who are not even on the roles of the unemployed because they gave
up trying to find a job.
We are under what we could produce. Because we are four per-

cent under what we could produce, we are losing $50 billion a year
in investment and we are losing something like $60 billion in tax

revenue just because we are not at capacity. All right.

Now, in a situation like that, some tax relief, for example, invest-

ment tax credits or some sort of capital gains tax cut for small

businesses, the kind of thing that was discussed in the Clinton

campaign, those kinds of things would be very helpful in stimulat-

ing the economy and getting private investors who are worried

about the current situation to say, I'm going to make that invest-

ment. That would help us very much get closer to capacity.
It would also, in the short run, increase the deficit. If you give

an investment tax credit, you increase the deficit. Therefore, what
I think we are all working toward is to look at a multiuse package
over several years which in the first year, in this year, when we
have excess capacity may not be a net deficit reduction package.
But over a longer time horizon would weigh in enough revenues or

enough spending cuts in later years to offset the tax cuts of this

year.
Senator Faircloth. A quick question. Would you give me some

ways you're going to cut spending in the Federal Government? We
went through the Medicare. Skipping Medicare is a way to reduce
Federal spending. We've been hiring 20,000 new bureaucrats a

year. Would you tell me in just a word where we start from Medic-

aid, number two, on down?
Ms. Tyson. Again, if vou look, the big items that you

can look

to for some cuts besides health care is defense, and weve all talked

about those and some of those are on the table.

Senator Faircloth. What, now? Defense?
Ms. Tyson. Those are already being planned now. They were

being planned under the Bush administration and will be contin-

ued.
Senator Faircloth. All right. Number three?
Ms. Tyson. Again, as far as other cuts, because we haven't

reached any conclusions, it would be I think irresponsible for me
to make statements that are not based on decisions that have been
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made. I would want to emphasize that one needs to look broadly
at everything.
As you know, on the bureaucracy issue, President Clinton is very

committed to trying to cut the size of the White House staff and
will work to realizing that goal. He realizes that we must control
the cost of Government. We must, by trying to reinvent the way
Government works, economize on the cost.

Senator Faircloth. He said he was going to cut it by 25 percent.
I assume he is going to keep his promise?
Ms. Tyson. I assume that he will work toward that goal.
Senator FAIRCLOTH. It wasn't a multiple choice. He says he's

going to cut it.

[Laughter.]
Ms. Tyson. We all work toward goals in our life. Sometimes,

speaking personally, sometimes I realize my goals and sometimes
I don't. That is a goal that we will work toward.
The Chairman. Let me just say. President Clinton has been

President now just over 23 hours and there are three cabinet offi-

cers that have been confirmed. This administration is just getting
its hands on the machinery of Government. But we do expect you
to move in due course and we know that you will.

Let me now call on Senator Sarbanes, who is the former chair-
man of the Joint Economic Committee and now serves as vice
chairman of the Joint Economic Committee as well as a member
of this committee.
Senator Sarbanes. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I take it we are making our opening statements as we reach the

questioning; is that correct?

The Chairman. Yes.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR PAUL S. SARBANES
Senator Sarbanes. I am very pleased to welcome Professor

Tyson to the committee this morning in order to review her nomi-
nation to be the chair of the Council of Economic Advisers. Profes-
sor Tyson brings outstanding academic credentials and experience
to the position for which she's been nominated, a Ph.D. in econom-
ics at MIT. She's served as assistant professor of economics at
Princeton. I went there; that has particular meaning for me. A vis-

iting professor at MIT, and the Harvard Business School, and is

currently a tenured professor of economics and business adminis-
tration at the University of California at Berkeley.
The Chairman. Would you pause and emphasize the Harvard

Business School again?
[Laughter.]
Senator Sarbanes. I don't want to get into these old school ties

here.

She serves as a director of the Institute of International Studies
at Berkeley, director of research for the Berkeley Round Table on
the International Economy, and has been a visiting scholar at the

Brookings Institute. She is an author of three books, the editor of
five books, has written numerous scholarly articles. She has testi-

fied on a number of occasions on economic issues before the Con-

gress. And I have been privileged to be at at least some of those



23

sessions where she was at the witness table and had the oppor-

tunity to question her at some length.
In those hearings, Professor T^son consistently impressed me

with her careful analytic approach to economic issues which re-

flected both a strong grasp of economic theory and an understand-

ing of the limitations of that theory in describing the real world.

She has written extensively. I have had the opportunity to read
a number of her articles and columns and I think they have invari-

ably reflected a wide ranging, perceptive, and explorative mind.
She may, in a sense, be called to account here, I guess, this morn-

ing for being so intellectually curious and probing in her writings.
She has consistently thrown out a number of challenging ideas

which I think in her role as a thinker was a very important con-

tribution to the public dialog. And, of course, in her role as a policy-

maker, she is going to reconcile those ideas with others that are

being put forward in the administration from other quarters as

they try to arrive at an administrative position.
I want to be very clear this morning. I consider it a positive asset

in the record that Professor Tyson brings to the table that she has
been engaged in this intellectual inquiry over the years trying

to

work through these difficult economic issues. I commend ner for

that.

The Council of Economic Advisers was established by the Em-
ployment Act of 1946 to provide professional economic analysis and
advice to the President. There have been 14 chairs of the Council
since its establishment. I had the privilege of serving as adminis-
trative assistant to one of them, Walter Heller, who headed the

Council under President Kennedy. And I therefore have a particu-
lar regard for the role played by the Council of Economic Advisers
in assisting the president in the formulation of economic policy.
Walter Heller is regarded by many as perhaps the most influen-

tial chairman ever to head the Council. He combined a fine grasp
of economic theory with a pragmatic understanding of the function-

ing of the real economy and an ability to communicate his views
to the President, to the Congress, and to the country in an under-
standable and even on occasion enjoyable way, if one can envision

economics being enjoyable.
I think in fairness, there is only one Walter Heller. But I think

the skills that Walter had, it appears to me, are skills that Profes-

sor Tyson shares, and I look forward to her serving well in her new
role.

In addition, I might point out that the section of the Employment
Act of 1946 which established the Council of Economic Advisers is

immediately followed in the legislation by the section which estab-

lished the Joint Economic Committee of the Congress.
The Council of Economic Advisers and the Joint Economic Com-

mittee were created out of a concern that both the executive branch
and the legislative branch of the Federal Government should have
the capacity for professional economic analysis of public policy.

Having served as the chairman of the Joint Economic Committee
in the last Congress and as vice chairman in this Congress, since

the chairmanship alternates Congress to Congress, and will be
chaired by a House member, Congressman David Obey, in this

Congress, I obviously have an additional institutional reason to
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take particular interest in the work of the Council. And I look for-

ward to a continuing close working relationship between the Coun-
cil of Economic Advisers and the Joint Economic Committee.

In a recent article in the New York Times, Nobel laureates
James Tobin and Robert Solow described the role of the Council in

the following terms: Every President must establish his adminis-
tration's themes and goals, but translating that vision into legisla-
tion requires careful professional economics, committed to his

goals, but calling the analytical shots as objectively as trained peo-
ple possibly can. The character of that advice can significantly af-

fect the substance and quality of decisions. End of quote.
Seldom since the establishment of the Council of Economic Ad-

visers in 1946 have economic issues loomed as large as at the be-

ginning of this administration. Professor Tyson brings an excep-
tional set of skills and experience to that challenge. I have every
confidence she will meet that challenge, and I very much look for-

ward to working with her in that effort.

The CHAmMAN. Thank you, Senator Sarbanes.
Senator Sarbanks. Having said that, Mr. Chairman, I am dis-

turbed by one press report. I very much enjoyed—and I really
mean that—this column written by your husband about bye Chez
Panisse, hello Maison Blanche.
The one thing that troubled me in it was apparently the disrup-

tion in your home life created by this appointment has led your
son, Eliot, at this point only 9, to grasp the significance of the ap-

pointment with wisdom beyond his years. His immediate reaction,
"I'm going to become a Republican"

[Laughter.]
Senator Sarbanes.—was disturbing to me, obviously.

[Laughter.]
Ms. Tyson. We changed his mind.
Senator Sarbanes. Your husband went on to say, he says, I per-

suaded him that the cure he proposes is worse than the disease.

I hope that continues to be the state of play in the Tyson house-
hold.

Ms. Tyson. I can assure you that is the case.

Senator Sarbanes. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I don't

have any questions at this point.

[Laugnter.l
The CHAiitMAN. We will finish on down to give everybody who

hasn't spoken yet a chance to do so. We have a number of Repub-
licans returning here I think shortly from the Appropriations Com-
mittee, and I want to give everybody a first round here.

So the next person in order on that basis is Senator Sasser, who
is of course Chairman of the Senate Budget Committee and of

course a member of this committee.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JIM SASSER

Senator Sasser. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I want to extend to Dr. Tyson this morning a very warm welcome

to the committee. I must say that I am elated that the President
chose Dr. Tyson to be the chairman of the Council of Economic Ad-
visers. There's a lot that can be said, Mr. Chairman, in favor of this

nominee's nomination.
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She is an important, credential economist. That is beyond debate.

But the most important thing about Dr. Tyson is that she lives in

the real world of economics in my view. I have had the occasion to

become acquainted with some of her writings after her nomination
and have been most impressed.

In reading what Dr. Tyson has written, it is clear that she under-
stands that we live in a world of imperfect competition, that she
does not worship at the altar of the free market as many do, al-

though she supports a free market approach where possible.
She has had the courage, I think, to disagree and suggest alter-

natives when the old policies have not been working. And I have
been struck, Mr. Chairman, by the predictions of macroeconomists,
beginning really I suppose in 1980 and perhaps even before that,
struck bv the fact that they are wrong at least 50 percent of the
time and some even more tnan that. And these are learned, highly
accomplished individuals.

I think Dr. Tyson has, in doing her writing, has asked some very
critical questions. And I think sne is to be commended for having
the courage to do that. She has stated that we need to formulate
effective programs and policies to assist American companies to

compete overseas. She knows that exports have been a key compo-
nent of growth and job creation in this country for the last few

years.
This is an area that we have simply got to foster if this economy

is to produce jobs and to grow. Perhaps a free market and free

trade would be an ideal solution, but that ideal world simply does
not exist today, and Senator Boxer alluded to it a moment ago
when she was talking about Airbus. Go out and tell Boeing and
McDonnell Douglas that there is a totally free market out there
when they are competing against Airbus. I think they'd disagree
with you most vigorously.
Other governments do intervene extensively to promote economic

development of their key sectors. It's time the United States recog-
nized that it's a tough world out there. That our companies and our
workers need all the help they can get to prosper. Ajid I think Dr.

Tyson knows that we need to encourage private and public invest-

ment in infrastructure, education, job training, a whole host of

technologies, to help build this country.
So I am pleased to have her before the committee, Mr. Chairman

Frankly, I look forward to a speedy confirmation.

Now, there were some questions here this morning about the

budget deficit and what this administration intended to do about
the deficit. Senator Kerry is right, some have laid down the marker
here of taxes. But the situation we face today with the budget defi-

cit and the need for action, I think, is very reminiscent of the time
in 1990 when many of us in Congress and the Bush administration
labored for months over an agreement that was to supposedly
eliminate the deficit by 1995.
There is an interesting article that I would commend to all my

colleagues in the Washington Post today, written by a reporter
named Steve Mufson, a terrific article. He has finally understood
what many have not for a long time. That is, one of the real prob-
lems as to why that budget agreement in 1990 did not work as well
as we'd anticipated is because the revenues that it was supposed
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to produce simply did not materialize. In 1991, in the early spring,
Dick Darman came before the Budget Committee and said the

Treasury had misestimated and that we'd lost $160 billion worth
of revenues that we were supposed to pick up over the next 5

years. And that situation has gotten worse and worse and worse
since then.

All of the so-called tax savings were wiped out by technical
reestimates on the part of Treasury with regard to revenues. This
article traces it primarily to lack of business revenues.

Now, coming to my question at long last, Dr. Tyson, when we en-

tered into that summit agreement we were saying that the Con-

gress and the administration are relinquishing the fiscal tools to do

something about the economy if it starts falling off in a recession.

Implicit was the understanding that the Fed would move in and fill

the gap and that there would be an easier monetary policy in an
effort to move the economy along.
The Fed did not come forward and start easing until many, many

months after the summit agreement. And then they eased at a very
slow and modest rate, always too little too late.

We may very well be entering into a period in which this new
Clinton administration is going to have to move to a tighter fiscal

policy. In the event that occurs, I want to ask you what do you
think the role should be of the Fed with regard to monetary policy
if we do get into a tighter fiscal policy with this new administra-
tion?

Ms. Tyson. First, let me make the observation that I was read-

ing, although I cannot claim to have read every page, the most re-

cent economic report of the President, which just came out last

week. That was written under the supervision of the CEA chair,
Michael Boskin.
He noted in there something which supports your statement. He

argues that in retrospect, with the benefit of hindsight, more rapid
reduction in interest rates would have been helpful, would have
been useful, to keeping the economy out of recession.

It is always easy with the benefit of hindsight to recognize that

something could have been done as we try to move to reduce the

deficit and as the economy got weaker for a number of reasons,
slowdowns in the rest of the world, defense cutbacks, real estate

problems around the country, corporate and individual restructur-

ing of asset balance sheets, all of those things slowed the economy
down.
There was a need for something to really be the source of support

for some growth. And it does seem in retrospect that we could have
had more support from the Federal Reserve, and even Michael
Boskin is now making that point.
Senator Sarbanes. If I could just interject there, because this is

an issue that this committee and Senator Riegle and Senator Sas-

ser and I consistently sought to pursue with the Federal Reserve,

throughout this period the Fed has been very strongly criticized by
a range of economists across the whole political spectrum. Milton

Friedman, McCracken, Paul Samuelson, Jim Tobin, that's a pretty
broad spectrum.
The CHAmMAN. Michael Boskin.
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Senator Sarbanes. For being too slow, too little, and too late con-

sistently. And this chart shows the growth of real M2 during the

first 19 months of recovery in the various postwar recession peri-

ods. And what it shows, it is just a staggering contrast.

While there was some growth in varying percentages from 5V2 up
to 14.8 percent in real M2 during that time period in previous post-

war recessions, during this time period it's actually shrunk by 1.6

percent. That's the real growth in M2. And of course, the Fed has
almost consistently failed to meet their target range. Last year
they were at the very bottom of it, and this year they are well

below it.

Now, despite that, the open market community met in November
and they are talking now about tightening up, which I think is an
absolute outrage. If they were to do so, it would have the effect of

just cutting the recovery off at its knees. And the contrast between
their actions in previous recessions and in this one couldn't be
more marked.
The Chairman. Senator Sasser.

Senator Sasser. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to associate

myself with the statement made here by Senator Sarbanes. I think

it is very clear when you look at what the Fed has done with re-

gard to the growth of the money supply, you see that they, in my
view, bear a large responsibility for the recession. And the tepid re-

covery that the country has gone through during the past IV2 to

2 years.
Mr. Chairman, will my time be charged to Senator Sarbanes'

question?
[Laughter.]
The Chairman. Why don't you ask another question.
Senator Sasser. One of the bright spots in our economy over the

past several years has been the growth in exports. And I think we
in the United States are now learning the hard lesson that if we
are going to prosper, if the economy is going to grow, if we're going
to produce well paying jobs, that we have got to increase our ex-

ports, we've got to be more competitive in the world market.
Now as we are coming to realize that, we are faced with what

appears to be a recession in many of the modern industrialized

countries. President Bush himself, very accurately during the cam-

paign referred to the problem that we had with a worldwide reces-

sion. Japan, for example, has been characterized by some observers

as having "the most serious recession in 20 years."
France has also been characterized as in a "severe recession."

Germany has very significant economic problems in trying to ab-

sorb the old Peoples Republic of East Germany. There just doesn't

appear to be much excess demand in these developed economies to

which we can ship American exports.

My question to you is how do we keep the world economy moving
so that we can have overseas markets for our products? In particu-

lar, how do we coordinate policies to get the Germans to bring
down their interest rates and allow some economic expansion in

Europe? Because the Germans have now become essentially the

bankers of Europe, it appears to me. They are the ones that control

the currency of Europe. When their interest rates are high,

everybody's interest rates are high. Therein, you have little eco-
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nomic growth. And often that affects our exports. What can we do
about it?

Ms. Tyson. Well, I think we have to—I guess I would answer the

question in two ways.
On the issue of what we can do with our partners, it is important

I think to note that the United States in coming to G3 or G7 dis-

cussions has really been at a disadvantage because our partners in

this activity have constantly looked to us for a sign that we were
getting our own fiscal house in order. They constantly looked for

a sign that we had a credible long run deficit reduction program
and that we had effective leadership to get that program going.

I don't think we really have been able to negotiate with them
from a perceived position of strength. They don't perceive us as

really having such a program or us being committed to it.

So the first thing I would say is that I would hope that if we
come up with a package that is credible and which deals with both
the short run cyclical problems in the United States and also the

long run problems that we would have a better opportunity to get
our trading partners, our G7 partners in particular, to agree that
this will ease some pressures on the international financial mar-
kets in the future and therefore should allay some of the concerns
which the Bundesbank and others have about long run inflationary
pressure allowing them to adjust their own policies.

I would say the main thing we can do is to continue to emphasize
the importance of global cooperation. I mean, we must. We have too

interdependent a world to get around it. But we can come to the
table with a more effective negotiating position. So that's my first

point.

My second point is that regardless of the vagaries of cyclical
slowdowns and pickups, there are some very important export is-

sues which we can always address. These are issues of market ac-

cess barriers and of the way we promote our own exports, of our

export financing system, of the use of our trade laws, and of the
use of our negotiations with our foreign partners who give us in

any market around the world the best opportunities we can pos-

sibly have. That would be my strategy.
Senator Sasser. Thank you very much.
The Chairman. Thank you. Senator Sasser.

Senator Moseley-Braun.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR CAROL MOSELEY-BRAUN
Senator Moseley-Braun. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
First I would like to make my statement and then I have some

questions for Ms. Tyson.
In some circles, Ms. Tyson is considered to be an unconventional

choice. In my view, however, an unconventional choice is precisely
what is needed. This election was about change. It was about end-

ing business as usual. Making change happen requires innovative,

creative, and unconventional approaches.
Ms. Tyson is a microeconomist. As I understand it, her expertise

is concentrated in the areas of trade and international economics,
competitiveness, and industrial policy. In reading some small part
of her books and articles, I was struck by the fact that Ms. Tyson
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has always looked behind the conventional assumption of macro-
economic analysis.

Challenging old assumptions is something we must continually
do if we are to make the right policy choices as we attempt to solve

problems and deal with the process of change.
I don't want to take a lot of time with this statement, but I want

to take particular note of a comment that you made on education.
In an article entitled "The Dynamics of Trade and Employment,"
you said a high tech America requires a work force that has the
skills and training that are needed to use the new technologies.
The U.S. educational system from kindergarten through college
must be modified to meet these new requirements if American
workers are to be able to compete in the world economy with rising
rather than falling wages.

I couldn't agree more. Ms. Tyson has put her finger on a serious

problem and her analysis is right on the money.
I agree that education must be among our top priorities and that

education has a direct relationship to the success of our economy
in general and to the prosperity of American workers in particular.
However you define industrial policy, it seems to me that edu-

cation is a critical part of it. Our principal economic competitors,
Germany and Japan, clearly understand how important education
is. Japan has a longer school day than we do, a longer school year
than we do, an extremely rigorous academic curricula. Grermany
works closely and cooperatively with its businesses to ensure jobs
for German school graduates.

Education is an investment in our children and an investment in

our future. Given what our international competition is doing, we
cannot afford not to make a larger and better investment. We can-
not afford not to make the investments in education and job train-

ing that are so critically necessary to respond to the challenges
from abroad.
Laura Tyson has said that a country's people may be its most

precious resource. I share that view. And I think we must all dedi-
cate ourselves to giving every American the opportunity to ftilly

utilize their talents and not just because it is the right thing to do,
but also because it is the best thing to do for our economy and the
future of our country.
This is the Banking Committee, and we do not have jurisdiction

over Federal education programs. This nomination however is a re-

minder that education is directly related to our future economic

prosperity. To state it another way, our ability to compete in the
international marketplace depends in the final analysis on how
well we educate all of our people.

I strongly support this nominee. I think Laura Tyson is precisely
the kind of person needed to advise the President in these difficult

times. Her approach to trade, employment, and international com-
petitiveness issues is a sophisticated one. It is not blinded by the

ideology of a particular economic theory. Instead, its underpinning
is a tough-minded look at the evidence and her policy prescriptions
are based on the way the world is.

I look forward to working with you, Ms. Tyson and with the ad-
ministration on education, trade, competitiveness, industrial policy.

68-191 -0-93-2
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and a whole range of issues where reform is so greatly needed and
so long overdue.

Now, I had a couple of questions. Specific questions. And I beg
your forgiveness. I was in the Judiciary Committee this morning.
This is our day to take up lady nominees.
But I have not seen any discussion, Ms. Tyson, of your position

on the NAFTA. If you could talk about that for a minute.
Ms. Tyson. My position on NAFTA is really absolutely in accord-

ance with President Clinton's position. During the campaign, in-

deed, he made a speech which I felt captured the pros, the

strengths, and some of the issues that needed to be dealt with ad-

ditionally in NAFTA perfectly. And what the speech really indi-

cated was a number of things.
First of all, I think it starts with the premise that any trade

agreement, no matter how good, cannot be a substitute for a series

of domestic policies. So one of the things about the Bush adminis-
tration was they had some very good trade initiatives, and I think
the NAFTA was a very good trade initiative. But they didn't really
have a set of very supportive policies for the domestic economy,
education policies, pro-investment policies, research and develop-
ment policies, a whole host of policies.
So the first thing to say is that the trade agreement should be

viewed as a complement to a very strong set of domestic policies,
not as a substitute for them. President Clinton made that point.
As far as NAFTA in particular, he made the point correctly that

there are some real benefits to the United States from this agree-
ment in terms of breaking down barriers to American products in

Mexico, tariff barriers, barriers to direct foreign investment by
American companies, barriers that have to do with preferential

procurement. Mexican state-owned enterprises were preferentially

procuring Mexican products, but now they will be much more open
to buying American products, not Mexican products. So it really
creates a series of market opportunities for American exports. And
indeed we have already seen a boost, a rather significant boost, in

American exports to Mexico, simply as a result of Mexico moving
unilaterally to break down some of its own barriers. This would
take the process further.

On the other hand, we cannot overlook the fact that there will

be certain regions, certain workers, certain communities, certain

industries that will, as a consequence of increased competition with

Mexico, suffer some dislocation costs.

Significantly, I think it is important to note that in many cases,
the workers affected or the communities affected may in fact be the
workers and communities who have fared the least well during the
last decade. That is, you have a situation where imports from Mex-
ico may have a very adverse affect on low-skilled, low-paid workers
in the United States who have already suffered quite a lot in the

decade of the 1980's. This is a serious issue of dislocation.

What President Clinton has proposed to do about it, what the

USTR designee Micky Kantor said in his testimony, is really to try
to complement the NAFTA agreement as it now stands with some
supplemental agreements with Mexico and with some supporting
domestic legislation at home to try to deal with some of these dis-

location effects, to try to deal with some of the environmental is-
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sues that are also not adequately addressed in the agreement, and
to try to deal with worker adjustment assistance as a domestic pro-

gram to support, really, the movement of workers who are dis-

placed by imports into new jobs.
So I think we need to take the opportunities posed by the

NAFTA agreement and come up with other policies to mitigate
some of the costs which are there. And I think if we recognize the

costs, we can try to do something about them.
Senator Moseley-Braun. The Chairman actually just brought to

my attention your opening statement, because I was out of the
room. You say in this statement, and I was taken frankly by the
fact that you mentioned it in the context of a short statement—I

think it's a very important issue. Since 1980 the proportion of full-

time workers with annual incomes below the poverty rate for a

family of four increased from 12 percent to nearly 20 percent. It is

precisely that kind of dislocation, that's the group that is most im-

pacted. And I am encouraged to hear that in consideration of the

agreements, the side agreements to NAFTA, that this will be taken
into account.

I would ask one other question, and it may be a function of the
fact that I don't have the clout of Chairman Riegle, but previously
I was attempting to get specific data regarding the impact of the
NAFTA with regard to specific industries in my State, Illinois.

That information was not forthcoming. I don't know that it wasn't

available, but it was very difficult to try to access that information.
I think it would be very helpful for us as legislators to be able

to pinpoint at a given point in time where the impacts are pre-
dicted to be. That's not to say that they will necessarily be there,
but certainly where those impacts are predicted to be.

Ms. Tyson. I can assure you that the Council will definitely be
studying and keeping an ongoing analysis of the agreement as it

develops and where the dislocation is occurring, how severe it is.

I think that this will be a major area of research and advice that
the Council will be involved in throughout this period.
There have been a series of studies that have attempted to do

this either by industry or they've tended to do it roughly in regions
of the country. So I intend to bring to you some of those. But we
will be doing our own research as well.

Senator Moseley-Braun. Excellent. Thank you.
The Chairman. Let me say. Senator Moseley-Braun, that I feel

just as strongly about that as you do. We are going to get that in-

formation one way or another.
Senator Moseley-Braun. I wasn't alone.
The Chairman. I say that in a cooperative sense. This goes right

to the heart of the issue. There will be a lot of contention over that

question.
Senator Moseley-Braun. One further question. My time's up,

isn't it.

The Chairman. It is. Because I think we still have people who
haven't asked we probably ought to move ahead. But maybe you
could give it to Ms. Tyson for the record, or do you want to wait
for a second round? We're going to have a second round.

Senator Moseley-Braun. We'll have a second round? All right.
Then I'll wait for the second round.
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The Chairman. All right. Thank you.
Senator Gramm.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR PHIL GRAMM
Senator Gramm. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Tyson, I take a fairly straightforward view of presidential

nominees. I believe we hold elections, people make decisions, people
know or should know the kind of person the candidate is going to

appoint. So I take the view that within the constraints of com-

petency and credibility, that we owe it to the voter to confirm the
President's nominees. And based on everything I see, you have
competence and credibility, and it is my intention as of this mo-
ment to vote to confirm you.

I would like to touch a little bit on what Kit Bond said, and then
I would just like to throw out a few questions.

I have been in Congress now for 14 years, and especially in the
last 12 years, I have been involved in a lot of discussions in setting
public policy, since my party has had the White House. I have
never found a shortage in those discussions of pragmatism, of real-

world concerns, of political reality checks. What I have found a

shortage of in almost every case is economic reality checks. And I

think it is fair to say, going back to President Kennedy, that the
Council of Economic Advisers has been primarily an advocate for

free markets and free trade. Not a blind advocate, but nonetheless,
as fundamental principles that built the American economy, that
won the Cold War, that tore down the Berlin Wall. Recognizing
that the President has cabinet members whose job it is to deal with
individual areas, the Chairman of the Council of Economic Advis-
ers has been a spokesman for the American economy and the prin-

ciples that built it.

I think that this is especially important given that there is no

vocal, organized constituency for economic freedom. I am sure you
are aware from your involvement in the campaign, but if you're not

already then you will soon discover in Washington, that every in-

dustry thinks free enterprise is a great and wonderful idea for ev-

erybody but themselves. Every interest wants fair and free com-

petition for everybody but themselves. Of a thousand people who
talk to me about opening the Japanese market, 995 of them really
want to close our market.
So I do hope that as you prepare yourself for this position one

of the things you will do is to go back and look at the history of

the Council of Economic Advisers, of the historic role that it's

played, and look at taking on that role yourself. I think it is very,

very important.
I would like to touch on a couple more things. I would like first

of all to ask you as an economist if you favor the North American
Free Trade Agreement?
Ms. Tyson. OK. Can I just say parenthetically before I answer

that question that I have been exploring the history of the Council
and I am talking to as many of the previous chairmen as I can find

and will talk to all of them. And I do take as its role the traditional

role, which is to analyze things economically, not politically, but

economically, what are the economic pros and cons of a particular

policy.
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And I daresay that I do understand, as you suggest, and it is

suggested quite clearly in my work, that oftentimes when an indus-

try is asking for something, it is asking for something that really
'

is of a protectionist nature, and that is not really what I think we
should be about. We should be about trying to have free and open
markets but recognizing that we don't always have that choice.

I just want to say that I sort of concur with your opening state-

ment.
On the issue of NAFTA, as an economist I do support NAFTA.

I think most economists support NAFTA. I think I recognize some
of the shortcomings of NAFTA. I have, again to go back to my com-

parative work for a minute, if you look at the history of free trade

arrangements, say in the European Community, which really has
had the most far-reaching, most effective free trade agreement,
when they started in 1957, they started with where we're starting
now with NAFTA, really with just a breaking down of trade bar-

riers. They really didn't go much further. They did that gradually
over several years, over a decade, just as we are proposing to do

in the agreement with Mexico.

So you phase in the breaking down of barriers to give commu-
nities, industries, and workers time to adjust. And that's what we
are doing and I think that's correct.

What the Europeans have done, though, very effectively, and I

think this is where we need to worry about the supplemental
agreements and the complementary legislation, is they have recog-
nized that you need to deal with issues of different standards of

worker safety, you need to deal with environmental issues, you
need to deal with regional disparities, you need to deal with worker

training issues so that the individuals or communities or industries

who are adversely impacted by a free trade agreement do have
some ability to make that adjustment gradually and with some

support. And that's really the only issue, because free trade as any
proponent of it understands, creates net benefits for the country.
But often when you look at the allocation of those benefits, there

are some people who are being hurt and some who are being
helped.
There are ways policy can be used to spread the net benefits

more evenly, and that's really what I think.

Senator Gramm. I hope when you do that that you'll take a good
look at the old Trade Adjustment Assistance Act that we started

under the Kennedy administration. I think by the time that we
eliminated it, that there was pretty broad consensus that it had not

worked out as we had hoped it would. The problem as it turned out

was that you ended up with differential benefits to people who lost

their jobs due to foreign trade and people who lost their jobs due
to technological change or the failings of their management. So

needless to say, almost everybody wanted to claim that they had
lost their jobs due to foreign trade.

Ms. Tyson. I understand that.

Senator Gramm. I want to try to ask you sort of a hypothetical

question. Let's say we get into a dispute with one of our trading

partners, say Japan. And let's say that it becomes very difficult to

determine what is fair trade. One of the difficulties I have is al-

most always I want to be sympathetic with the people who say that
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they suffered from it. Someone brought up Airbus and the Euro-

pean subsidy. I don't know how you'd go about measuring the
American subsidy to our aircraft industry that's come from defense.
I just don't know how you'd measure it.

But let's say we have great difficulties, that we're on the verge
of a trade war, and let's say that we had an idea that was proposed
that says there really isn't an effective way to measure fair trade,
other than to eliminate all barriers. And let's say we had a pro-
posal to have a free trade agreement with Japan. What would be

your reaction to that?
Ms. Tyson. I guess consistent with what I said at the beginning,

which I do believe, if we had a multilateral—in this case you're
talking about a bilateral arrangement where we had a credible set

of rules which really broke down all barriers and enforced that
breakdown.

Senator Gramm. Let's say hypothetically you could, no barriers,
no tariffs, no licensing fees.

Ms. Tyson. But you see, you have to go further. That's not

enough, in the case with some of the dealings that we have with

Japan. Because, for example, we'd have to go much further. We
would have to harmonize our regulatory institutions.

Let's take the area of telecommunications. We tried to do a little

of that in the Moss talks in mid- 1986. But the truth is that we
made some progress but not complete progress. A company, there-

fore, like Motorola, with no quota, there was no quota, there was
no tariff, there was no licensing problem, there was an issue here
of sort of how the regulations in Japan in the telecommunications
market worked and who could decide which agency in Japan could
decide which company could compete.
So you'd actually have to have a very far-ranging agreement,

which really harmonized a series of policies which are primarily
motivated by domestic considerations but have very significant
international ramifications. That's why you see in Europe, for ex-

ample, they're moving so much further, even though there has been
some slowing down of the European integration process with the

problems in the European monetary system. Nonetheless, if you
look at what's happened between 1986 and 1992, you will see a tre-

mendous number of areas. They are harmonizing tax policy, regu-
latory policy, business practices policy, antitrust policy, standards,
practices, how you test a product for whether it meets consumer
safety standards or not.

I mean, we would have to engage, with a country like Japan,
where the nature of the barriers are not tariffs, quotas, or anything
overt, we would have to have a very far-ranging agreement. Now
if we could pursue such an agreement, I would suggest we give it

a try. That is, I want to say that a hypothetical of that significance
is one that we might want to consider. I don't see that as an option
for the foreseeable future.

Therefore, I see us much more involved in particular negotiations
on particular sectors. How are we going to deal with Japan in the
financial services area? Well, we've been doing it during the 1980's

on a sort of case-by-case basis. This regulation, that regulation,
what kinds of American companies should be allowed to participate
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in what markets? I think that will be our modus vivendi for a
while.

The Chairman. Thank you, Senator Gramm.
Senator Mack.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR CONNIE MACK
Senator Mack. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Let me express my

welcome to you to the committee. I am going to pursue some of the
issues that I think Senator D'Amato raised about the tax thing be-

cause I, too, read the same article. And maybe if I put in a couple
of other comments that were in that article vou might understand

why we kind of focus on that. Again, it is the Los Angeles Times
article that I refer to.

One particular paragraph says, anyone who bothered to look at

the evidence in 1988, and apparently precious few did—I'll agree
with that—would say that significant cuts in spending and in-

creases in taxes were required to restore fiscal sanity.
The next paragraph goes on to say, to avoid being hoodwinked

again, Americans should demand facts rather than fairy tales. You
set up a context there in which a demand for action—so I think it's

natural for people to conclude as they get into the balance of the

article, two additional paragraphs that I would read, one of which
has already been indicated, there is no relationship between the
level of taxes a nation pays and its economic performance. Amer-
ican voters should be suspicious of any politician who promises not
to increase taxes on the grounds that higher taxes would hurt the

economy.
Next paragraph, once the recession is over, if we increase our

overall tax rate to the average rate paid by other advanced indus-
trial countries, we could raise an additional $400 billion to $500
billion in Government revenues and miraculously cure our deficit

problem.
In that context, I think people who read that article, especially

during the campaign season, it was natural for people to conclude
that since tough decisions are going to have to be made and people
were hoodwinked in the past, what you are laying out is that in

essence clearly if other nations can bear the burden of the tax rates

which you were referring to, clearly our Nation could as well. And
miraculously take care of the deficit problem. I think that's the con-

text.

So, again, you've already responded to it. But I think it's fair to

say that many of us do conclude that your advice to President Clin-

ton would in fact be to place quite an emphasis on raising taxes.

There's one additional question I guess I would ask. Again, the

implication is that increased taxes really have no economic impact.
But yet you go on to say that once the recession is over, you would

suggest that these taxes could be increased. And if there is no eco-

nomic impact, why wait until the recession is over? And if there is

an economic impact on the recession, I would argue then that rais-

ing taxes will have economic impact on the Nation as well.

Ms. Tyson. First of all, the relationship between the level of

taxes and economic performance, I said there was no simple rela-

tionship between the level of taxes a nation pays and its economic

performance. That actually is a correct statement if you sort of look
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into the literature and you look at countries over long periods of

time, not taking into account their cyclical position, but just sort
of looking at it over long periods of time.
Senator Mack. Let me ask you the question. Maybe this is some-

thing that cannot be answered from a mathematical model. Do you
think that tax rates and the types of taxes that we choose can have
an impact on a nation's economic performance?
Ms. Tyson. Absolutely. This was actually a statement that was

fairly specific. The level of taxes as a percentage of GNP, the level

of taxes as a percentage of GNP, look at the rates of growth of

economies. If you're trying to establish a simple relationship be-
tween the rate of growth of an economy and taxes over GNP, you
couldn't do it.

But the composition of taxes is critically important. I think there
that I would say that I am in broad agreement with the notion that
we have a system which really discourages investment.
Senator Mack. Would you be for a lower capital gains tax?
Ms. Tyson. I would be for a series of tax initiatives that would

encourage investments.
Senator Mack. If I could ask you to be a little bit more specific,

would you support a lower capital gains tax?
Ms. Tyson. Ones that we are discussing, as you know from the

campaign, are investment tax credit and targeted capital gains tax
relief for the formation of new businesses held for at least 5 years.

Senator Mack. I might add I applaud that. I think that is a good
initiative.

Ms. Tyson. Taxes do a number of things. They collect revenues,
but they also, as I said earlier, I don't think you were here, really
have incentive and disincentive effects. We have to think about
what we want to encourage and what we want to discourage. We
want to encourage investment. We have some sense of how to do
that. That is, we have a history of the ITC, we have a history that
tells us if we have an investment tax credit and we formulate it

correctly, we can get more investment. We unfortunately—and here
I mean we as economists and we as policymakers—do not have a

very good sense of what to do with taxes to encourage savings.
The evidence on the use of taxes to encourage savings, say

through IRA, is very sketchy and inconclusive. That doesn't mean
we shouldn't try to continue to find ways to use tax policy to en-

courage savings, because we need in this country to increase sav-

ings and increase investment.
We might want to consider using taxes to discourage certain

things, to discourage pollutants. That's a way of discouraging activ-

ity.

So I do want to absolutely concur with your statement that the

composition of taxes that a society chooses, if you put a tax on

labor, if you make labor very expensive to hire, you discourage peo-

ple hiring workers.
Senator Mack. Because of the limited amount of time, unfortu-

nately I have to go off to another meeting, and maybe I will come
back if I could.

You're not suggesting in this article in any way that you be-

lieve—or let me rephrase it. Do you believe that we can impose
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$400-$500 billion in taxes on the American economy without any
significant impact to our growth rate?
Ms. Tyson. No, I do not believe we can do that, particularly be-

cause this economy—remember, I was making a kind of long run

comparative statement. This economy is with substantial excess ca-

pacity. It is a very weak economy, a weak growth rate. And we do
not want to impose a significant tax burden on it.

Senator Mack. Suppose for a moment—I assume you believe the
recession is over by economic terms at any rate.

Ms. Tyson. The recession is technically over. But the problem
with that, that's what I would emphasize, being a real world econo-

mist, as opposed to one that simply looks at a statistic.

The recession is over. Maybe that is good news, but you might
interpret it as bad news, since basically we have a 7.3 percent un-

employment rate, we have 9.9 percent in the State of California,
we have 7.3 percent in the State of Michigan. We have a recession
which is technically over, but the recovery differs dramatically from
other recoveries. So we may want to pay attention to that fact more
than the fact that the recession is technically over.

Senator Mack. You're saying that there really has to be a lot

more strength in the economy before you start imposing additional
burdens on the economy through taxes?
Ms. Tyson. Yes, absolutely. The economy should be stronger be-

fore we do that.

Moreover, I want to emphasize that we want to employ tax policy
not simply as a revenue device, but also as a device to encourage
things which we need, like savings and investment. Therefore,
whatever tax policies we as a society take, we should be very clear

about what our goals are.

Senator Mack. You mentioned in the same article about making
touchy decisions of raising taxes on the upper income Social Secu-

rity recipient. Now I might be particularly sensitive to that, since
I represent the State of Florida, but we will let that go by. Why
would you put the emphasis on the tax side as opposed to, say,

doing something with the benefits?
Ms. Tyson. Let me emphasize again that what we need to do is

to look at everything, and I think we have to look at everything in

terms of their economic effects and their political feasibility.
And what I hope is that that article, that is one possible thing

to look at. It may not, in fact, be the thing that ultimately emerges
from our discussions together, both as the Clinton economic team
and our discussions with the Congress.
But it would be foolhardy to not consider that along with a whole

series of options that we must go through in order to handle the
deficit problem in the long run. So it is not an espousal of that po-
sition as opposed to that and not something else. It is one possibil-

ity among really a very wide range of possibilities which we all

must consider, and that really is what President Clinton was, I

think, suggesting when he talked about sacrifice.

Senator Mack. I'll just make a followup
Ms. Tyson. Could I say one other thing?
Senator Mack. Sure.
Ms. Tyson. One of the things I think is important is to really I

think come to terms with the fact—I have been arguing we have
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a problem because we have a weak economy and we have a big def-

icit problem. There is a third thing we have, which is we really
have had a decade of worsening equality. I think we must come to

terms with that. We have to deal with the deficit, deal with the
weak economy, noticing that the disadvantaged have become rel-

atively more disadvantaged, and the very rich have become rel-

atively more advantaged. So that we have equity concerns, we have
deficit reduction concerns, and we have growth concerns. And we
have to deal with them all at once, it seems to me.

Senator Mack. Since you've mentioned that
The Chairman. Please go ahead.
Senator Mack. My concept of—and I agree with you.
I travel around my State and around the country. It is clear to

me that there is a widening gap, the impression clearly of a widen-

ing gap. The question is, how do you deal with it? And I don't think

you deal with it by the old concept of redistributing income through
the tax system.

I think when you look at what's going on in our country today,
those who are not doing well, you referred to the fact that we can
create jobs and people can be at work but they don't have sufficient

income. That is most likely related to the fact that they have not
been well educated and well trained, that they don't have the capa-
bilities of being able to compete for a job in a highly technical posi-
tion.

And so if we focus on the tax code as a means to trying to narrow
the gap, then I think we are heading in the wrong direction. The
direction ought to be to help the individual help themselves in the

long run, not through the tax codes.

Ms. Tyson. I certainly agree. I don't want to give the impression
that I suggest we use the tax code as the sole or even the main
mechanism for dealing with the growing gaps in U.S. society.
But it is the case that the way we engineered tax decisions and

spending decisions in the past decade, we have actually not done

enough to reverse some of that gap. But it is certainly not the only
mechanism for doing it. In fact, I think one of the important parts
about the Clinton program is the notion of trying to use education

policy, use training policies, to really create a more highly skilled

work force that can take advantage of opportunities. And that's a
much more important long run mechanism, much more important
than simply moving everyone around on the taxes.

Senator Mack. I guess the point I would make, Mr. Chairman
and then I will quit, if our objective is focused totally on the idea
of narrowing the gap
Ms. Tyson. But it isn't. That's only one.

Senator Mack. Let me just make my point. You may very well

agree with me, and that will be fine.

If our objective is to narrow the gap and yet everybody is worse
ofF after narrowing the gap, that's not the process we want to fol-

low. If, on the other hand, the gap grows but yet everybody is bet-

ter off as a result of it, we should not focus on the gap, we should
focus on how well people are doing. My concern again is that if we
focus on the tax code to do that, it's a mistake.
Ms. Tyson. I certainly agree with you. What we really want to

do most is get our overall GDP per capita growth rate up so every-
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one, wherever they are in the distribution, is doing better. That's

our primary goal. And I think we should handle that really by a
whole host of policies which are really primarily about getting the

right public investment in education and training and all the rest,

the right health care svstem and the right amount of private in-

vestment, which we will probably, I would argue, on the private in-

vestment side will be using tax incentives to try to do that.

Senator Mack. Thank you.
The Chairman. We will start a fresh round here now.
I think this is a very important discussion that you and Senator

Mack were just having and I want to follow on in part with that.

When you and I spoke earlier this morning we talked about the

goal of fostering the creation of 8 million jobs here in the United
States in the private sector over the next 4

years as being a sort

of benchmark goal that is at the center of tne economic strategy
formulation. If you think of that as a linear path of equal parts
over 4 years, that's 2 million jobs a year, about 165,000 jobs net
each month.
The administration is just hours into being. If you take January,

for example, of 1993, which we are finishing, that's 165,000 jobs
net this month if we're going to climb that 8 million job growth
curve over 4 years. It is an extraordinary challenge. I mean, it is

sort of a breathtaking challenge.
But when you strip away all the rhetoric, what went wrong in

the 1980's, underlying trend lines in my mind, clearly that's the
bottom line. We have got to achieve that goal. We can't do much
about changing the disparity of incomes, the social disruption and
disorder that we are experiencing in the country, or anything else.

If we don't get more high skilled, high-wage jobs created, the entire

policy as I see it has to be focused to drive that goal. In fact, I

think every single policy decision that's put on the table has to be
measured by what its impact will be on job growth. You mentioned
a number today. Government regulation, credit policies, investment

policies, how do we structure and perhaps change the tax code to

drive job creation? How do we offset some of the trade cheating
that other countries are doing in a variety of different ways, and
so forth?

I think every cabinet department ought to be asked on every pol-

icy recommendation they make, what does this mean in terms of

whether or not it helps foster private sector job growth in this

country? I think it's a desperate problem.
We talked about Japan. Japan today, despite all the crocodile

tears that I hear from some about the problems in Japan, has an

unemployment rate of 2V2 percent. They just decided to invest $80
billion in infrastructure investment to give their economy a lift.

And we are trying to decide whether we can come up with an
amount one quarter as large as what they're spending.
You are just sort of left wondering how we think we're going to

move ahead in this very tough global economy if we are not pre-

pared to drive the issues that relate to iob growth here in the Unit-
ed States. I want to submit to you that that directly relates to

NAFTA. I have agreed with virtually everything you have said

today, except I still detect a level of unreality in the administration
on the NAFTA agreement.
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Senator D'Amato. Which administration, Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman. This one, the one that's just taken power. It's

even worse than the previous one. And that's one of the reasons

they're out the door.

It was very interesting, if you listen to what Ross Perot was say-
ing in the campaign, as a Texas businessman, he was very tough
on the issue of the international trading system where the cheating
occurs, and the revolving door problems, but also on NAFTA. I

daresay that if the editorial writers in the country, and the profes-
sional economists—and I don't aim this at you personally—were

facing direct competition from a $1.50 hour economists and edi-

torial writers in Mexico, I'd have a long line at my door as a mem-
ber of the Finance Committee to do something about this unfair

competition. Economists would be the first ones here. I mean, they
might be second to the editorial writers

[Laughter.]
The Chairman.—who think it's a wonderful idea. But let me tell

you, they'd be tearing the door off its hinges here to say this was
unfair and they didn't want to lose their livelihood. And they would
be thrust into this swirling pool of underemployed and unemployed
people because they couldn't face off the $1.50 wages down in Mex-
ico. That is a huge problem. And if it gets clothed in enough gos-
samer language so that we think it's not a problem, we're going to

find it very hard to climb this 8 million job track over the next 4

years.
Having said that, I want to come back to this chart I talked

about a little bit earlier, because this is a stunning portrayal of the

problem in America today. If you look at the duration of this reces-

sion, we are now out of it 28 months. If you look at the dotted line,
which is the average of the last seven recessions since the end of

World War II, as we came out in months, by the time we were out
12 to 16 months, we hit the trough of the recession in terms of job
loss, and then we started to climb out of it. We regained the lost

jobs below this zero line that represents a loss in jobs, and then
we got up into positive territory and we were adding jobs. And on

average, we would have added over 2 million jobs by this point in

terms of when it is said that this recession started.

I think you quite accurately today responded to the question that
someone asked as to whether the recession is over, that's not an

easy question to answer because some might argue that in a tech-

nical GNP growth sense it's over, but it certainly is not over in a

job sense. We're down here. We have not recovered the jobs lost in

this recession, let alone gained the jobs that we need on the mar-

gin. So our loss here is the difference between this point and this

point.

Now, this administration hits the deck today having to take and
drive this job curve 8 million jobs over 4 years. This is what's being
handed oft to you. This is where we are; this is reality. And I say
to all the economists in the country that have all kinds of models
and so forth, if the model talk and the policy talk doesn't start from
this reality, then we're off base and we're not going to get the an-

swers that we need.
I want to show you one other chart here, and I am going to ask

you to react to it. If you look at the issue of manufacturing jobs,
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all kinds of manufacturing jobs
—not just in the automobile indus-

try which is important in my State, but across the board,

supercomputers, things of that kind—if you look up here at the

percentage of manufacturing jobs that the Germans have managed
to maintain in their work-force since the 1960's up to the present
time, they have a percentage nearly twice ours in terms of the per-

centage of their work force in the higher-skilled, higher-wage man-
ufacturing jobs.

Japan, which represents the green line, is also higher than we
are. And they have managed over these decades to sustain that,

partly with their trading practices, partly with other supportive
practices for their industries and so forth.

The United States is in a state of long running decline here. We
are losing these jobs. I am not saying the whole economy is based
on manufacturing jobs, but if we want to consume manufactured

products in large numbers and large volume, we'd better produce
some of them because we don't have a way to pav our bills. That's

why we're the number one debtor Nation. Were consuming all

these foreign-made goods and we're borrowing the money from
other countries to buy these goods and going deeper in debt. It's

the same thing you see in the Federal budget you see in the inter-

national trading accounts. And it's a disaster.

When I look at this line coming down and I see this dwindling
in manufacturing base as a percentage of our total employment, I

think we have crossed a strategic line where we're now seeing a

progressive unwinding part of our manufacturing base. Yes, that
can be hidden by profit improvement if they're out sourcing the

jobs, taking them to Taiwan, taking them to Hong Kong, taking
them to Communist China and, yes, taking them to Mexico. We
have over 70 American automobile plants, Ford, Chrysler, and GM
that have gone to Mexico to take advantage of $1.50 an hour

wages. I guarantee you that almost every single one of those jobs
that's gone to Mexico has left the United States.

Smith Corona is in Senator D'Amato's State who took the floor

and argued many hours on this issue. They have been forced to

close, as a result of trade cheating which is well documented, and

go down to Mexico to take advantage of low income wages. And in

Cortland, New York, the people up there that have lost their jobs
are not finding replacement jobs. The same is true in Michigan and
the same is true in all 50 States. There is not a State that's im-

mune from this, including your home State; California is caught in

this tumble.
I have got to assure myself that I've got a commitment from the

economic thinkers of this administration to see to it that the jobs
we need are going to come on line. And I am not just talking about

jobs for editorial writers and economists and others that are off in

the part of the economy that is quite sheltered, and are not really

directly confronted by the ruthlessness of international global com-

petition right now.
I have got to have some understanding that the new administra-

tion is going to put a premium on high-skilled, high-wage manufac-

turing jobs in this country throughout the 50 States, and that we
are going to commit ourselves absolutely to drive up this curve of

8 million jobs over the next 4 years.
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That's going to jolt some people because we are not used to

thinking that way. We are used to cashing in other people's oppor-
tunities if we are a holder of capital and maybe making a nice gain
on that. If some other person in society loses their job, well, that's

just tough luck. That has to change.
And I took what the President said yesterday to be an absolute

commitment to the American people in terms of our economic fu-

ture that there are going to be enough good jobs to go around in

this country. Am I right in making that assumption?
Ms. Tyson. I think that jobs are a priority issue, have been a pri-

ority issue during the campaign, and will be a priority issue for the
administration.

Let me just say something to respond to your manufacturing
chart here. Some people look at that chart and they say, well, look,
this reflects that we have had a tremendous growth in manufactur-

ing productivity in the United States. Output has been growing
and employment has been declining, but this is good news because
of productivity.
But another way to look at that, and this was actually brought

up by someone from the National Association of Manufacturers at
the economic conference in Little Rock in response to a direct ques-
tion from the then President-elect Clinton, can we have more man-
ufacturing jobs in the United States, or is it just that we are so

productive that we are going to have fewer and fewer and fewer?
And what this man from NAM said was, we can certainly have

more manufacturing jobs in the United States if our producers
were able to capture larger shares of global markets. That is, if we
were a larger provider of manufacturing products, even though we
had very productive manufacturing workers, we could employ more
of those workers.
The first thing is to say that we needn't think that there is a

tradeoff between improving productivity in manufacturing and jobs
in manufacturing. That we should be thinking that improving pro-

ductivity in manufacturing with a bunch of other policies may actu-

ally allow us to get greater shares of world markets and therefore
more manufacturing employment.
Now, what are some of the other policies? I think the first thing

it's important to recognize is that in many of the industries behind
this chart, we're back to what I was talking about earlier. That is,

the U.S. companies are facing competition which is not simply or

solely a free market competition. There are issues of promotion
abroad and there are issues of market barriers abroad. And we
have to fight very hard against those.

For example, in the auto parts case, I don't think we have set

aside again as a result of the Moss talks coming out of the mid-

1980's, we were supposed to be exploring with Japan the possibility
of increasing our share of their auto parts market.
The Chairman. We haven't done very well, have we?
Ms. Tyson. We have not done very well. We have 1 percent of

the market and the whole entire foreign share of their market is

about three. This is an area where we should be able to do better.

We have not done well in terms of providing financing for exports
of small- and medium-size manufacturing companies in the United

States, and so if you look at their export performance compared to
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similar companies in other parts of the world, we're under export-

ing. We should be able to help these companies gain access to mar-
ket information and to lines of credit, really, so that they can ex-

port more to the rest of the world. If we did that, we would be able

to have more manufacturing jobs, even though they are productive.
So I think we should have as a goal to try to increase the number

of these jobs. If we have that goal, then we can make policies to

achieve it.

The Chairman. Senator D'Amato.
Senator D'Amato. Dr. Tyson, let me say I have listened to the

questions being put to you. I must say that there were some tough
ones, some probing ones, and some soft balls. But that's the nature
of this. Whether they were tough, or whether they were soft balls,

you certainly demonstrate a commanding knowledge of this area
and of our economy and our problems that we face.

We may not all agree on all of the solutions that you put forth,

and certainly as it relates to taxes, maybe we'll have an oppor-

tunity to discuss this in the future, not necessarily in the public

arena, maybe unfortunately in the public arena, but as it relates

to taxes and how you view the overall economy. I understand that
in a limited period of time you've attempted to do the best you
could to explain what you were writing to as it related to the possi-

bility of increasing taxes at the levels suggested in the article that
both myself and Senator Mack alluded to. I find that somewhat dis-

turbing.
But I have to tell you I have found disturbing a policy of blind-

ness, of outright manipulation of the law, that has existed for more
than this past decade, where great corporations will send letters

suggesting that the Commerce Department and the Congress allow
the law to be broken because they are dealing with another foreign

corporation, and they don't care that at other levels and at other

companies workers will lose their jobs because the law is allowed
to be broken.

I am talking about IBM, who sent this Senator and others letters

that said, look, don't worry about the circumvention of laws and
third parties participating to get around the antidumping provi-
sions. They did that. And I have to tell you something, I read this

article, December 12 in the Washington Post, that if there is any-
thing to commend your appointment to this position it is that the

old boy network is disturbed with you. They are disturbed because

you are looking at some of the practicalities of what has gone on,

you and your associates, in terms of permitting the kind of abuse
that has taken place. And we are afraid to stand up and say to

other countries, hey, wait a minute, we're not going to permit you
to continue this.

I have had members suggest to me that if we insisted on fairness

and that the law be adhered to as it relates to those who are dump-
ing, those who are circumventing, those who are cheating on the

process, that this might create a bad situation, that they might
withhold credit from us, that they might not come in and buy our
bonds at our Treasury sales. Can you imagine? And it's not going
to get better unless we stand up and do what's right.

I am not suggesting a trade war. I can see it now, oh, here it is,

D'Amato wants a trade war. But at some point in time you have
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to say, if we have a law and this is what it says, tell me why we
shouldn't enforce this law? I mean, this one is a big superpower,
or that one is a country that we can't afford to alienate? And so

consequently you're going to look the other way? I mean, that's

what's happened.
I don't know whether it happens because of high-priced lobbyists

who come in, or former colleagues who come in, the fact that they
can go and speak to presidents and secretaries, et cetera on behalf
of their foreign clients. Now look, we want fair trade and free
trade. I think that's where you're coming from.
And I have read your articles as they relate to that, and I have

to tell you, you're going to have one tough job, Laura D'Andrea
Tyson. They'll be after you, they will hit you. Forget the taxing. Let
them all talk about tax incentives. That's good. Investment tax
credits? Absolutely terrific.

I liked your talk about securitization, and I hope at some point
in time, Mr. Chairman, we'll be able to do that as it relates to mak-
ing credit available to small businesses. Because certainly that's

the engine that's going to pull us out. And, yes, we had better come
to the realization that unless we begin to see to it that there is fair-

ness in the marketplace, we'll be in real trouble. The ball bearing
industry destroyed deliberately. We have a Treasury Department
that's got a case against the Japanese. They've been goofing around
with that thing. They applied the $600 million fine. They will never

push that case, never. Because the big boys are in there trying to

stop it from taking place.
So if you persist in the kind of overall theme that you have de-

veloped and that you know to be the case and stand up, you will

be doing vourself and this Nation a great service. And I just wish
you good luck.

Ms. Tyson. Thank you.
The Chairman. Senator Sarbanes.
Senator Sarijanks. Mr. Chairman, I will be very brief, because

I take it that we're going to be bringing this hearing to a close. I

just want to pick up on something that Senator D'Amato just said.

I want to quote one paragraph from a column by Robert Kuttner,
a columnist for whom I have great regard, entitled "Real World
Economist."
The Nation's leading economists who gathered this past week at

the annual meeting of the American Economic Association are

upset that Bill Clinton did not draw from the old boy network to

select his chief economist. Instead, he picked Laura D'Andrea

Tyson of the University of California at Berkeley, an unconven-
tional economist with a dazzling intellect, who chooses to work in

English rather than algebra, and to study the real economy rather
than build sand castles.

I agree with that paragraph, although I think it's overstated. My
understanding from the AEA is that they had a few malcontents
who were expressing their view and the rest of them were all very
supportive.

I understand that the letter from Bob Solow has been put in the
record. But I just want to quote from it. The Nobel Prize laureate
at MIT: I have known Dr. Tyson since she was a first-vear grad-
uate student at MIT about 20 years ago, and I have followed her
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work ever since. We are proud of running a tough, highly competi-
tive Ph.D. program at MIT. I can tell you that Dr. Tvson got an
A from me in tne course in macroeconomic theory, by the way, and
came through as one of the A list graduate students of her cohort.

She has had first rate training and has profited from it.

He then goes on: Dr. Tyson is an excellent economist. And he dis-

cusses some of the specifics of that. And he closes by saying: My
summary of you is that Dr. Tyson will be an able, knowledgeable,
and effective chairman of the Council. She will be able to bring the

best economic knowledge of the country to the service of President

Clinton. It is an excellent nomination and should be confirmed with

enthusiasm.
And Mr. Chairman, I simply want to register that I am prepared

to confirm this nomination with enthusiasm.
Thank you very much.
The Chairman. Thank you, Senator Sarbanes,
Senator Faircloth.

Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Professor Tyson, you and I both are slowly learning some of the

rules of the Congress, and I have many of them to learn having
been an old hand of maybe 2 weeks. One of them is I am discover-

ing that you make a speech before you start talking.

[Laughter.]
Senator Faircloth. So I would like to say that from what I have

read and from what I have seen I certainly plan to support you.
I am not totally negative.

[Laughter.]
Senator Faircloth. I have done considerable study on the Uni-

versitv of California, going back to Clark Kerr and Mario Savio,
and the promulgation of the multiversity. I did not myself attend

college, which is perfectly evident. I don't have to announce it. But
I think a number of things we kind of fluffed over and I will be

quick with my questions and statements.

One of them is that Congress ended the Marshall Plan sometime
about 1953, but they forgot to tell the economic bureaucracy here.

And they have continued to go on with the Marshall Plan and the

mindset and the concept of the Marshall Plan, and I think it's time

it ended in reality.
Another thing is Senator Sasser said—and I was delighted to

hear—that you were absolutely from the real world of economics.

Did he imply that you had been involved in making a profit and

meeting a payroll? Is that what he was talking about?

Ms. Tyson. No, I think he was not talking about it that way. He
was talking about the fact that rather than construct elegant theo-

ries on the basis of rather rarefied assumptions, my work has been
to look at specific industries and specific trade conflicts and specific

policies and try to assess their effects.

It hasn't been to construct what I think their effects should be

by assumption and then go to find evidence to support my assurnp-
tions. It's been to try to figure out what really is there by looking
at it.

Senator Faircloth. In the last 6 years or 8 years or whatever,
we've been picking up 20,000 new Federal employees a year while

the private sector has been getting rid of employees. In a word,
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what can we do to turn that around? Stop hiring the 20,000 a year
would be a good start.

Ms. Tyson. That point was actually made in the campaign, that
we in fact have reached a state where manufacturing employment
in the United States is less than public sector employment. And
this is a serious problem.
What you have to do is not simply try to limit Federal employ-

ment, which as I said earlier President Clinton is committed to try-

ing to reduce the staff size of the White House, and anticipates
that Congress is working in the same direction itself for congres-
sional staff. But the issue is not just cutting jobs in some parts of
the economy, but creating jobs in other parts of the economy.
Part of the problem is the lack of job opportunities in the rest

of the economy. So if we can work on helping the small business

community and the entrepreneurial community and we can help
some of our bigger companies have better access to foreign mar-
kets, then we will be creating job opportunities in the private sec-

tor, and then the imbalance between creating public sector jobs and
not creating private sector jobs will be addressed.

Senator Faircloth. I am excited by what you say about the
trade constraints and what you say we ve got to do about them to

level the balance of trade. I will go on with that. But in the hear-

ings I've been in, not one person has come up with an announced
plan or any thought given to reducing Federal spending and em-
ployment. That hasn't been touched.

I want to ask one question and I will stop. I am sure this is her-

esy, but is there any thought—I am a child of the 1930's, 1940's,
and 1950's. Has any thought been given to the fact that by borrow-

ing on various Government policies over the last 20 or 30 years,
that we have established and led people to believe that they were
entitled to and could have a standard of living that the economy
of this country simply,

in the long range, can't afford?

Ms. Tyson. I would like to suggest that what we should all be

trying to do
Senator Faircloth. Is it possible that that has come upon us?

That we have established in the minds of the American public and
in the reality by borrowing money and public policy, a standard of

living that in the long term we can't afford? Is that a possibility
that we're going to have to, as a Nation, lower our standard of liv-

ing?
Ms. Tyson. The problem with my saying "y^s" to that question

or "no" is, what standard of living can we afford? We have some
control over the standard of living. The problem for the country is

that our standard of living, our productive capability, our produc-
tivity, what underlies and what is the foundation of our standard
of living has been eroding.
So what we want to try to do is to use policies to improve what

prospects for our standard of living are. Then Americans when they
expect that their children will be better off than they are will have
a correct expectation. But we have got to provide the society with

investment, skilled people, public programs that will allow us to

achieve a higher rate of growth of the standard of living than we
have managed to achieve in the past couple of decades.

Senator Faircloth. Thank you.
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The Chairman. Thank you.
Senator Kerry and then Senator Bond.
Senator Sarbanes. Could you yield to me for just a second?

Senator Kerry. Can I do it without using my 5 minutes?
Senator Sarbanes. Mr. Chairman, I just want to clear up one

factual matter that Senator Faircloth has asserted two or three

times this morning, and that is about the increase in Federal em-

ployment.
In fact, there has been a decrease in the number of employees

on the Federal Government payroll since 1989, 1987 really. There

has been an increase in the number of employees on State and
local government payrolls over that period, and I think that's large-

ly the result of an increased number of school teachers to handle

school populations and increased safety, police officers and fire offi-

cers in some communities across the country.
But it has been put out there a couple of times this morning. And

I just want to say that at least according to the economic indicators

contained in the latest economic report of the President, the num-
ber of Federal employees in December are 2,944,000 versus—of

course the 20,000 a year figure is tiny in comparison to that, but

nevertheless is less than the number of Federal employees when
we go back to 1987.

Senator D'Amato. Is that civilian employment or all inclusive? If

it includes the military, that might account for the difference. And
I think that the Senator would be alluding to the civilian popu-
lation.

Senator Sarbanes. That's a good question. That's employees on

nonagricultural payrolls by major industry. I think it's civilian, but

I'm not absolutely certain of that.

Senator D'Amato. I think it is of note that President Clinton,

and I'm not carrying his water here, because we're going to ask

him if he does not do it, has called for a reduction in that civilian

sector.

Ms. Tyson. He calls for basically 100,000 reduction in the Fed-

eral work force through attrition in the overall Federal work force.

Senator D'Amato. There's an old story, if I might, Mr. Chairman
because I have not used all my time on other occasions, and I did

waive basically my opening statement, if I might have the indul-

gence of my friends on the committee.
When Ronald Reagan was first elected and walked into the Agri-

culture Department, a huge, huge room there, thousands of people,

they were all applauding him and one gentleman was bent over at

his desk crying. Did you hear this story?

[Laughter.]
Senator D'Amato. He walked over to him and he said, what are

you crying for? He said, it may be good for you, but my farmer

died.

[Laughter.]
Ms. Tyson. I think it's important to emphasize that President

Clinton recognizes this problem, both in saying that he wants to

try to cut the Federal work force by 100,000 and talking about cuts

in White House staff and talking about 3 percent cuts in the ad-

ministrative cost of Government. He recognizes the problem.
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On the other hand, it's important to say that part of this change
in the structure of our work force is we haven't been creating
enough private sector jobs. So you look at the percentage of the
work force employed by the Government sector and it's partly be-
cause we have not been successful enough in private sector employ-
ment.

Finally, just to reiterate what Senator Sarbanes said, a lot of this

is at the State and local level, and there was at least 1 year in

which the fastest growing category of employment in the United
States was prison guards employed by State and local government.
So we have other problems in our

society
which are feeding into

the creation of these kinds of jobs. And I tnink we have to address
those other problems as well.

The Chairman. If I may, Senator Faircloth, you wanted to make
a point, and I think we need to terminate this discussion. I want
to go to Senator Kerry and Senator Bond and the hour is late.

Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Sarbanes, if I am wrong, the civilian Federal bureauc-

racy has not been growing constantly over the last several years.
And I hope you are right that it hasn't. Then I think more of it

than I thought I did.

Senator Sarbanes. Fair enough. That's a good response.
The Chairman. Very good.
Senator Kerry.
Senator Kerry. Thank you very much.
I am increasingly concerned, as others are, about the dispropor-

tionate playing field that we are playing on. I know you have a

good understanding of it. You've been to our State. Massachusetts
has a great dependency on that rapid creation of jobs in high tech
and the threat to our economy if they are lost to foreign competi-
tion.

What bothers me is that there seems to be a very obvious dis-

proportionate competitive capacity in our relationship structurally
and we seem to ignore it. We have corporate entities that have ba-

sically been left on their own because that's the way we like to do
business in America, laissez faire and so forth, free market. But we
are competing in something that is not a free market, not laissez

faire. And so these corporate entities are left to try to compete on
their own against nation states.

You look at the airline industry today. It's in great trouble. You
look at the top rankings of airlines in the world. I think every sin-

gle one of them are Asian airlines. And other airlines that we com-

pete against are state owned or greatly state subsidized.
I just had officers from a major electronics company come in to

visit with me. They have a base in Massachusetts. They own a

company, but their home base is in Europe. They are significantly
state owned, I think it's almost 70 percent state subsidy again. And
we are now having contracts going from our American-based com-

panies to that company for our military on a straight competitive
basis, low cost, low bid, et cetera. We obviously can't go on like this

it seems to me.
But we've been operating in this sort of hazy world, particularly

the last few years. We don't want to touch that. That's industrial

policy. No, you can't have the Government involve itself. And we
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are just losing. I mean, we've got 16 percent of our base in manu-
facturing today versus Germany and Japan. More than 30 percent
of their people are in manufacturing. We all know what the manu-
facturing statistics are.

It seems to me that there has got to be a dramatic change in our

approach and a major shift in our thinking. And I would like to

have your thoughts on it.

You've pointed to some of these problems in certain regards with

respect to the computer chips in Korea and so forth.

Could you give me a sense of how clearly you think the Clinton
administration intends to attack this and are there any specifics at
this point in time as to how to address this imbalance?
Ms. Tyson. Let me say that this imbalance, you have to recog-

nize and what I try to do in the work that I've done is to recognize
that there are a number of reasons why a U.S. industry in inter-

national competition might face some problems.
We have to make sure from the beginning that we take care of

the underlying foundations. We have to make sure it's not a prob-
lem of high cost of capital and inappropriate investment incentives.

We have had that problem. We have had in the United States a
situation in which American companies were unable to or had a
disincentive or no encouragement to invest because of the high cost

of capital and because of tax laws which were not particularly pro-
motional of investments.
We have to handle a general problem like that. We have to han-

dle a general problem like the skills and flexibility of the American
work force. So that a German firm with a higher investment rate

and better skilled work force is going to have an advantage.
Senator Kerry. Let me say I accept there are a whole lot of

givens about other things. We have a habit of shooting ourselves
in the foot on many different levels, and I accept all of that.

Ms. Tyson. Now, what do we do? Assume hypothetically we get
all of the rest of the policy right. Then, we will still have problems
which have to do with either access barriers to foreign markets or

promotional policies in foreign markets which really are disallowed
or should be disallowed by international or multilateral rules. And
we have some national remedies that we can try to use in those
circumstances.
So what should we do? It seems to me we need to try to have

a dual track. Actually that's sort of the argument in this book, a
dual track. On the one hand, we should be trying to work as hard
as we can with our trading partners to get very transparent, pre-

cise, enforceable rules about what can and cannot be done. This
takes a long time. That is what we did.

We actually did come up this past summer with an agreement
with the Europeans on aircraft subsidies. We started to negotiate
this agreement basically in 1979, we got it in 1992. The agreement
is it does have much more precise rules than we've ever had before.

It limits the subsidies. It's very transparent about how you meas-
ure them, it's transparent about how the subsidies have to be paid
back. It has regular monitoring and enforcement capabilities. So
that is something that we want to do as a long run goal.
But it took a long time for us to get there. So in the meantime,

it seems to me, we must fall back on essentially a series of sectoral
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negotiations where we emphasize in our own negotiations with our

trading partners issues of reciprocity where we emphasize here is

a problem in a particular industry. How can we negotiate a bilat-

eral or a plurilateral agreement which tries to break down this bar-
rier?

We have done this approach in semiconductors, we have done
that with Japan in telecommunications and in supercomputers. We
have to, it seems to me, deal with recognizing the problem which
has been part of our own problem. Part of our own problem has
been not to recognize the problem. Now I think we recognize the

problem. So the first thing is this administration recognizes the

problem and therefore will start its policies from recognition of the

problem.
And then, second, we will try to use the trade laws we have, we

will try to use an active USTR, an active Commerce Department,
the laws that we have to make sure that we are being treated ap-

propriately in foreign markets or that we can take actions at home
to offset or compensate for policies being promoted abroad that ad-

versely affect us.

Senator Kerry. Would you approve of a policy where, for in-

stance, we prefer an American based company with comparable
technology, to a foreign competitor where we are thinking of spend-
ing Federal dollars for procurement, even if the foreign competitor
can do work a bit more cheaply? Do we say that our subsidy-
counter concept will be that as a result of their capacity to have
the low bid only as a consequence of the subsidy we're going to ad-

dress differently how we spend our dollars? Should a factor be the
fact that once you turn the technology over to them and start pro-

curing from them with our U.S. taxpayers' dollars, the particular

companies that lose out may now be in such crisis that they no

longer can continue to exist and we lose jobs and then we lose the

technology altogether? That's the cycle that's going on.

In your book, you point to an insidious aspect of this, which is

the following. This is from page 275 of your book. You say there
is some evidence that the availability of investment capital in cer-

tain product areas such as displays is limited in the United States

by lender perceptions that once the Japanese have targeted a mar-
ket the prospects for American competitors are not auspicious.

So you have a secondary impact which is just the fact that the

Nation state has decided to compete against the corporate entity is

sufficient, according to you, to diminish the willingness of our peo-

ple to take risks and even enter the market at all. And so we are
double losers.

Ms. Tyson. That second point is actually quite a serious problem.
I have been involved in many conversations where the lenders or

potential lenders will say, well, there's really no profit to be made
in this industry because it is an industry which it's not just Japan,
but another nation may have targeted.
This is even the case in the aircraft industry which, of course,

has become because of cyclical problems, but also because of the
subsidies of the Europeans, a less profitable industry. And there-

fore, the lender perception is there is reduced incentive to lend. So
that is a very important issue.
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Senator Kerry. As I terminate my round here I would just like

to say to you that I think increasingly you are looking at members
of Congress who are very frustrated oy having to go home and
meet with our CEO's and meet with people who have lost jobs as

a consequence of these things with the feeling that we are not

doing anything about it. And I am increasingly frustrated, because
as you've said we understand the problem.

I am very tired and frustrated with going back to people and say-

ing, gosh, I understand the problem but nobody is doing anything
about it. We have somehow got to be willing to take some risks

here and perhaps upset the equilibrium a little bit to send a signal
that we are not going to be everybody's patsy.
The Chairman. Thank you.
Senator Bond.
Senator Bond. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I have a strong sense that the train is about to leave the station.

I have about 2V2 hours worth of questions.
[Laughter.]
Senator Bond. And statements at least that long that I will try

to forgo.
But I was delighted to hear your strong support for exports. I

would be interested first in knowing if it's still your view—I've

heard it attributed to you
—recommendations that the President

should disallow proposals by United States and Japanese officials

to reinstate a formal quota on Japanese exports of autos and auto

parts to the United States for the reason that limiting imports of

foreign investments from Japan is a sure-fire way to reduce living
standards without making our companies more competitive. Does
that reflect your viewpoint?
Ms. Tyson. My view on this issue is the following:
This is about a very particular form of restraint which I think

the record shows has often had—this is basically
—the voluntary re-

straint agreements are agreements which really are binding. I

think what Japan has announced recently as their target, they're

selling under that. So it's not a binding constraint on them.
Senator Bond. Do you think those are bad ideas?
Ms. Tyson. The evidence on those suggest in general that the

consequence is normally if the foreign supplier is restricting supply
to the U.S. and the constraint is binding, that that allows them to

charge higher prices, earn higher profits, and use the profits for in-

vestment in future product lines. And this is not exactly what we
want to be the consequence of our policy. So those are my reserva-
tions.

Senator Bond. I would suggest that you may have an oppor-
tunity to express those.

You also say, equally compelling, the evidence that our national

savings deficit, not Japan's market barriers, is a major factor be-
hind our trade imbalance.
Ms. Tyson. Yes. I think that's right.
I want to make a distinction here between overall trade imbal-

ances, which I believe to be determined primarily by macro-
economic considerations such as how fast are we growing versus
how fast the rest of the world is growing, and problems in particu-
lar industries where market access barriers might be important.
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For example, in the auto industry, I mentioned before the auto

parts case. I think there is very important evidence that we need
to look at carefully about why it's the case that we have such a
small opportunity to sell in that very big market. That's a struc-

tural problem, it's not a macroeconomic problem.
Senator Bond. Last year you testified before this committee and

the Joint Economic Committee in opposition to the McDonnell
Douglas proposal to enter into an arrangement with Taiwanese
groups to produce the MD12. Obviously, you and I were not in

agreement in that by any stretch of the imagination.
Now I understand that Boeing and two members of Airbus are

planning a venture, Deutsche Aerospace, being heavily subsidized.
What's your view of that deal?

Ms. Tyson. Let me say that I think you have—this is really
where I think you have to emphasize the practical pragmatic views.
This is where my real world attitude comes into play.
The McDonnell Douglas Taiwan Aerospace deal, my concern

about that was basically the specifics of the deal. This was a deal
in which the Taiwanese government was heavily involved as an in-

vestor and in which the Taiwanese government had taken the overt

position that basically, as part of this deal, for their money, they
wanted 65 percent of the subcontracting jobs of McDonnell Douglas
on all of its aircraft. It struck me that this was an arrangement
in which, since a foreign nation was trying to buy at a substantial
fraction of good American jobs for not that much money, we should

actually be negotiating on the other side of the table.

The deal between Boeing—the proposed deal; it's not a deal yet,
is a deal which I would want to look at to see.

I think one should examine these things. But this is not—this is

a cooperative venture between three airline companies. Boeing is

going into it voluntarily as a research effort. I would—it's not the
same.
As I said, what I saw as the problem in the other deal was essen-

tially the jobs that were in play in terms of this deal. And that
doesn't seem to be the case in this. But let me say that I know
much less about this deal right now, and it is a deal therefore that
I would want to examine carefully before I took a position on it.

It is important to examine the specifics.
Senator Bond. If they get into it, should we then require that

first of all Deutsche Aerospace which has been heavily subsidized

get out of the deal? Should we require that there be limits on any
transfer of work, of subcontracts across to Deutsche Aerospace? I

think we're treading on some very shaky ground and I believe that
the concerns you expressed about the McDonnell Douglas deal, as
I understand that deal, would apply in this one. Do you have any
concerns that the Government should get in and negotiate for Boe-

ing in this?

Ms. Tyson. No. I was making a fairly specific point in our discus-

sions last spring. And actually I think it's now been recognized in

some of the revisions in the Exxon Florio process which is that
when a foreign government is involved as a major player in pur-

chasing an American company, that that deal must be looked at

simply because the foreign government is a purchaser. This is a

foreign direct investment issue and narrowly defined. A foreign
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government involved in the purchase of an American company,
that one might want to look at that.

That is not to say that one wouldn't necessarily conclude that it

should not happen, but that should be looked at as an element.

After all, we in general as a system do not propose, do not promote,
do not foster the idea that state ownership of American companies
by the American Government is useful. In fact, we argue that state

ownership is not useful.

Therefore, if a foreign government is coming in to buy an Amer-
ican company, I think we have to look at that very carefully. Since

we presuppose, correctly I think, that state ownership is not a good
thing, why should foreign state ownership be a good thing if Amer-
ican ownership is not?

The Boeing deal is not a foreign direct investment deal. It is a

cooperative arrangement to do some research. And that kind of co-

operative arrangement raises not the same issues at all, it seems
to me, as the foreign government buying an American company or

buying a substantial fraction of an American company.
Senator Bond. Mr. Chairman, I see my time is up. I want to re-

serve my right to submit further questions.
The Chairman. We can do it either way. If you want to take a

little more time, you've been very patient.
Senator Bond. Let me just ask then what do you think about the

proposed British Air investment in USAir?
Ms. Tyson. I would have to say that I haven't really had a

chance to look at that close enough to give a balanced answer. I

think, again, to emphasize where I tend to come from on these is-

sues, I tend to believe that it's very important to understand in de-

tail what the deal is. Therefore, rather than take a position right

now, I would rather have the opportunity to look at it carefully and
then talk to you about it.

Senator Bond. I think we probably ought to pursue that at some
later opportunity. But let me just touch on a couple of things quick-

ly so people can get out of here.

You talked about the relationship of taxation and expenditure to

GNP. I guess now we're calling it GDP.
What do you have as a view as to the proper level of taxation

as a percentage of gross domestic product? Do you have a view? In

1944 it was 21.7 percent It has been down as low as 17.1 percent.
Or do you think it ought to be as high as 25 percent?
Ms. Tyson. I guess I would say I know of nothing in the field

of economics which would suggest—there is no number that comes
out of either economic theory or economic practice. That is, looking
around the world which would tell you what that number should
be. That number is a political judgment and the most important
thing about that is not the number per se, but the composition.

I wouldn't want to come up with a number because I don't think

there's any basis on which one would formulate such a number.
Senator Bond. On the basis of your study of comparative sys-

tems, do you give any weight to the fact that other countries which
seem to be competing with us and are having significant growth
have very low or no capital gains imposed on long term invest-

ments?
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Ms. Tyson. What I would say is that there is substantial evi-

dence that other countries have had a lower cost of capital than
ours for long periods of time. And there are many factors which
have played into that, including interest rate differences, and a va-

riety of differences in the taxation of returns to capital, of which
the capital gains tax is one.

The evidence on capital gains taxation on its own in the United
States is basically it leads to conflicting results. There are some
studies which show it has a powerful impact on investment and
also on revenues for the U.S. Government. And some studies show
that it does not.

I would have to say that we know for sure that U.S. investment
rates have been adversely affected by differences in the costs of

capital over time, but we know with much less certainty what a

particular tax like that, what role that particular difference has
had.

Senator Bond. I disagree with you. I think President Kennedy
was right and I think that the capital gains cut did produce invest-

ment.
Ms. Tyson. But there was also the investment tax credit, which

was primarily and by many studies the major source of the addi-

tional investment.
Investment tax credits, the economic evidence on investment tax

credits and their effect on investment spending in the economy is

much stronger in its conclusions than studies of the effect of capital

gains taxation on productive investment.
Senator Bond. Would you make those available across the board,

or would you say that they should go to high technology compa-
nies?

Ms. Tyson. I think we should definitely try to have as broad
based an investment credit as possible. We are trying to encourage
investment throughout the productive part of our economy. What
we want to do is target it in such as way as we target plant and

equipment, so that we can get an investment boost around the

economy. I would not want to target it.

Senator Bond. What if you are buying a car for use in your busi-

ness?
Ms. Tyson. I don't know if I want to get into the specifics of this

legislation at this point. This will be something I am sure we will

be talking about in detail.

Senator Bond. Let me just ask you, when the time comes, and
there's considerations, there are practical reasons from other areas
that there are proposals for these following things. What do you see

in your role as chairman of the CEA, what questions would you
raise for example about increasing the minimum wage, raising
CAFE standards on automobiles, a mandatory IV2 percent payroll
tax on businesses to pay for education and training, pay or play
health care? Those seemingly attractive proposals, what kind of

economic impact would you assess to them?
Ms. Tyson. I think each of those we'll have to evaluate. The

standard way of doing that is to basically try to figure out by the

benefits, the alleged benefits to be achieved by each of those versus

what are the costs of achieving them.



55

Senator Bond. As an economist, what would you say in terms of

cost? Would you weigh in?

Ms. Tyson. Of course. The CEA will always weigh in on costs

and benefits. So we would weigh in on issues—I think I have made
it clear that my own view is that the entrepreneurial small busi-

ness part of the U.S. economy is critical to its future creation of

wealth and jobs. Therefore, we will always be looking at issues of

regulatory burden on small businesses. That would be an impor-
tant issue. Clearly if you go to finance a training program through
a tax credit policy, that has a different effect than doing it through
a tax policy. And we would look at that.

I can assure you that in each of those cases, the CEA will be

called upon and will play an active role in making as careful and
as precise and as objective a determination as possible of both the

benefits, why are we thinking of such a policy, why is one thinking
of such a policy, but also of the costs.

Senator Bond. There are always strong views on why the policy
is good. Would you, in each of those instances, say that one like the

economic impact is to cost jobs for each of those things I men-
tioned?
Ms. Tyson. Each of them, depending upon how they are struc-

tured when they are introduced, could cost jobs, I think. For exam-

ple, on minimum wage, this is another part of economic evidence
that is mixed. You have a series of minimum wage studies, the ef-

fects of minimum wages on job creation. Some of the studies sug-

gest there is almost no effect. Some of the studies suggest there is

an effect. I am afraid economics is going to remain an imprecise
science.

Nonetheless, we would bring to such a discussion all of that evi-

dence and try to assess that evidence in advising the President and
all his economic staff about the costs and benefits of the policy, and
we would do that with all the other ones that you listed.

Senator BOND. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I apologize
for imposing on your time. But I will have further questions to sub-

mit.

The Chairman. Thank you.
I have two or three things I want to cover with you, and if Sen-

ator D'Amato does, then we'll finish. You've been very patient, but
there are a couple of key things that we need to cover here.

First, let me say that Senator Moseley-Braun had to go to the

Judiciary Committee. Let me just note that for the record.

When we talk about the economics profession, I look back at

what I had a chance to learn, not to get into any great personal
discussion here. But I had the opportunity to study in that field at

the University of Michigan with some very good economists and
earn a degree in that field and the field of business and then go
on for an MBA at Michigan State, and had professors like Andrew
Brimmer and Walter Adams, who I was fortunate enough to study
from, and later on made my way over to the Harvard Business
School and had a chance to hear and learn from some of the best

economists there and across the Charles River over in the Kennedy
School as well.

I am struck, however, in representing Michigan and serving in

this capacity on the Banking Committee and also on the Finance
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and Budget Committees that so much of what I learned in an eco-

nomic model sense not all that long ago has almost no relevance
to what I see happening in the economy. And these anomalies I've

tried to demonstrate on some of the charts today where the old

rules of the game are not giving us the kind of real world results

today that we need to have or that one might expect.
The system is not working the way that many of us were taught

that it should work. And there are still a lot of classical economists,
I think, sort of the flat earth economists, who are still walking
around clutching those models in those old textbooks. And they
really aren't very useful to where we are at the present time.
That's very troubling, because you could get a very bad read on a
situation and, therefore, go from that to policy prescriptions that
don't solve our problems.

Interestingly, someone no less than Alan Greenspan recently at

a meeting in Europe, as you may have seen from the newspapers,
acknowledged in a very frank statement for him, because he's quite
careful in choosing his language and quite cryptic normally, in a
sense confessed that things were not behaving in a way that fit the
old analysis and the old models. I'm paraphrasing, obviously. But
in essence that we were not quite sure what was going on. But it

was different than what we had experienced before. In fact, we
couldn't really guide by the old market and the old policy prescrip-
tions.

Significantly, with respect to the earlier discussion on the anemic

growth of M2 and the Fed policies, the Federal Reserve has ad-

justed monetary policy during this recession 23 times. Now, when
you think about it, they obviously thought each time they were
making the policy adjustment they were getting ahead of the curve.

And if you imagine that you've got a car that's not running right,

you've got to take it in for adjustment. And you take it down to a
service garage. They adjust your car, you pay the bill, and you
bring it back and it still doesn't run right. You take it back 23
times for adjustment, and it's still not running right. You start to

wonder if you're taking it to the right service garage.
I think that question can fairly be asked in many policy areas.

Fed policy areas. And I think quite frankly that Alan Greenspan
himself is posing that question, because things just aren't working
the way they used to work and we've gotten into some of that here

today.
Out where I come from in Michigan where we still have a very

substantial manufacturing based economy, we have a phrase we
often use about where the rubber hits the road. It's where reality
is. What's happening in real people's lives today?

I got a letter the other day, not from Michigan. I get many from

there, but one from a man in Texas with a college degree who's
been in three different job retraining programs. He was writing to

say that he could still not find a job in this economy.
We've got people coming out of the aerospace and defense indus-

try in California right now, the home State where you're coming
from, with advanced degrees in virtually all fields, many times

finding it very difficult to get slotted back into the work system,
circulating resumes, trying to make house payments and feed their
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families and so forth. And this is true all over the place. We've got
a very, very serious jobs problem in this country.

I want to just come now to the NAFTA issue. We touched on it

a little bit before. If you look at this North American Free Trade

Agreement, this effort to go into a sort of common market with

Mexico with some adjustments over time, it's actually a three-way
deal. It's the United States, Canada, and Mexico, a three-way com-
bination. One of the things that's most significant to me, if vou look

at the differences between these economies and you take tne gross
domestic product in the United States on a per capita basis, it's a

figure of about, what, $21,500, almost precisely the figure in Can-
ada. You see here two economies that are roughly on an equal foot-

ing, at least by this very important measure.
But if you look at Mexico, you see a profile of a third world econ-

omy, not a modem economy such as you see in the United States

or Canada, but a third world economy. The nearest thing that I see

to that is when the common market in Europe was trying to decide

whether they would bring Turkey into the common market over

there. They decided they would not do so because they were just
too much out of sync. They were a more primitive economy and,

therefore, could not be integrated on the same basis with the more
modern economies of Europe, a very practical real world where the

rubber hits the road kind of a judgment.
We're starting down a track here that we have never been down

before in terms of trying to reconcile these enormously different

economies. And I want to just make it as plain as I know how to

put it in the English language. I think our number one export to

Mexico is going to be jobs. That has been our number one export,
as I have seen it happen over the years. I cited the 70 automobile

plants that Ford, Chrysler, and GM have already located in Mexico.

And they are planning, as are many other firms, to locate many
more down there, particularly if there is a free trade agreement
which makes capital investments in Mexico even more attractive

than they are at the present time.

But with this kind of gross domestic product earnings per capita,

the amount of disposable income that a Mexican individual or fam-

ily has on the average—I'm not talking about the wealthy people,
the super rich in that economy who will benefit enormously from

that, just as the super rich in this economy, the holders of large
amounts of capital, will benefit enormously in this economy. They
play this game as many have and will.

But in terms of the buying power of a Mexican worker, a Mexi-

can family to really buy any significant amount of goods from the

United States anytime soon, the numbers just don't support that

proposition. I realize there is a whole sort of full court press in the

economics profession, the editorial writers love it, although they
are quite immune from the competition as I said earlier and so

forth and so on.

I want to take that point now and lay it against what we were

talking about earlier, the requirement of this administration to

bring into being, foster, the creation of 8 million new private sector

jobs in the United States over the next 4 years, which on average
would mean 165,000 jobs this month, although the administration

is just fully 24 hours into being in effect.
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I don't see, quite frankly, and I have listened to every single

economist, I have attended all the hearings in the Finance Commit-
tee where I serve, I have listened to all tne people. I have listened

to the private sector people who are wheeling and dealing and

planning to make a lot of money off this, Boone Pickens and others

who came in to testify. I have yet to hear a shred of convincing ar-

gument that shows that we're going to be able to do this, swallow
this NAFTA, when we've got a major job based problem in this

country.
We've got to climb this job growth curve, when every basic finan-

cial and other incentive, the legal system, other things involved,
are going to provide a brand new incentive to take jobs to Mexico,
which has already been very substantial up until now.
There's a piece in the Wall Street Journal today about this and

I will just make this part of the record.

I don't think these two things can be reconciled. I think they can
in a classroom, they can be up on a blackboard when we're sort of

modeling things out. I think, you know, when a group of classical

economists sit down in a room together, this may sound like the

greatest thing since sliced bread.
But I absolutely guarantee you, because I've seen it a hundred

different times, that if the profession that was being targeted by
$1.50 an hour wages and the absence of things that would be

equivalent environmental standards and so forth threatening their

livelihood, I would have a lot of economists outside my office door
that would stretch for a block. I am tired of that, quite frankly. I

am tired of the double standard. I am tired of the elitism that I

hear out of much of the profession.
I am not saying this to you because I don't hear that from you.

But I am tired of it, because it is selling the country short.

We just had a political revolt in this country. We just had an ad-

ministration cashiered and sent home. And we had a new adminis-
tration brought into being, essentially on the jobs issue. That and
health care, more than anything else.

So I would urge you in the strongest possible way to think very
carefully as to how this gets integrated into this task of climbing
this job track going out into the future. And I would say that pre-

cisely the logic that I heard you expressing so skillfully here today
about how you deal with unfair international trade rules when you
have rules of the game that are sort of stacked and you can't work

with, that a real adherence to free market activity means that

you've got to somehow deal with those inequities. You've either got
to balance them off or you've got to convince the other person to

take them down and not over a 10- to 15-year period but more rap-

idly. The same kind of practical analysis, I think, has to be applied
here. It has not been.

I have listened to that testimony in the Finance Committee and
it is shot full of holes. So we are not going to be able to have the

jobs we need unless something is done here.

Finally, just this. I appreciate your indulgence, and then I will

give Senator D'Amato whatever time he wants to take.

I want to just share with you a personal minute, because I was
very moved and inspired yesterday at the inaugural ceremonies, as

I think anyone was who was paying attention to it. I want to tell
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you about a campaign rally that we had over the course of this

campaign out in Saginaw, Michigan, where I had an opportunity
to be present. Saginaw is a working class town, struggling right
now with a lot of the job erosion and the grinding down of the mid-
dle class and so forth.

Bill Clinton came there one morning on a beautiful fall day, in

a backdrop where the autumn colored leaves were on the trees and
so forth. And he gave the best speech that I've heard him give any
time. He was inspired. And he reached for the people there and
they reached for him and the crowd was out there, a very large
crowd of people in an inner-city location. We had every age group,
every racial group. You had all the ethnic groups. It was a wonder-
ful composite of the community.
And as he talked about the economy and the need to create jobs,

there was this tremendous sense of energy and hopefulness that

you could see coming from the people in that audience. And they
were reaching for him and he was reaching for them. And I felt

that so powerfully that I was literally moved right to the point of

tears, because you can be in politics a long time and not see those
moments where suddenly people who have seen hope drifting away
from them suddenly see the chance to make something happen
that's going to improve their lives, which is what you precisely said
in your statement. Improving people's lives today and the prospects
for their children.

And afterward, as he went down the rope line to meet people and
people were surging forward, old people, ethnic Americans, blacks,
Hispanics, everybody under the sun, thrusting their children for-

ward, there was this wonderful moment of hopefulness and the
chance that maybe we could break these patterns and get on a dif-

ferent track.

Those expectations in Saginaw and communities like that are
now way up here because people now see a chance for something
to happen that's really going to make things better. And so every
single one of these policies has to be reconciled, I think, to a jobs
bottom line. If a person can't work and have value in the work they
do and earn enough to feed themselves and their family and live

decently in America and have health care and the other kinds of

things that we all want, then it's just not going to work and the

cynicism will come back and the expectations will start to fall

apart. We just cannot afford that.

So my appeal to you is, is you cannot yield on this issue of job
growth. It is not enough for you to have a job or me to have a job
or my family or your husband or any of us here, anybody outside
this room, if other people are locked out of the system and we are
not forcing a change that brings them back in. We need their help.
The country needs it.

There is no way in the world we can close this deficit—I have
heard a lot about deficit reduction today. If we don't get more eco-

nomic growth, we're not going to bring that deficit down in any ma-
terial way. It's too late for that. Too much time has been squan-
dered, and the cards sit in too adverse a way.
We have got to grow our way out of this problem by investing

and creating private sector jobs in every possible way we can. I just
ask you for your commitment to that. You're going to feel lots of



60

counter pressures. Ignore them. The mandate is to put this country
to work.
Ms. Tyson. I accept that mandate. 1 think that is very impor-

tant. And I do beheve that jobs will, indeed, be our first priority.
The Chairman. Thank you.
Senator D'Amato?
Senator D'Amato. I just want to wish you good luck.

[Laughter.]
Ms. Tyson. Thank you very much. I appreciate that.

Thank you.
The Chairman. We'll have questions for you for the record.
You've been very patient and very forthcoming. We will report

you out just as quickly as we can.

The committee stands in recess.

[Whereupon, at 1:20 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
[Prepared statements, biographical sketch, response to written

questions and additional material supplied for the record follow:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT SENATOR DONALD W. RIEGLE, JR.

The Committee meets this morning to consider the nomination of Laura Tyson to

chair the Council of Economic Advisers, and I welcome her warmly. This is an ex-

tremely important position. No issue is more important to the future of our nation
than the design and implementation of our national economic policies. The Council
has the critical job of providing the analysis underlying that process. This nominee

brings excellent qualifications, and I strongly support your nomination. I believe you
will bring fresh, strong leadership at a critical time in our national history.
The seriousness of our current economic weakness is clear. We've now gone 4

years without any per capita economic growth. Unemployment remains at 7.3 per-

cent, half a percentage point higher where it was when the National Bureau of Eco-
nomic Research told us the recession ended. And the number of Americans with jobs
is still below the level it was before the recession began 2 Viz years ago. That's not
a recovery, that's long-term stagnation and a sign of failed economic strategies.
Recent economic indicators have shown slight improvement, but the underlying

trend lines are headed the wrong way. Consumer debt is high and consumer saving
rates are extremely low, so we can't expect to see consumer led growth. Debt levels

of our corporations
remain very high. Commercial real estate markets remain

overbuilt. Weakening foreign economies are depressing U.S. exports. Defense spend-
ing will continue to decline and jobs vanish. Real interest rates remain high, espe-

cially on long-term debt, and money growth has persistently fallen short of the Fed's

targets. Many of the major layofTs
and plant closings announced by companies have

not yet actually taken place. When these announced layoffs occur it will add to the

future unemployment rate.

Over the longer term, the outlook is even more worrisome. We're not investing
in the future adequately. Net business investment over the past 4 years has fallen

to about IVi percent of net domestic product, down by half from the levels of the

1960's and 1970's. What investment we have had has depended heavily on foreign

capital inflows. That has transformed us from the world's largest creditor to the

world's largest debtor. That meant that many of the benefits of that meager invest-

ment will be sent overseas to its foreign owners.
We've also cut back sharply on public investment in infrastructure and as a result

our cities continue to decline. And the condition of our schools, where we develop
human capital, has deteriorated markedly. On top of all that, over the last 20 years
we've lost many of our high-tech industries, essential to America's future growth
and p7-osperity, to foreign competitors. So clearly powerful new economic strategies
are needed.
We need 8 million new private sector jobs in the next 4 years. I believe our nomi-

nee understands this need and recognizes the vital importance of our strategic in-

dustries to our national well being and the growth of the U.S. job base. She has

argued for tough positions on critical trade issues to help ensure the survival of

such industries. She understands that our trade policy must be part of a coordinated

and integrated national economic strategy, and supports innovative—and respon-
sible—fair trade policies to spur investment and growth in our economy.
She comes with superb credentials for the job. She graduated summa cum laude

from Smith, received her Ph.D. from MIT, has taught at Princeton, and at the Har-
vard Business School. She is now a full

professor
at the University of CaHfornia at

Berkeley. She has written 3 books, edited 5 others, and authored more than 40 arti-

cles. I have a number of letters of support for Professor Tyson from leading econo-

mists, including Nobel Prize winners Lawrence Klein of the University of Penn-

sylvania and Robert Solow of MIT, and if there is no objection I will place them in

the record. We are delighted to have Dr. Tyson with us today. She is no stranger
to the Committee having appeared here last June during a hearing we had on for-

eign investment. I look forward to hearing her testimony this morning and reporting
her nomination out to the full Senate expeditiously.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR BARBARA BOXER

Mr. Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen, it is my sincere pleasure to introduce

Laura D'Andrea Tyson, of my home State of California, as President Clinton's choice

to chair the Council of Economic Advisors.

Ms. Tyson's distinguished academic and professional career, including her most
recent experience as professor of Economics and Business Administration at the

University of^ California, Director of the Institute of International Studies, and Re-

search Director for the Roundtable on the International Economy, all at Berkeley,
combine to recommend her highly for this position.
The Council of Economic Advisors plays an integral role in informing and advising

the President on the Nation's economic health and the efTects of Federal Govem-

68-191 -0-93-3
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ment actions and policies on the economy. Certainly Ms. Tyson's stature as an econ-
omist and experience on the Cuomo Commission on Trade and Competitiveness, as
a consultant on the President's Commission on Industrial Competitiveness, and as
a consultant on the Japanese Trade and Industrial Policies Committee, for example,
prepare her for the enormous task before her.

Clearly, improving the Nation's economy will be one of the most important chal-

lenges facing this administration and the Congress in the coming years. In govern-
ing, we must endeavor to promote and implement policies which move this Nation,
its citizens and its employers in a growing, prosperous and competitive direction.

With the guidance and urging of people like Laura D'Andrea Tyson we need to

begin the process of reinvesting in America. For too long, the Cold War drained our
resources and distracted us as we focused on a common enemy rather than the
needs of our people.

Fortunately, a new day has dawned on America and I am very hopeful that, with
Bill Clinton's leadership and that of qualified and concerned people like Laura
D'Andrea Tyson, we will be able to turn this recession around and get people back
to work.

In California, for instance, people are concerned about the combination of a 9.3

percent unemployment rate—a full 1.4 million people out of work—the State budget
crisis, and the loss ofjobs to foreign markets with cheaper labor.

That is one of the reasons I am pleased that Laura D'Andrea Tyson's scholarly
work has been primarily in the area of technology, trade, and competitiveness. This
area is of particular interest to Senator Feinstein and me. It is estimated that 1.2

million Caiifornians owe their employment to the export of manufactured goods and
that 58.4 billion dollars of California products were exported to some 196 foreign
markets in 1990 alone.

The ushering in of a new administration creates a wonderful opportunity for the

Congress, the Executive and the American people. I was happy to learn that Ms.
D'Andrea Tyson works less with numbers and more in real life terms. If we are to

aid I-*resident Clinton its his quest to reinvigorate America spiritually and economi-

cally,
then we need to focus more on people and less on faceless facts and figures.

With the guidance of people like Laura D'Andrea Tyson, I am confident that
President Clinton will have the information he needs to move us in a positive and
economically expansive direction.

INTRODUCTION OF LAURA D'ANDREA TYSON BY

SENATOR DIANNE FEINSTEIN

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to introduce to this committee Laura D'Andrea Tyson
for confirmation as Chair of the Council of Economic Advisors.
A respected economics professor at the University of California at Berkeley, Laura

Tyson has earned a reputation for being a pragmatic—yet unconventional—expert
in the field of economics. Her focus on technology, trade, and competitiveness in the
international economy gives her an invaluable perspective as our Nation competes
in a rapidly changing global marketplace.

In her recently puolished book. Who's Bashing Whom, Professor Tyson outlines a

progressive trade policy to assist American companies now disadvantaged in selling

products abroad. This is only one example of the type of program Laura Tyson will

explore as we attempt to jump start our economy.
The nominee's extensive writing shows her detailed knowledge of foreign policy,

economic competitiveness, and the economic systems of Eastern Eurojjean countries.

Bom in Baynne, New Jersey, Laura Tyson earned her doctorate in Economics
from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1974.
But it was in California—at one of the leading think tanks for progressive eco-

nomic policy making—that IVofessor Tyson has earned her outstanoing reputation.
She is the director of the Berkeley Institute of International Studies, as well as

the research director for the Berkeley Roundtable on the International Economy.
Her advice has been sought by a wide range of groups. She is a member of the

Cuomo Commission on Trade and Competitiveness, the Economic Policy Institute

Research Council, the Council on Foreign Relations, the subcommittee on a Global
Economic Strategy for the United States, and the Los Angeles Times Board of

Economists.
Laura Tyson has described herself as a "cautious activist." To me, that may be

the single most important characteristic she will bring to the Council of Economic
Advisors. She will build a consensus among her colleagues as she promotes innova-
tive economic programs.

I have the utmost confidence that Laura Tyson will succeed in her challenging
mission.
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR AIJ^ONSE M. D'AMATO

Mr. Chairman, I want to join you in welcoming Dr. Tyson to our committee as

we consider her nomination to be Chairperson of tne Council of Economic Advisers.

Harry Truman used to complain that he could never find a one-handed economist.

All of his economic advisers would give advice that started with "on the one hand
. . . and on the other hand." But I understand why economists need two good
hands—they're always feeling around a complex economy, oflen in the dark.

I^esident Clinton shouldn t worry about choosing economists with two hands—
what he needs are economists with two good eyes. 20/20 vision would be helpful,
but x-ray vision would be even better. Too oflen economists remain in their ivory
towers and do not see the real world. I-<ong before it showed up in the economic sta-

tistics our constituents knew there was a recession. The evidence, was available by
looking into the stores, factories, and living rooms of America.

Instead, it took months for the Fed and others to acknowledge the recession and
to begin lowering interest rates. The Fed was soundly asleep at the switch.

Ms. Tyson as, the nominee for Chairperson of the CEA, I hope you can explain

why economist's do not have their eyesignt examined more oflen.

Just 3 weeks ago we were told by the economists at the National Bureau of Eco-

nomic Research that the recession ended in March of 1991—almost 2 years ago. I

don't know what these economists are looking at—but I am sure that they have not

been to New York.
As reported in a recent New York Times article, since February 1989 the New

York metropolitan region has lost 806,000 private-sector jobs. And New Yorkers
have experienced equal opportunity unemployment. People nave been thrown out of

work in every economic sector—manufacturing, construction, finance, retail, and
wholesale trades. In New York, we have the same number of jobs in 1992 as we
had in 1976.

Ms. Tyson, I come to a very different conclusion about the recession than the Na-
tional Bureau of Economic Research—It is not over yet.

• The recession is not over for the 3,500 workers who are getting pink slips at IBM
plants in Armonk, Peekskill, Kingston, and Poughkeepsie.

• The recession is not over for the 3,400 employees who will be thrown out of work
when General Motors closes its assembly plant in North Tarrytown.

• The recession is not over for the 5,400 workers who discovered that their jobs
were eliminated in the merger of Chemical Bank and Manufacturers Hanover.

• Or for the thousands of people who will lose their jobs in the defense industry.
For them, the peace dividend looks more like an unemployment check.

• And the recession is not over for real estate developers and construction workers

in New York who must contend with the highest commercial vacancy rates in the

Nation.
• And the recession is certainly not over for thousands of small businesses who
have had banks slam doors in their faces and deny them the credit desperately
needed to stay in business.

Mr. Chairman, those two-handed economists may feel a faint pulse in the econ-

omy, but if they opened their eyes they will see that for far too many people, the

economy is still in a coma.
I hope that Dr. Tyson can see that we must take steps to improve the health of

our economy. As the President's chief economic adviser, she must take off the rose-

colored glasses and find the right prescription.

PREPARED STATEMENT SENATOR PETE V. DOMENICI

We meet today to confirm an important appointment—the President's chief econo-

mist. This is the person who provides guidance on such issues as economic growth,

jobs, productivity, unemployment, and ultimately, prospects for improving our na-

tional economic well being.
This appointment has a relatively long history of distinguished economists who

have ably served past Presidents.

Dr. Tyson, trained in economics at one of our Nation's finest schools—MIT, has
a long and varied career as a professor and adviser to industry and Government.
She first studied the economics of Eastern Europe and later has delved into the dif-

ficult issues of trade and U.S. competitiveness, among other topics.
From my position here on the committee as some one who knows budgets, I want

to question you today about the relationship between fiscal policy set at the Federal

levels, and our long-term future.

I feel the path to improved long-term economic growth is straight-forward but a

difficult one. As a Nation, our income depends on ever-rising productivity and that
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is related to investments in human and physical capital as well as to advancements
in technology.
Our low national savings rate has inhibited those investments and the surest way

to improve national saving is to lower the Federal deficit.

Not only is deficit reduction not incompatible with economic growth, it is the first

and best step toward raising long-term economic growth.
I know that you have recently published a book dealing with the issues of trade

and high-tech industries. I also have been involved in a study of technology indus-
tries as co-chair of the CSIS Strengthening America Commission.
While in your book you write about barriers to competition that foreign nation's

create, I have been learning about the barriers that are created right here in the
form of unnecessary regulation, mandates, litigation, and overhead costs that stifle

entrepreneurial spirit and job creation. I hope you will address these issues today.
While these issues are important, unquestionably among the most important jobs

you will face as head of the CEA is addressing the macroeconomic issues of deficits

and fiscal policy for the long-term. I will be interested in hearing your views in this
area.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF CFLAIR OF THE COUNCIL OF ECONOMIC
ADVISERS DESIGNATE LAURA D'ANDREA TYSON

I am honored to be here today before Chairman Riegle, Senator D'Amato and the
members of this committee. I would like to thank the two distinguished Senators
from my home State—Senator Barbara Boxer and Senator Dianne Feinstein—for

their gracious introduction. Both are outstanding public servants, who will be a
source of inspiration to me during my sometimes difficult days ahead.

I would also like to introduce my husband, Erik Tarloff who is a gifted writer,
and as many of you know from reading his recent piece in the New York Times,
also a very funny one, and my 9 year old son Elliot Tarloff, who is visiting the Na-
tion's Capitol this week for the first time.

Ix!t me begin by thanking those members of the committee with whom I have met
over the past 2 weeks. Your provocative and probing questions, as well as your com-
ments and suggestions, have been invaluable. I look forward to a lively and produc-
tive relationship with all of you in the coming years.
The economic challenges facing our country are real, not theoretical. As the mem-

bers of this committee know well, both the short-term cyclical problems and the

long-term competitiveness problems threatening our economic future are not mathe-
matical constructs; they are real-world facts, and their impact on the lives of ordi-

nary Americans is real and potentially devastating.
I have been studying these problems for over a decade since I first worked with

John Young, then the CP]0 of Hewlett Packard, one of the Nation's finest compa-
nies, on the Commission for Industrial Competitiveness established by President
Ronald Reagan. Several of my colleagues and I have developed the definition of na-
tional competitiveness

—the ability of a Nation to produce goods and services that
meet the test of international markets and to generate rising living standards for

its citizens at the same time.

Since that time, the competitiveness of the American economy has exhibited con-

tinuing and disturbing signs of erosion—during the last decade our trade imbal-
ances nave totaled over a trillion dollars, our producers have lost market shares in

several key international markets, like computers, commercial aircraft, tele-

communications products, and machine tools. At the same time, our gross domestic

product per capita has grown more slowly than that of any other advanced market

economy, real wages have stagnated for most American workers for more than two
decades, and our investment rate has persistently lagged behind that of our com-

petitors in plant and equipment, in worker training, and in civilian technology.
Many statistics can be used to tell the story of our eroding competitiveness, but per-
haps most disturbing is the fact that since 1980, the proportion of full-time workers
with annual incomes below the poverty rate for a family of four increased from 12

percent to nearly 20 percent. In short, full-time work in the United States no longer
secures a bright future for our children.

As an academic who has chosen to study the real-world determinants of national

competitiveness rather than abstract mathematical models, I hope that I might be
able to bring to bear an informed and intuitive sense of how economic policy actu-

ally affects people's lives.

This practical approach is shared by all of the members of President Clinton's eco-

nomic team. I am aeeply honored to be working with such distinguished individuals,

including your former congressional colleagues. Senator Lloyd Bentsen and Con-

gressman Ixjon Panetta, also from the great State of California, and with Robert
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Rubin, the Chair of the new National Economic Council. We have already estab-

lished a strong working relationship, and I can assure you that if I am confirmed

as Chair of the Council of Economic Advisors, the Council will be an integral part
of President Clinton's economic team.
To me, all of the economic questions confronting this Nation—questions of reces-

sion, of competitiveness, of national solvency—all must finally be understood in

terms of the quality of American life. All must be understood in terms of the con-

crete question: are the lives of our citizens improving? That question, I believe, is

at the heart of President Clinton's plan, Putting People First. Putting people first

is precisely
what my economic philosophy seeks to do.

I look forward to working with you, with both political parties and with the Amer-
ican people to strengthen our economy not only for our generations but for future

generation as well.
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Opening Statement of

Chair of the Council of Economic Advisers Designate
Laura D'Andrea Tyson

before the

Committee on BanJdng, Housing, and Urban Affairs

of the

United States Senate

January 21, 1993

I am honored to be here today before Chairman Riegle, Senator D'Amato and the members of

this committee. I would like to thank the two distinguished Senators from my home state-

Senator Barbara Boxer and Senator Diane Feinstein-for their gracious introduction. Both are

outstanding public servants, who will be a source of inspiration to me during my sometimes

difficult days ahead.

I would also like to introduce my husband, Erik Tarloff who is a gifted writer, and as many of

you know from reading his recent piece in the New York Times , also a very funny one, and

mv mne year old son Elliot Tarloff, who is visiting the nauon's Capitol this week for the first

time.

Let me begin by thanking those members of the Committee with whom 1 have met over the past

two weeks. Your provocative and probing questions, as well as your comments and suggestions,

have been invaluable. I look forward to a lively and productive relationship with ail of you in

the coming years.

The economic challenges facing our country are real, not theoretical . As the members of this

Committee know well, both the short-term cyclical problems and the long-term compeutiveness

problems threatemng our economic future are not mathematical constructs; they are real-world

facts, and their impact on the lives of ordinary Americans is real and potentially devastating.

I have been studying these problems for over a decade since I first worked with John Young,
then the CEO of Hewlett Packard, one of the nation's finest companies, on the Commission for

Industrial Compeativeness established by President Ronald Reagan. Several of my colleagues

and I have developed the defimtion of national competitiveness-the ability of a nation to produce

goods and services that meet the test of international markets and to generate rising living

standards for its citizens at the same ame.

more
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Laura D'Andrea Tyson

Opening Statement

page 2

Since that time, the competitiveness of the American economy has exhibited continuing and

disturbing signs of erosion—dunng the last decade our trade imbalances have totaled over a

tnllion dollars, our producers have lost market shares in several key intemauonal markets, like

computers, commercial aircraft, telecommumcations products, and machine tools. At the same

time, our gross domestic product per capita has grown more slowly than that of any other

advanced market economy, real wages have stagnated for most American workers for more than

two decades, and our investment rate has persistently lagged behind that of our competitors in

plant and equipment, in worker training, and in civilian technology. Many statistics can be used

to tell the story of our eroding compeativeness, but perhaps most disturbing is the fact that since

1980. the proporaon of full-time workers with annual incomes below the poverty rate for a

family of four increased from 12% to nearly 20%. In short, full-time work in the United States

no longer secures a bnght future for our children.

As an academic who has chosen to study the real-world determinants of national competitiveness

rather than abstract mathemaucai models, I hope that I might be able to bnng to bear an

informed and intuitive sense of how economic policy actually affects people's lives.

This pracDcal approach is shared by all of the members of President Clinton's economic team.

I am deeply honored to be working with such distinguished individuals, including your former

congressional colleagues. Senator Lloyd Bentsen and Congressman Leon Panetta, also from the

great state of California, and with Robert Rubin, the Chair of the new National Economic

Council. We have already established a strong working relabonship, and I can assure you that

if I am confirmed as Chair of the Council of Economic Advisors, the Council will be an integral

part of President Clinton's economic team.

To me, all of the economic questions confronting this nation-questions of recession, of

competitiveness, of naDonal solvency—ail must finally be understood in terms of the quality of

American life. All must be understood in terms of the concrete question: are the lives of our

citizens improving? That quesDon, I believe, is at the heart of President Clinton's plan. Putting

People First . Putting people first is precisely what my economic philosophy seeks to do.

I look forward to working with you, with both political parties and with the Amencan people

to strengthen our economy not only for our generaoons but for future generations as well.
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Office of (he PreMdent-tleci

and Vice Pre'-ident-Elect

Statement of President-Elect Bill Clinton

December 11, 1992

I have said from the outset that the number one priority in my administration would

be to chart a new economic direction that would lead us on a long-term path to a more

prosperous and sound America. Because of the primacy of the economy, the Council of

Economic Advisers will be more central to my administration than in any since the

administration of President Kennedy.

In looking for the best person to chair the council, I looked for someone who possesses

not only an exceptional analytical reputation, but someone with a capacity to understand the

underlying political and global realities that affect our ability as Americans to compete.
Laura Tyson's path-breaking work on international competitiveness and trade, on

manufacturing and technology issues has improved our understanding of what it will take for

America to prosper in the new global economy. As chair of the Council of Economic

Advisers, she will bring the same integrity to economic analysis as Leon Panetta and Alice

Rivlin bring to the budget process, and a very impressive record of work in specific areas

of the economy which I think are terribly important. I learned a lot more about her in her

writings and her work during the course of the last campaign, and I feel very confident in

her ability to serve with real distinction in this important position.

###

p. O. Box 80*6. Link Rock. AR 72203-8OM 501-374-3322
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Office of the President-Elect

and Vice President-EIect

Biography of Laura D'Andrea Tyson

Laura D'Andrea Tyson recently served as Professor of Economics and Business

Administration, Director of the Institute of International Studies, and Research Director for

the Berkeley Roundtable on the International Economy at the University of Califorma at

Berkeley. During the period 1990-1992, she was as a visiting scholar at the Institute for

International Economics.

Professor Tyson is one of the nation's leading experts on competitiveness, trade and

technology. Her latest book. Who's Bashing Whom? Trade Contlict in High Technology

Industnes . helped to focus a national dialogue about the trade decisions facing our country in

the new global economy. Tyson's rigorous analysis has earned her praise from a diverse

group of academics, business people, and labor leaders, many of whom hold widely

divergent views on the sometimes contentious and emotional trade issue.

Professor Tyson supplements her thorough knowledge and understanding of the American

economy with considerable expertise on the workings of the Japanese economy and the

economies of Eastern Europe. She has written a number of articles and books in this area,

including, The Dynamics of Trade a nd Politics and Productivity: The Real Storv of How

Japan Works (co-edited with Chalmers Johnson and John Zysman), Ballinger 1989 and

Power. Purpose and Collective Choice: Economic Strategy in Socialist States (Co-edited with

Ellen Comisso), Cornell University Press, 1986.

From her research, Professor Tyson knows very well what America will have to do to

compete effectively in a changing and increasingly globalized world economy. In naming

her to chair the Council of Economic Advisers, President-elect Clinton said: "Laura Tyson's

path-breaking work on international competitiveness and trade, on manufacturing and

technology issues has improved our understanding of what it will take for America to prosper

in the new global economy."

Trained at MIT, and respected for her dazzUng intellect. Professor Tyson looks at industiies

and government action from a decidedly real world perspective, analyzing companies and

economies fully aware of the complexity inherent in dealing with an "imperfect" world that

does not always fit the tidy assumptions of economic modelling .

Tyson served as an economic adviser to both the Clinton/Gore campaign and the presidential

transition. She is a member of the Cuomo Commission on Trade and Competitiveness, the

advisory board of tiie Economic Policy Institijte Research Council, the Council on Foreign

Relations, and the subcommittee on a Global Economic Stiategy for the United States. She

is a member of the Los Angeles Times Board of Economists.

Professor Tyson earned a B.A. from Smith College and a Ph.D. from Massachusetts InstitiJte

of Technology. She was bom in Bayonne, New Jersey in 1947, and now resides in

Berkeley with her husband Erik Tarloff and their son Elliot.

###

P. O. Box 8086, Little Rock. AR 72203-8086 501-374-3322
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STATEMENT FOR COMPLETION BY PRESIDENTIAL NOMINEES
TYSON LAURA D ' ANDREA

Name:
ojtm oiioT) (oiMU)

Position to which Date of
nominated: CK.M RPKRSON - Coiinr.il of Economic nomination: 11 Per 92

Date of birth: 2S June 1947 ^Ic'e^S'^fnh: Bayonne .
NJ

"

Marital status: married pyji name of spousa: Erik S. Tarloff

Nam« and ages
of children: Elliot Tarloff (9 ^

Dates Degrees Dates of

Education: Institution attended received degrees

Holy Trinity HighSchool 9/61-6/65 H.S. Diploma June "ageS

Smith College 9/65-6/69 B. A. lunt? 196£

Mass. Inst, of Technology G/69-12/73 Ph.D. llSeptl974-

Honors and awards: List beioM all scholarships, fellowships, honorary degrees, military medals, honorary socia''

memberships, and any other special recognitions for outstanding service or achievemen

Smith Coll
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Memberships: List below all memberships and otiices held m professional, fraternal, business, scholarly,
civic, charitable and other organizations

**please see also the attached sheet

Office h«W
Organiiotlon (,( »ny) Oitu

American Economics Assoc . .__ 1975-oresent

Council on Foreign Rela tions 1987-Dresent

IREX-Selection Committee 1979-1981

soc. for Comparati ve Economic Studies Exec . Cnte . 1979-80 1976-present
onal Council for Soviet & East European Research Member-Trustees 1980-83
ard of Editors-Journal of Comparative Economics 1980-85

Cmicron Delta Epsilon Vice President 1982-86

Employment record: List below all positions held since college, including the titio or description of job, r\ame o<

employment, location of work, and dates of inclusive employment.

_l/91-12/92: I'rofessor-Econonics ?. Rns -n^c;c; flH r^-i „ -i ^-i-^^ t ion :

University of California at Berkeley, California

l/87-7/89;7/79-12/86:7/77-7/78: Assistant and Associate

Professor of Economics: University of California at Berkele'

1/83-present : Self-employed: consulting, speeches, journali:

2015 Los Angeles St. Berkeley CA

7/90-12/90: Visiting Scholar, Institute for International

Economics; Washington, D.C.

7/89-7/90: Henry Carroll Thomas Ford Visiting Professor

Harvard Business School, Cambridge, .MA

7/86-12/86: Visiting Professor, Department of Economics

Massachusetts Insititute of Technology, Cambridge, f.!A

7/78-7/79: National Fellow: Hoover Institution

9/73-7/77: Assistant Professor: Department of Economics

Pp-inceton University, New Jersey
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Government

exp>erience:

Published

writings:

List any experience m or direct association with Federal. Slate, or local governments, in-

cluding any advisory, consultative, honorary or other part-time service or positions.
**please see also the attached sheet
Consultant: V/estern Governors' Association (lOSS*): Consult ant

President's Comir.ission on Industrial Competitiveness

Testimony at Hearings of Senate Foregn Relations Committee 'ID

Joint Economic Committee (1990); Joint Economic Committee ( 11'

Subcommittee on International Finance of Senate Banki np ,

Housing &. Urban Affairs Subcommittee (1992); Senate Judiciar>

Committee (1992); House Committee on Banking, Finance & Urban
Affairs (1983)

List the titles, publishers and dates of books, articles, reports or other published materials

you have written.

***SEE ATTACHED LIST***

Political

atflliatloos

and activities: List all memberships and offices held in and services rendered to all political parties or

election committees during the last 10 years.

Panel Member. Democratic Policv Forum nn Hiimnn PpRoiirreg;

Education .?c Compe t i t i ven'=>ps
, July 19RR- flHvi r^nr niiknlci <^

P rpt^ i Hont- i a 1 rnmnnicrn 1"9?^- Artvi^-nr- niTng> Fpj nStP 1 n

Senatorial Campaign (r9D2): Advisor. CI i n ton -Core Cannaifn

(1992)
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V.EMUEHSHIPS i.;oni iriUL-d) DATES

Board of Editors, East European Politics i^ Society 1986-90

IREX-Program Committee

Board of Advisors-Economic Policy Institute

Advisory Board-Economic Strategy Institute

Prytanean Society

Board of Advisors, Subcommittee on a Global
Strategy for the US, Committee for Economic
Development

Advisory Committee, Gateway Japan Project
National Planning Association

Trade, Technology and Investment Advisory
Committee, Council on Competitiveness

1986-88

1986-92

1990-92

1991-present

1992

1992

1992

GOVERNMENT EXPERIENCE (continued) DATES

Consultant on Janarese Trade St. Industrial Policies 1984
US-Japan Advisory Committee

Member, Cuomo Commission on Trade & Constituencies 1986-92

Member, Advisory Panel of Department of Defense 1987
on US Competitiveness and the Manufacturing Base

Member, Technology Assessment Advisory Council 1990
Office of Technology Assessment

Member, Manufacturing Subcouncil of the
Competitiveness Policy Council

1992



74

Political

contributions: Itemire all political contributions o( S500 or more to any individual, campaign organisa-
tion, political party, politicjl action committee or similar entity during the last eignt

years and identify the specific amounts. dat«. and names of the recipients.

NONE

Qualifications: State fully your qualifications to serve in the position to which you have b€«n namod.

Future employment
relationships: I. Indicate whether you will sever all connections with your present employer, business

firm, association or organization if you are confirmed by the Senate,

1. will be on official l^rivp ^rnnn thp Tin tvpr<?-i t^- ^f '•":ii if prn ia
at Berkeley. I will sever all other connections with other
employers, associations and organizations with which I have hat

2. As far as can be foreseen, state whether you have any plans aftef completing govenv pa;
ment service to resume employment, affiliation or practice wrlh your previous em-

ployer, business firm, association or organizaliort. co n t

I t is quite likely that I will resume mv tJrofepsorshln nt <- he
Universitv of California at Berkeley

3. Has anybody n^ade you a commitment to a job after you leave goverpment?

.My leave from the University of California at Berkeley allows

me to resume my professorship if I so choose.

4. Do you expect to serve the full term for wtiich you have t>een appointed?

Yes
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Potential conflicts

of interest: 1. Describe any financial arrangements or deferred compensation agreements or other

continuing dealings with business associates, clients or customers who will b« sf.

focted by policies which you will influence in the position to which you have been

nominated.

N'ONE

2. List any investments, obligations, liabilities, or other relationships which might involve

potential conflicts o( interest wiih the position to which you have been nominated.

None to my knowledge

Describe any business relationship, dealing or financial transaction (other than tax-

paying) which you have had during the last 10 years with the .^ederal Government
wtvether fof yourself, on benalf of a client, or acting as an agent, that might in any

way constrtirte or resutt in a possible caxiflict of interest with the fXrtition to which you

have been r>ominated.

NonP to my U-nr»'ir|.g.jgo
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4. List any lobbying activity during the D3st 10 years in wnich you have engaged for the

purpose of directly or indirectly influencing the passage, defeat or modification of

any legislation at the national level of government or affecting the administration and
execution of national law or public policy.

VO'JP

5. Explain how you will resolve any potential con<iict of interest that may b« disclosed by

your responses to the above items.

Iwill do whatever I need to do to r^^sAiv. snr-h ,-nnfii....

but I do not believe that nnv >^Yisr

Civil, c«minal and

investigatory

actions: 1. Give the full details of any civil or criminal proceeding in which yoa were a defendant

or any inquiry or investigation by a Federal, Slate, or local agency in which you were

the subject of the inquiry or investigatjon.

NONE

2. Give the full details of any proceeding, inquiry or investigation tjy any professional

association including any t>ar association in which you were the subject of the pro-

ceeding, inquiry or investigation.

N'ONE
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LAURA D'ANDREA TYSON QUALIFICATIONS FOR POSITION

I received a Doctorate in Economics from the Massachusetts Institute of

Technology in 1974. Since that time, I have held academic appointments at

Princeton University, the University of California at Berkeley, the Massachusetts

Institute of Technology (as a visiting professor) and Harvard Business School (as a

visiting professor). In 1989, I was awarded tenure at the University of California

at Berkeley where I hold a joint position in the Economics Department and the

Business School. At the time of my nomination to the Chair of the Council of

Economic Advisors, I had an outstanding offer of a tenured position at the Harvard

Business School.

I have written a number of articles on the competitiveness of the American

economy which have appeared both in academic journals and in newspapers. I

have also co-edited and contributed to several books on topics ranging from trade

to domestic employment and productivity to the Japanese economy. Most

recently, I completed a book for the Institute for International Economics

addressing the global challenges facing American trade policy with respect to high-

technology industries. My published work has been favorably reviewed in

academic and policy circles and as a result of this work, I have been invited to

participate in numerous panels and colloquia addressing economic competitiveness.

During the first ten years of my career, I wrote extensively on the economies of

Eastern Europe and was widely recognized as an expert in this area.

Finally, in addition to my academic experience, I also have administrative

experience. I have served on several university committees and I am the Director

of the Institute of International Studies at U.C. Berkeley and the Research Director

for the Berkeley Roundtable on the International Economy.
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Consultant for PlanEcon. Research on East European
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1985 Hungarian Economic Reform.

Consultant for Western Governors' Association. Analysis of

U.S. Competitiveness Difficulties, 1986.

Consultant, Presidents Commission on Industrial

Competitiveness, 1983-84.

Assistant Professor, Department ofEconomics, Princeton

University, 1974-1977.

Visiting Scholar, Institute of International Eccnontics, 1990-

1992.

Honors

Scljolarships,

Fellowships:

Smith College: Phi Beta Kappa; Smith College

. Prize for distinguished woi k in Econon^ics.
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hellowsnip. Fulbright Fellowship. Internaiionai Research and
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Sloan Foundation Grant Summer 1976

American Council ol Learned Societies Grant Spnng Term
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National Fellows Program Fellowship, Hoover Institution

1978-79
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Elected member of Council on Foreign Relations, 1987

Books: The Yugoslav Economic System and lis Performance in the

1970's . Institute for International Studies, University of

California, Berkeley, Research Senes No 44, October 1980.

Economic AdiusimenC in Eastern Europe . The Rand

Corporalion, 1984

Who's Bashing Whom; Trade Conflicts in High-Technoloyi'

Industries . (Washington, D C Institute for International

Economics, 1992)

Books Edited: Egon Neuberger and Laura D'.Ajidrca Tyson, eds.. The Impact
of External Economic Disturbances on the Soviet Union and

Eastern Europe . Pcrgamon Press, 1980.

John Zysinan and Laura D'.A.ndrea Tyson, e4s., American

Industry in International Competition Poliiical and Economic

Perspectives . (Ithaca, NY Cornell University Press, 1983).

Ellen Comisso and Laura D'Andrea Tyson, eds
, Power.

Purpose and Collective Choice Economic Strategy in Socialist

States . Special Issue of International Organization, Vol. 40,

No 2, Spnng 1986 and Cornell Umvctsity Press. 1986.

Laura D'Andrea Tyson. William T Dickens and John Zysman
eds. The Dynamics of Trade and Emplovment (Cambndge.
MA Ballinger Publishing Co . 1988)
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eds . 'i he Politics ot ProductiMtv The Real Story of Why

Japan Works (Cambridge, MA Ballinger Publishing Co.,
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Published "Socialjne Raslike i Inflacija," with S.
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with G. Hildcbrandt, Econometrics Research Program.

Research Memorandum, Pnnceton University, August 1976,
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"Liquidity Crises in the Yugoslav Economy; An Alternative to
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"The Yugoslav Inflation, Some Competing Hypotheses,"

Journal of Comparative Economics, Vol 1, No. 2, 1977.

"East European Reactions to International Commodity

Inflation," with Z. hallenbuchl and E. Neubergcr, Joint

Economic Committee volume, East European Economies Post-

Helsinki . Government Printing Oftice, August 1977.

"The Yugoslav Economy in the 1970's; A Survey of Recent

Developments and Future Prospects," Joint Economic

Committee volume, East European Economies Post Helsinki.

Government Printing Office, August 1977,

"The impact of International Commodity Price Inflation on

Yugoslavia," with E. Neuberger, in Stephen Rosefielde, editor.

World Communism at the Crossroads . (Martinus NjihofT,

1980)

"A Permanent Income Hypothesis for the Yugoslav Firm,"

Economica . November 1977, Vol 44, pp 393-408.

"Enterpnse Demand for Money and llliquidity Crisis in

Yugoslavia," European Economic Review . Vol XII, No 1,
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J'rcss, 198-))

"Inveslmcnl Allocaiion; A Comparison of Reform Experiences

in Hungary and Yugoslavia," Journal of Comparaiive

Economics . Vol. 7. No 3, pp 288-303, 1983
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Robinson, DRD Discussion Paper No DRD 57, September

1983. The World Bank. Journal of Comparative Economic:) .

Vol 9, No I, 1985

"Policy Responses to External Shocks in Hungary and

Yugoslavia 1974-1976 and 1979-1981," with Bela Balassa, in
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"Yugoslav Economic Performance in the 1980's: AJtemative

Scenarios," with Sherman Robinson and Maihias Dcwatripom;
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"Creating Advantage An Indusiriai Policy Perspective," in
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"

Washington, D C , September 13.
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September 1 1, 1989
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Electronics Industries Association Board of Governors General
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Speaker and Facilitator, "Developments in Eastern Europe'"
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Keynote Speaker, The President's Manufacturing Forum,
National Academy of Science, Washington, D.C. June 1990.

Panelist. The Future Course of American Trade Policy, The

Brookings Institution. Washington, DC, January 29, 1991.
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Laura Tyson, Francois Bar, and Michael Borrus, BRIE/
Motorola University Tclcconimunications Ministers

Conference, "Tcleconimunications: Leadership in a Free
Market Economy," Schaumburg, IL, August 12-14, 1991.
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Univcrsiiy or Toronto - Claude T. Bissell Lecture Series

(ViiUine Chair in Canadian and American Rclauons): 'Free

Trade, Managed Trade, and Regional Trading Blocs,"

Toronto, Canada. November 13, 1991.

Eastern Europe &. Entrepreneurship 4th Annual EFER
Forum, "Promoung Entrepreneurship in Eastern Europe",
Domhotel, Berlin, Germany, December 8-10, 1991.

Pacific Basin Economic Council, "North American Free
Trade: Implications for Intemaiional Businesses," San

Francisco, Calif., January 23-24, 1992.

Digital Equipmeni Corporation/ The Nightly Business Report,

Special Industry Leader Luncheon, Los Angeles, Calif.,

February 13, 1992.

University of Toronto - Claude T. Bissell Lecture Series

(Visiting Chair in Canadian and American Relations):

"Kestruciunng Europe," Toronto, Canada, March 25,
1992.

Speech for Congressional Candidate Diane Feinstem's

supporters. Claremont Hotel, Berkeley, Calif., "The

Geopolitics of Trade," March 30, 1992.

Speaker, Harvard University Center for Business and
Government conference on "Globalization of Business and
the American Community,' Cambridge, Mass., Apnl 12-14,
1992.

Competitiveness Policy Council Manufactunng Subcouncil

meeting, Washington, D.C., June 3, 1992.

The Asia Foundation, Ajiierica's Role in Asia Working Group,
San Francisco, Calif, June 10-11, 1992.

Haas Scliool of Business Alumni Weekend "European

Integration or Disintegration''" Berkeley, Calif, October 30.

1992.

Editorial
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Ser\ice to

Academic
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Editor, Eastern European Economic; (Journal

of Translations, published by M E Sharpie, Inc ),

1979 through 1985

International Research and Exchanges Board, East European
Selection Commiiiee. 1979 to 19S1



92
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NationnI Council for Soviet and Eisi European Research,

Board of Taisiees. 19S0-83

Board of Editors, Journal of Comparative Economics . 1980-

198*^

Vice President. Omicron Delta Epsilon, National Honor

Society in Econoiiiics, 1982 to 1980

Board of Editors, Iniernational Oruanizatipn . 1982 to 1987.

Executive Committee, Center for Slavic and East European

Studies, ]98.'?-19S6

Vice-Chairman, Economics Dcpanment, 1983-1986.

Special Scholarship Committee, UC Berkeley, 1983-1986.

Chancellor's Coniiiuttce on Economics on Campus, UC
Berkeley. 1984

Faculty Advisory Committee. Political Economy of Industrial
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Board of Editors, East European Politics and Society 1986 to
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International Research and Exchanges Board, Program

Committee, 1986 to 1988

Personnel Committee, Depanment of Economics, 1988-89

(Chair)

Advisory Committee, Center for Gcrnian and Western

European Studies, 1990-prcsciit

Advisory Committee, Berkeley-Stanford Program in Soviet
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Colloquium for Global Enviioniiiental Change Seminars,
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Institute Diiectors and Center Chairs. International and Area
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by Governor Mario Cuomo, 1986-present.

Advisory Panel lo Depanment of Defense on U.S.

Competitiveness and the Manufacturing Base, June, 1987.

Board of Advisors, Economic Policy Institute, 1986-present.

Committee on the Skills of the Anierican Workforce, Carnegie
Center on tducation and the Economy, 1989-90.

Member of the OTA Technology Assessment Advisory
Council (TAAC). 1990.

Member of the Advisory Board of the Economic Strategy

Institute, 1990-91.

Board of Advisors, Subcommittee on a Global Economic

Strategy for the United Stales, "The United States in the New
Global Economy A Railier of Nations," A Statement by the

Research and Policy Committee of the Comminee for

Economic Development, 1992.

Advisory Committee for National Planning Association's

"Gateway Japan," 1991-preseni.

Member of the Competitiveness Policy Council Manufaauring
Subcouncii, 1992-93

Member of the Social Science Research Council Economic
Initiative Planning Group, 1992-93.
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QUESTIONS FROM THE SENATE BANKING COMMITTEE FOR
DR. LAURA D'ANDREA TYSON

FEBRUARY 1, 1993

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR DONALD W. REEGLE, JR.

Q.l. What Government decision-making structure can we put in

place to ensure that strategic industries are identified on merit, not

politics? What makes an industry strategic in your view?

A.1. Previous administrations of both parties and all ideological
persuasions have frequently employed a variety of policies, includ-

ing trade policies, tax policies, and Government procurement poli-

cies, that have supported or promoted individual sectors. The Unit-
ed States Grovernment needs the institutional capacity to assess

competitive and technological trends in global industries on an on-

going and timely basis and to monitor the activities of foreign gov-
ernments and firms in particular industries to provide "early warn-
ing" of competitive problems that might be on the horizon. The gov-
ernments of most of America's trading partners have this capacity
and regularly provide objective assessments of competitive trends
in global industries to both private and public actors.

Without such a capacity, the United States Government will not
be able to respond objectively and effectively to proposals for assist-

ance from specific industries and will not be able to fashion and
pursue a coherent competitiveness strategy.
Although all industries contribute to the Nation's economy, they

differ in terms of their effects on job creation, wages, productivity,
trade, research and development, and national security, all of
which are major determinants of our long-term economic health.

Q.2. You describe yourself as a "cautious activist" in trade policy.
How does that differ from the approach we've been taking? Can
you give examples there you feel we have taken the wrong course
or missed opportunities to increase our gains from trade?

A.2. In my book Who's Bashing Whom? Trade Conflict in High-
Technology Industries, I describe the trade policy agenda of a cau-
tious activist as a defensive one. I recommend that the Nation's
trade laws be used to deter or compensate for foreign practices and
structural impediments that are not adequately regulated by exist-

ing multilateral rules. My previous empirical research indicates
that such practices can infiict substantial injury on American pro-
ducers. In pursuit of this defensive objective, I recommend that
U.S. policy makers be guided by the principle of selective reciproc-

ity and motivated by the goal of opening foreign markets. Both 301
and Super 301 embody this approach and have been successfully
used to improve access for American companies to important for-

eign markets.

Finally, I believe that the Nation's trade policies should be em-
ployed and fashioned in ways that strengthen rather than weaken
the multilateral trading system. Cautious activism at the national
level should be viewed as an interim response while the United
States continues to work with its global trading partners to develop
more precise and enforceable multilateral rules that restrict unfair

foreign trading practices and reduce barriers to foreign markets.
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In response to mounting Congressional pressure during the

1980's, first the Reagan Administration and later the Bush Admin-
istration began to pursue a more activist trade policy designed to

address structural impediments to foreign markets. Recent studies

conclude that the use of 301 and Super 301 since the mid-1980's

have been successfully applied to reduce such impediments and to

increase competition in most cases.

During the past decade, the United States has sometimes been
slow to respond to the damage caused to American producers by ac-

cess barriers to key foreign markets. For example, it took the Unit-

ed States Government several years to mount a serious effort to re-

duce barriers to Japan's semiconductor market. By the time credi-

ble action was taken, American producers had lost most of the glob-
al market for DRAM's to their Japanese competitors.
There has also been little progress to date in increasing the

share of American producers in Japan's auto parts market. Even
the comparative study of sourcing by Japanese and American auto

producers promised in the MOSS talks is yet to be completed, and
while the U.S. deficit in auto parts with Japan has increased

sharply, the share of American producers in Japan's auto parts
market remains less than one percent.

Q.3. Have you looked at the financial services section of the cur-

rent draft GATT agreement? Some have charged that we would be

locking in open access to foreign firms in our markets while doing
nothing to enhance our firm's access to some highly restricted for-

eign markets. Do you agree?
A.3. I have not had an opportunity to examine carefully the finan-

cial services section of the agreement. However, I fully intend to do
so. I certainly understand the importance of obtaining a strong
services agreement, particularly one that will give full and fair rec-

iprocity to U.S. financial firms. There is clear evidence that many
foreign markets are not open to American financial services firms

and we must work much harder to open those markets. The Treas-

ury Department's 1990 national treatment study, for example,
identified Japan, Korea, Taiwan and Brazil as among those coun-

tries denying U.S. financial firms national treatment. American fi-

nancial services firms are among the most competitive and creative

in the world, and it is imperative that we get an agreement which

gives them a real opportunity to compete in foreign markets.

Q.4. Should we continue the Structural Impediments Initiatives

talks with Japan? How successful do you think they have been?

A.4. The SII approach was designed to reduce general structural

impediments affecting trade between the United States and Japan
in all industries. Some important economy-wide structural impedi-
ments to the Japanese market—including the organization of the

distribution system, exclusionary business practices, and keiretsu

relationships—have made it to the negotiating table during the SII

discussions. Negotiating with the Japanese to add personnel to

their Fair Trade Commission or to increase their antitrust pen-
alties, as they have agreed to do as part of their SII commitments,
may have payoffs for the United States and Japan's other trading
partners in the long run. In the short run, however, industry-spe-
cific talks and precise sectoral commitments are likely to prove



96

more effective at enhancing access to Japan than the economy-wide
SII approach.
The best approach to our trading problems with Japan is a

multi-track approach: sectoral talks should be complemented by on-

going negotiations to address economy-wide structural impediments
and to coordinate macroeconomic policies.

Q.5. The RTC has gone 10 months without funding to close dead
thrifts. In the 1980's, failure to provide funds for such closures put
serious strains on healthy institutions and raised a question in the
minds of some about our commitment to stand behind our deposit
insurance guarantee. Do you agree that immediate action is nec-

essary to provide adequate funding [for the RTC]?
A.5. Yes. While the estimates vary on just how much delay costs,
it is clear that every day of delay in funding the Resolution Trust

Corporation adds significantly to the overall cost of the Savings &
Loan cleanup. It is important that adequate funds be sought and
obtained as soon as possible and that reforms be instituted at the
RTC to ensure that RTC funds are spent as effectively and effi-

ciently as possible.

Q.6. On page 275 of your book Who's Bashing Whom'?, you note
that there is some evidence that private American investors will

not put money into industries targeted by the Japanese. You fur-

ther note that because of that there was no credible challenge to

Japanese dominance of memory chips until the Korean producers,
backed by their government, entered the competition. Do you think
the U.S. Government should also back critical industries, and, if so,

why?
A.6. As I argue in my book, most of the problems confronting
American industries are homegrown and require homegrown solu-

tions. Flawed domestic choices, not unfair foreign trading practices,
are the main cause of the Nation's long-run economic slowdown
and competitiveness difficulties. We must adopt national policies to

encourage more saving, investment, and research and development,
improve the education and training of our workforce, and address
our health care crisis if we are to improve the competitiveness of

our producers in international markets. This will require changes
in our taxation system, changes in the composition of Government
expenditures, and changes in our health care delivery system. Such

changes will benefit all industries and economic activities.

We also need complementary policies to support the development
and diffusion of critical technologies throughout our economy. In

particular, we need to shift Federal R&D spending from military
to dual-use and commercial objectives. As a recent study by the Na-
tional Academy of Sciences concluded, the Federal Government
needs new approaches that are at once better coordinated and more
insulated from political infiuence to finance research on

precompetitive generic technologies that are likely to be under-
funded by private companies but are likely to have significant spill-

over benefits for the Nation as a whole.

Q.7. We regularly hear about the inadequacies of our economic
data and proposals to upgrade them, but funding for data collection

seems to get cut in the appropriations process. Do you think our
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economic data needs improvement and do we need to spend more

money to achieve that?

A.7. My predecessor as Chair of the Council of Economic Advisers,
Michael Boskin, has pointed out the problems of inadequate eco-

nomic data collection. He began a series of efforts to improve and

upgrade our systems for collecting and analyzing our economic
data. I certainly support those efforts and hope to continue working
to improve and upgrade our economic data collection efforts. For
both the Government and the private sector, it is very important
to have the data necessary to determine what is going on in the

economy and what impact various policy changes are having on our

overall economic performance. The only way to determine those re-

sults is with accurate and complete data.

Q.8. Are you concerned that American financial firms are denied

opportunities to compete in many countries whose own financial

firms are free to compete in our markets? To give our negotiators
new leverage to open foreign financial markets, would you favor en-

actment of the Fair Trade in Financial Services Act, a bill that

Senator Garn and I authored? It would give the Executive Branch

discretionary authority to deny some or all applications for expan-
sion of their U.S. operations from foreign firms whose governments
discriminate against U.S. financial firms.

A.8. I am very concerned about the lack of access by American fi-

nancial firms to foreign markets, particularly in those countries

whose financial firms are participating freely in our markets. Cer-

tainly the latest report by the Department of the Treasury regard-

ing financial services access in foreign countries indicates continu-

ing problems for American firms in gaining fair access to certain

foreign markets. We do need to take further steps to open up for-

eign markets to all U.S. service firms who wish to compete in those

markets. We should be working for this market access through a

variety of forums, including a strong services agreement as part of

the GATT. The Fair Trade in Financial Services Act is one option
that deserves serious consideration by the administration as we
work toward a goal of fair and free access for U.S. financial firms.

We will need to use a variety of tools to open a number of foreign
markets.

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR PATTY MURRAY
Q.l. One of the messages of this past election was that Americans
want the economy put back on track. They want the economy on
the frontburner of our Nation's agenda. Americans want jobs—good
paying jobs. They want affordable health care, and they want their

children to have the type of education that will enable them to find

good-paying jobs in the future. As the President's chief economic

adviser, what will be your formula for putting the economy back on
track?

A.I. The basic outlines of President Clinton's strategy for putting
the U.S. economy back on track are laid out in his campaign docu-

ments, including Putting People First, and his position papers on

policies for manufacturing, technology, and small business. His eco-

nomic advisors, including myself, are now working together to de-

sign specific policy proposals that incorporate this strategy. In par-
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ticular, we are working on ways to stimulate the economy, to in-

crease national saving and investment, to reduce the Federal budg-
et deficit, to improve the skills and training of our workforce, to ad-
dress our health-care crisis, to restore greater equity in our tax-

ation system, and to increase Federal support for the development
and diftusion of new civilian and dual-use technologies.

Q.2. Boeing is the largest single employer in my State of Washing-
ton. As you know, one of the most protracted trade problems for

the United States has been the dispute over European subsidies for

Airbus. Would you please give us your views on the agreement
reached last year between tne United States and European Com-
munity on aircraft? In the absence of an agreement establishing a
level playing field in aircraft manufacturing, would you consider

any type of Federal assistance for Boeing or other U.S. aircraft

manufacturers specifically to counter foreign government subsidies?

A.2. My recent book, Who's Bashing Whom? Trade Conflict in

High-Technology Industries, has an extensive discussion of the
1992 agreement between the United States and Europe on sub-

sidies in the commercial aircraft industry. I have attached the rel-

evant pages of this discussion. (Please read pages 207-210 attached
as Exhibit A.) In summary, I conclude that despite some loopholes,
the agreement is a noteworthy accomplishment for both sides and
a major improvement over the 1979 GATT agreement on civil air-

craft. The 1992 agreement proscribes certain kinds of beggar-thy-
neighbor and efficiency-reducing subsidies, such as inducements
and production subsidies, while strictly limiting development sub-

sidies through specific rules and enforcement mechanisms.
Because of the obvious importance of the military and civilian

aircraft industries to both national and economic security, I believe

that the United States must adopt policies that ensure that Amer-
ican producers have the technological and financial wherewithal to

compete with subsidized foreign producers.

Q.3. During the negotiations between McDonnell Douglas and Tai-

wan over tne production of aircraft, which would have given Tai-

wan some 60 percent of the manufacturing benefits of production,
the previous administration took a hands-ofif approach. Do you be-

lieve the Federal Government should take a hands-ofF approach to

such negotiations that transfer U.S. jobs and technology to foreign

governments?
A.3. I believe that when a foreign government is involved in a di-

rect investment in the United States, some review by our Govern-
ment is appropriate. Indeed, just last year. Congress amended the

so-called Exxon-Florio provisions to require an extended investiga-
tion whenever a foreign corporation that is controlled by or acting
on behalf of a foreign government seeks to take over a U.S. com-

pany. The changes in the law also expanded the factors that the

President must consider when making a decision about whether an

acquisition by a foreign company or foreign government would
threaten U.S. technological leadership. When a foreign government
has a substantial stake in a foreign direct investment, the trans-

action may not be one in which simple market forces are at work.
In such instances, it is important for the transaction to be reviewed

by the Government to ensure that America's economic and techno-
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logical base is not adversely affected. In addition, I think a variety
of concerns are raised by any direct investment by a foreign gov-
ernment that has as an explicit objective of moving jobs from the

United States to facilities abroad.

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR CHRISTOPHER S. BOND REGARD-
ING FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT IN U.S. AEROSPACE IN-

DUSTRY

Q.l. In testimony before this committee last year, you testified in

opposition to the proposed McDonnell Douglas-Taiwan Aerospace
deal to produce the MD-12. Specifically, you raised concerns be-

cause the Taiwanese government is a major investor in Taiwan
Aerospace and has targeted the aerospace industry for investment.
You also raised a concern that such a deal would threaten produc-
tion, employment and exports by McDonnell's American sub-

contractors. Finally, you expressed concern that the major loser in

the deal would be Boeing and that therefore the deal was not in

overall U.S. interest. We are now faced with the possibility of a

joint venture between Boeing and Deutsche Aerospace to study the

possibility of building a 600-seat aircraft. Given the fact that Deut-
sche Aerospace has received significant subsidies from the German
government for its participation in the Airbus consortium which
has harmed the U.S. commercial aerospace industry; and given the

fact that the German government has clearly targeted the aero-

space industry for investment, please provide detailed answers to

the following questions. Does the proposed deal cause you concerns
similar to those you expressed about the MD-12 deal? If not, why?
A.1. To date there has been very little information made public
about a possible deal between Boeing and Deutsche Aerospace to

cooperate on the development of a 600-seat aircraft. Without de-

tailed information about what such a deal would entail, it is impos-
sible for me to answer the specific questions you raise. The appro-
priate public policy response depends on the specifics of the deal,
such as whether the deal would involve the purchase of a share of

Boeing by foreign governments, whether it would involve joint re-

search and development or joint production, and whether it would
involve the transfer of a significant number of American jobs
abroad.

In general I believe that foreign direct investment is on balance

good for the American economy. An open-door policy in favor of

such investment usually makes sense when private foreign inves-

tors are involved, but it must be carefully considered when foreign

governments are involved as significant investors. In the former

case, market objectives can be presumed to motivate the invest-

ment decision, and the usual presumption in favor of market forces

applies. When a foreign government is the investor, however, for-

eign national interests are at plav, and these may conflict with
American national interests. For tnis reason, I support the recent

changes in the Exxon-Florio process that require that foreign direct

investments involving foreign governments be subject to CFIUS re-

view.
I also believe that because of the obvious importance of the mili-

tary and commercial aircraft industries to both national and eco-

nomic security the United States must adopt policies that ensure
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that American producers have the technological and financial
wherewithal to compete with subsidized foreign producers.

Q.2. If Boeing were to enter into an agreement with Deutsche
Aerospace to produce an aircraft, would you object? If not, why?
A,2. In general, I believe the CEA should carefully watch all major
developments in the aerospace industry. I clearly recognize the im-

portance of the aircraft industry to our country and its economy.
Our aerospace industry has been a major exporter and an impor-
tant developer of new technologies. It is an industry facing stiff for-

eign competition and pressures from sharp cutbacks in military
procurement of new aircraft. I believe that the United States must
adopt policies that ensure that American producers have the tech-

nological and financial wherewithal to compete with subsidized for-

eign producers.

Q.3. Are you concerned that the proposed deal or a follow-on pro-
duction deal would have a negative impact on McDonnell Douglas
and would you therefore oppose it as you opposed the MD-12 deal
because of its potential impact on Boeing?

Q.4. Are you concerned that a deal between Boeing and Deutsche
Aerospace to produce an aircraft would have a negative impact on

Boeing's U.S. subcontractors? If so, do you find it oi enough concern
to oppose the deal?

A.3. and A.4. With respect to the proposed deal between Boeing
and Deutsche Aerospace, unfortunately, very little is known about
the proposal. There has been very little public information about
the specifics of the transaction. Therefore, it is difficult to give any
precise answers about whether the concerns raised about the
McDonnell Douglas-Taiwan Aerospace deal should also be raised

regarding the possible Boeing-Deutsche Aerospace deal. Before any
specific policy decisions are made, it would be important to know
and examine all of the particulars of the deal, including the various

subcontracting provisions. Given that the details have not been
made public, and therefore I have not had the opportunity to study
them, I cannot comment on whether objections to the transaction
are appropriate or what the potential impact on subcontractors

might be.

Q.5. Do you believe that a U.S. Government official should sit

across the table from the Deutsche Aerospace representatives as

you suggested would have been appropriate in the MD-12 case "to

structure a better deal from the American point of view?" If not,

why not?

A.5. With respect to the involvement of Government officials in any
such transactions, I believe the newly revised provisions of Exxon-
Florio enacted as Section 837 of the 1992 Defense Authorization
Act must be looked at to determine the appropriate Government
role, if any. These provisions call for an extended Government in-

vestigation whenever a foreign corporation that is controlled by or

acting on behalf of a foreign government seeks to take over a U.S.

company. The provisions also expand the factors that the President
must consider when making a decision on whether an acquisition
would threaten U.S. technological leadership. If the proposed deal

between Boeing and Deutsche Aerospace involves acquisition of
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part of the former by the latter—which on the basis of available in-

formation about the deal I do not believe to be the case, then it

would have to be evaluated to determine whether it met the cri-

teria set forth in these new provisions. If so, Government involve-

ment in examining the transaction would be called for.

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR CHRISTOPHER S. BOND
REGARDING UC-BERKELEY, BRIE & HE

In your nominee questionnaire, you state that you will be on offi-

cial leave from the University of California at Berkeley during your
term at the CEA and that you believe it is "quite likeW" that you
will return to the University after completing your Government
service. Given that your employment at the University includes

your position as Director of the Institute of International Studies

and Director of Research of the Berkeley Roundtable on the Inter-

national Economy, please provide detailed answers to the following

questions.

Q.l. Do either of these entities receive funding from companies,

corporations or other organizations that might have business before

the CEA or other White House organizations with which you would
have close involvement (e.g., the Economic Security Council,

CFIUS, USTR, etc)? If so, do you intend to recuse yourself from in-

volvement in matters involving those companies or organizations?

Q.2. Do you believe that the likelihood that you will return to these

positions at the University create any potential conflict of interest?

Q.3. Please list the companies, corporations, individuals or other

entities which have contributed $5,000 or more to either the Insti-

tute of International Studies or the Berkeley Roundtable or the

University itself for the specific benefit of the Department of Eco-

nomics.

A.1-3. First, I have no agreement regarding any ongoing relation-

ship or prospect of returning to the Berkeley Roundtable on the

International Economy or the Institute of International Studies. I

have severed all ties with those two organizations. My only agree-
ment is with the University of California, from which I have a

leave of absence and have the right to return at the end of that

leave. Therefore, to the best of my knowledge, there are no ongoing
conflicts between my position at the CEA and the Institute of

International Studies or the Berkeley Roundtable on the Inter-

national Economy.
Since I am on a leave of absence and I am able to return to the

University of California, I will, of course, recuse myself from in-

volvement with specific governmental policies or programs directly

affecting the University of California. In addition, as stated in my
questionnaire provided to the Banking Committee, I will do what-

ever is necessary to resolve any potential conflicts of interest, al-

though I do not believe any exist. Should any potential conflicts

arise, I will take whatever action is deemed necessary by the Office

of Government Ethics.

Finally, I have attached to these answers, as Exhibit B, a copy
of the pertinent pages (and a brief supplemental letter) of the an-

nual report of the Institute of International Studies which details

Extramural Grants and Contracts involving the Institute of Inter-
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national Studies and the Berkeley Roundtable on the International

Economy for 1991-92. I have also attached two lists, within Exhibit

B, which detail External Funding Sources for BRIE and the De-

partment of Economics, University of California at Berkeley for

1991-92.

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR ALFONSE M. D'AMATO

Q.l. You are on record as recommending consideration of "a tax on
the short-term turnover of stocks and other securities" (Los Angeles
Times March 4, 1990) as a means of improving U.S. competitive-
ness. How is decreasing the liquidity and attractiveness of Ameri-
ca's capital markets, the biggest and most efficient in the world,

going to contribute to the competitiveness of American industry?
Who would pay such a transaction tax, if not the retirees for whom
those stock and bond portfolios are managed?
A.1. A tax on the short-term turnover of stocks was suggested by
a variety of economists and policy analysts who were looking at op-
tions to encourage longer-term investments by institutional inves-
tors and others. Many of those suggesting such a tax were writing
during the period following the stock market crash of 1987 and the
downturn of the market in 1989. Those proposing the idea were

looking for a way to take some of the volatility out of the market,
thereby encouraging smaller investors to return to the market and
promoting longer term investment strategies.

In evaluating such a proposal, as with any tax proposal, the
Council of Economic Advisers would look at what behavior any pro-

posed tax would either promote or discourage. In looking at a tax
on the transfer of securities, the CEA would certainly examine
closely the effects that any such tax would have on decreasing the

liquidity and attractiveness of America's capital markets. The CEA
would also examine closely who would be adversely affected by any
such tax proposal.

I am certainly well aware of the importance of our capital mar-
kets. They are the biggest and the most efficient in the world, and
I support keeping our markets as efficient and effective as we pos-

sibly can.

Q.2. The Council of Economic Advisers was created by Congress in

1946 to be the chief source of economic advice for the President.

You are here today, and your colleagues on the Council will be here
on future days, because your appointment is subject to the advice
and consent of the Senate. That is to say, that while you advise the

President, you and your Council are accountable to the American
people through its elective representatives. President Clinton has

proposed to create in the White House another economic body, the

National Economic Council, a body not created by Congress and
whose head, referred to in the press as the "Economic Czar," is not

subject to confirmation by the Senate. This arrangement has been
criticized as eclipsing the role of the Council of Economic Advisers
as set out by Congress. Would you explain for the Committee how
the Council of Economic Advisers will function in the shadow of the

National Economic Council? Will it become, in the words of a Wall
Street Journal article, 'The Council of Economic Irrelevance?"
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A.2. The Council of Economic Advisers (CEA) will not be in the
shadow of the National Economic Council (NEC). Indeed, the CEA
will be enhanced, not diminished by the NEC. The Council of Eco-
nomic Advisers will play an integral part in formulating any pro-

posals or programs that affect the economy and will give its input
both directly to the President, and through the meetings and inter-

agency groups arranged by the NEC. The CEA will continue to pro-
vide the analytical expertise needed by the NEC and by the Presi-

dent. In addition, the CEA will continue to perform its role in pre-

paring The Economic Report for the President and in advising the
President on the state of the economy.
The National Economic Council, on the other hand, will function

largely as a body designed to bring together a variety of proposals
from different parts of the Government, including the CEA, to work
out differences in these proposals, and to present the President
with a set of coherent options.

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR PETE V. DOMENICI

Q.l. GDP has risen for six straight quarters and most recently at
a 3.4 percent annual rate. As CEA head, you will be called upon
to make forecasts that will be used for calculating the budget.
What is your expectation for economic growth in 1993 and 1994?

A.1. As you may know, there is considerable and indeed unusual

agreement among most private forecasters that growth will be

right around 3.0 percent for 1994. As forecasts move beyond one

year out, they become less accurate, as movements in the economy,
particularly those of interest rates, become much harder to predict.
For now, I cannot give any estimates beyond what the Blue Chip
or CBO forecasters have provided, but I am working with other
members of the economic team to develop a forecast that incor-

porates what we believe will be the effects of the administration's
economic policy package on the economy. I look forward to discuss-

ing these forecasts with you and the other members of the commit-
tee when they become available and to working with you as we all

work to get our economy back on track.

Q.2. 0MB has used the consensus 3.0 percent economic growth
forecast of the 51 Blue Chip forecasters to make their budget pro-

jections. Is there any reason to believe that this is far wide of the
mark for 1993 and 1994?

A.2. As stated in response to Q.l above, I am currently working
with members of the economic team to develop an administration
forecast. The forecast will incorporate our assessment of the effects

of administration's policy package on the economy. Since the Blue
Chip forecasters may have made different assumptions about the

likely policy environment during the next few years, it is possible
that our forecast will differ somewhat from the Blue Chip forecast,
but I do not think the resulting differences will be large. If I am
confirmed as Chair of the CEA and once our forecast is finalized,
I will be happy to discuss it with you and the other members of
the committee.

Q.3. Why, with recent economic growth, have we not seen more job
creation?
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A.3. It is unclear exactly why job creation has lagged so far behind
the limited upturn in the economy. It is clear that while some re-

cent indicators point to sustainable economic growth in the range
of 3.0 percent, we are still running a tremendous deficit in terms
of jobs and the creation of new jobs. Unemployment is still higher
than it was at the trough of the recession and it remains a particu-

larly troubling problem which the Clinton Administration intends
to focus much of its attention on. It is clear that we must do better
at providing decent jobs for our citizens before we can be satisfied

that our economy is moving in the right direction. Some of the lack
of job growth can be attributed to gains in productivity, but those

gains do not tell the whole story. It is an issue that I intend to ex-
amine very carefully if I am confirmed as Chair of the Council of
Economic Advisers. I look forward to working with you and the
committee to develop sound policies leading to job growth.

Q.4. Some in Congress are blaming the Fed for the slow economy
and are pushing for more control over monetary policy. Do you
think this is a fair characterization of the Fed's actions and do you
think more Congressional and Executive control is the answer?

A.4. First, I think the Fed should be commended for the steps they
have taken to lower interest rates.

In terms of going forward from here, it will be essential that the

administration, the Congress and the Federal Reserve work to-

gether to get the economy back on track and get things moving
again. If the Congress and the administration take the necessary
steps to get things in better order on the fiscal side, then it is im-

portant to have a supportive policy from the Federal Reserve on
the monetary policy side.

Q.5. The economy has been growing now for six quarters and the
most recent quarter's growth, at 3.4 percent, was the strongest
since 1988. Is this the time for a stimulus package? Is it possible
to have a significant stimulus package that doesn't raise the defi-

cit?

A.5. The President's economic team is currently exploring a variety
of options with respect to economic programs. No decisions have
been made

yet regarding how much any package should contain re-

garding both deficit reduction and stimulus. Certainly, a package
that leads to long-term economic growth will ultimately help bring
down the deficit by raising the overall level of economic activity
and therefore the amount of tax revenues collected. Once an eco-

nomic package has been put together, I will be pleased to discuss
it in detail with you and other members of the Committee.

Q.6. What prescriptions are important for our economy's long-term
growth?
A.6. The most important things we can do for long-term economic

growth are to increase private and public investment in our econ-

omy and to bring down the deficit. Investments in people and train-

ing, in research and development and in basic infrastructure will

be very important to long-term economic growth. In general, we
must move from policies that encourage consumption to policies
that encourage investment, particularly investment in new jobs
and new technologies. In order to have the funds necessary to
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make these investments, it is essential that we also increase our

saving rates and that we work to increase government savings by
bringing down the deficit.

Q.7. Are the returns from public investments in infrastructure bet-

ter than returning the funds through deficit reduction and allowing
the private sector to invest?

A.7. It is difficult to answer this question in the abstract. The re-

turns to public investment vary with the kinds of public enactment.
Returns can be quite high on public investments in infrastructure,
education and R&D for example. Furthermore, the effects of deficit

reduction on private investment depend on how much of the addi-

tional saving made possible by deficit-reduction is channelled into

private investment and on what kinds of new private investment
occur. Finally, there are some kinds of public investment—^for ex-

ample, public investments in infrastructure—that are complemen-
tary to private investment projects and actually raise their rates of

return.

Q.8. How should we pay for new government "investment" outlays?

A.8. The economic team has not yet decided on which new govern-
ment "investment" outlays are appropriate. Therefore, it is prob-

ably premature to determine how such investments will be paid
for. Certainly, all such decisions will be made with a clear under-

standing of the need to bring down the Federal deficit. As noted in

Q.7 above, some kinds of public investments are important for eco-

nomic growth. Some of these may be investments that are already
on the books or can be accommodated in already existing budget

projections. Once the President's economic package has been put to-

gether, I will be happy to discuss with you the various proposals
for paying for any recommended investments.

Q.9. The defense budget has been decreasing as a share of Govern-
ment outlays since 1986. The 1990 budget agreement capped de-

fense spending and devotes any defense saving to deficit reduction.

How much faster should we cut defense spending?
A.9. Again, the basic decisions regarding the level of defense cuts

have not yet been made. Therefore, it would be premature to give
a precise answer. Certainly there is an expectation that further de-

fense cuts are in order, given the changes that have occurred

throughout the world. However, some offsetting expenditures will

be required to ensure an orderly conversion from defense produc-
tion to civilian production. The overall process of shrinking our
total defense expenditures will need to be undertaken carefully and
in a well-planned approach.

Q.IO. Should we divert the peace dividend from deficit reduction to

higher spending?
A.10. As noted above in Q.5, the overall mix of deficit reduction

versus public investment has not yet been determined. Therefore,
it is premature to make any specific determination regarding the

use of the peace dividend. Clearly, our deficit must be reduced, re-

gardless of whether the funds for deficit reduction come from the
so-called peace dividend or from cuts elsewhere. On the spending
side the basic decisions regarding investments in our economy have

not, yet been made, so it is premature to state whether funds for
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any such investments would come from the peace dividend or from
other sources. Once the economic plan has been put together, I look

forward to discussing it with you and the other members of the
committee.

Q.ll. What kinds of new taxes would you propose and what are
the negative effects on the economy of raising taxes?

A.11. No decisions have yet been made on proposals for any new
taxes by the economic team. I can state, as I did at the hearing,
that I believe that the composition of our taxes is very important.
Taxes do two things: they raise revenue, and they either encourage
or discourage particular kinds of economic activity. In general, I

favor a tax policy that encourages investment and savings and that

encourages a greater degree of equity in the tax burdens of dif-

ferent income groups.

Q.12. If "investment" outlays would be increased, what other out-

lays would you suggest reducing?
A.12. As I noted in my answers to several previous questions, no
decisions have yet been made about an overall economic package,
so I cannot comment on whether investment outlays will be in-

creased or what other outlays might be reduced. In general, as I

noted at the hearing, one major area in which expenditures must
slow down is health care. The administration will be suggesting a

variety of reforms to our health care system that are designed to

bring down the growth in health care costs.

Q.13. Would you recommend tax incentives for R&D?
A.13. Yes. I favor a permanent extension of the research and devel-

opment tax credit. In general, I believe we need to use the tax code
to encourage investments, including those in research and develop-
ment.

Q.14. Does the type of taxes a nation pays matter in terms of

whether they are income taxes or consumption taxes?

A.14. Yes. As I noted in response to Q.ll above, the composition
of our taxes does matter because taxes have the capacity to encour-

age certain kinds of economic behavior and to discourage others. In

general, I favor a tax structure which encourages investment and

saving. I believe there are a number of changes which could be
made to our tax structure to place a greater emphasis on the need
for investment. Such investments would both help America remain

competitive over the long-term and would help stimulate growth in

the economy.

Q.15. If more Government spending is to be paid for by spending
the peace dividend and raising new taxes, how much importance do

you place on reducing the deficit?

A.15. The Clinton administration will place considerable emphasis
on reducing the deficit. As I noted at the hearing, all items are on
the table and everything is being considered as part of a package
to both reduce the deficit and get the economy back on track. No
decisions have been made yet about whether additional GoveTTj-

ment spending will be called for, or about how to allocate any sav-

ings from reductions in the amount of defense spending. However,
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once our package has been put together, I look forward to discuss-

ing it with you and the other members of the committee.

Q.16. In your recent book, Who's Bashing Whom? you place empha-
sis on policies that will change the composition of our trade.

Doesn't the level of our trade deficit depend importantly on our Na-
tional Savings Rate and doesn't that depend importantly on the

Federal deficit?

A.16. Yes. As I note on p. 14 of my book, the size of the overall

trade deficit is primarily a macroeconomic phenomenon. But I also

believe that our deficit depends in part on specific tariff and non-

tariff barriers and practices within a number of foreign countries

which have the effect of excluding American products.

Q.17. Wouldn't deficit reduction go a long way toward correcting
our trade imbalance?

A.17. Yes. The imbalance between national saving and national in-

vestment is the major determinant of the size of the trade imbal-

ance and a reduction in the deficit which reduces the gap between
our national saving and our national investment will reduce the

gap between our imports and our exports. However, other sources

of the gap, such as structural barriers abroad to U.S. exports,
would not be directly affected by changes in our deficit.

Q.18. President Clinton has made a commitment to cut the deficit

in half in 4 years. Do you think he can keep his promise?
A.18. The recent 0MB and CBO figures indicate that the baseline

deficit is much larger than expected, so the commitment will be
more difficult to achieve. However, there is no question that the

Clinton administration is committed to serious deficit reduction

and that it will propose a variety of steps to achieve the goal of

meaningful deficit reduction. Once the Administration's economic

package has been put together, I look forward to meeting with you
to discuss how we can implement it to ensure that our economy is

put back on track and that we achieve significant deficit reduction.

Q.19. In helping him to meet his promise, what kinds of policies
would you recommend to him to cut the deficit in half?

A.19. As I noted at the hearing, no decisions have yet been made
regarding the specifics of the administration's deficit-reduction

package. Therefore, it would be premature to discuss any precise

options. What should be noted is that all items are on the table.

We are looking at a wide variety of both spending cuts and revenue

options. Most certainly, any package is likely to include some sig-

nificant health care reforms. Obviously, one of the fastest growing
areas of the budget is health care and the administration will be

pursuing programs to bring down the spiraling costs.

Q.20. What steps do you see as necessary for the new administra-
tion to enforce the semiconductor agreement with Japan?
A.20. Since entering into the semiconductor agreement, substantial

progress has been made in increasing the U.S. market share in

Japan, but work remains to be done if we are to achieve the goals
called for in the agreement. The administration will continue to

pressure the Japanese to comply with the semiconductor agree-
ment and to make the changes necessary to open their markets to
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freer competition. Certainly high on our agenda with Japan will be

Japan's adherence to the semiconductor agreement. We will first

have to examine the situation after the data for the fourth quarter
of 1992 becomes available in March of this year. Once we have ex-

amined these results, we will determine what if any additional ac-

tions should be taken.

Q.21. The Bush administration has actively pursued the removal
of tariffs in the Uruguay Round, pushing for a "zero-for-zero" pro-

posal on tariffs. Tariffs cost U.S. industry billions of dollars a year.
Will the zero-for-zero initiative continue as a high priority for the

new administration?

A.21. I believe the administration will be committed to doing all

that it can to open foreign markets to U.S. products. Certainly,

high tariffs abroad pose important barriers to open trade for U.S.

goods in many important markets.

Q.22. What objectives do you see as important for the semiconduc-
tor industry as the Clinton administration continues the GATT
talks?

A.22. As you know, I have long been concerned about barriers to

trade and have focused a good deal of my writings on barriers in

the high -technology area. There are a number of distinctive fea-

tures of Japanese capitalism—vertical integration, keiretsu groups,
cooperative business-government relations, and strict, often pater-
nalistic regulatory arrangements—which hamper the efforts of for-

eign producers to sell in Japan, particularly in areas such as semi-

conductors. We need to continue to establish goals, such as those
called for in the semiconductor agreement with Japan and to keep
up the pressure to ensure that we do all we can to achieve those

goals. We also need to continue to negotiate with the Europeans
and others for reductions in these tariffs on semiconductor imports.

Q.23. Tell me whether you support or oppose the following [list of

trade-related issuesl.

A.23. A number of the items listed in vour question are ones where
no decision has yet been made, and therefore it would be pre-
mature to respond, since I have not yet had an opportunity to dis-

cuss these issues with the President. In addition, many of the
items are issues which will be determined by either the Depart-
ment of Commerce or the USTR. Certainly, the CEA will be in-

volved in those discussions, but they have not yet begun. I would,
however, be happy to consult with you or other members of the

Banking Committee as these issues come up for discussion.

However, I can tell you that my general view is that we need to

take an aggressive stance in attacking both tariff and nontariff bar-

riers and structural impediments that make it difficult for Amer-
ican producers to sell abroad. I support the extension of Super 301
and I know that President Clinton and USTR Mickey Kantor have
also expressed support for the extension of Super 301. I have also

stated the need to address many structural impediments, which
often include things such as antitrust laws, merger and acquisition

laws, and other regulations affecting the competitive environment
American producers face abroad. I also believe that we need to re-

tain strong antidumping and countervailing duty laws to ensure
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that American companies have support in bringing actions against

unfairly traded imports.
With respect to tariffs, I believe this administration will be com-

mitted to doing everything possible to obtain better access for

American producers, including tariff reductions overseas. I know
the administration will work for the strong enforcement of our

trade laws and our trade agreements and will draw upon all of the

various tools available to enforce our trade laws.

With respect to antitrust laws or other structural impediments
to U.S. exports, I believe the administration will analyze each par-
ticular situation to determine the best approach to address the

problem. This might include greater enforcement of our own laws,
or new bilateral agreements, or efforts to get other countries to en-

force their own laws, or efforts to seek greater international adher-

ence to standards which promote competition and prohibit anti-

competitive actions.

In addition, I know that the Clinton administration is committed
to a program of worker assistance to ensure that those workers,
farmers or businesses that are hurt by unfair foreign competition
are given appropriate assistance.

Q.24. In your book. Who's Bashing Whom'? you wrote that "the

availability of investment capital in certain product areas, such as

displays, is limited in the United States by lender perceptions that,

once the Japanese have targeted a market, the prospects for Amer-
ican competitors are not good." What, if anything, can the Banking
Committee do to reverse the trend [of limited investment capital in

products that the Japanese have targeted]?

A.24. The overall lack of investment capital and bank lending is of

concern to the administration and is of considerable concern to both

the high-tech community and to the small business community. In

general, some of the lack of bank lending can be attributed to the

current large spread between long-term rates and short-term inter-

est rates. Along with the general economic climate, this spread has
made many bankers reluctant to lend to any industry which they

perceive to be risky. Among those businesses perceived to be riskier

investments are small businesses and high-tech businesses, par-

ticularly in those product areas where the Japanese have already
committed substantial resources. Among the steps that are under
consideration to address this issue are the development of a sec-

ondary market for small business loans, a simplification of the

process for securities registration for small businesses, and variety
of options noted in response to Q.23 regarding greater enforcement
of our own laws and greater adherence to international standards
which promote competition.

Q.25. Do you support continued funding for SEMATECH?
A.25. No specific decisions have been made regarding specific items

for inclusion in the President's budget. Therefore, I cannot state

what the level of support will be within the administration for

SEMATECH. In general, I do believe that SEMATECH has served

a useful purpose and has been one of the reasons our semiconduc-

tor industry is regaining its competitive position.
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Q.26. Should other high-tech industries follow the Sematech model
as an effective way to compete with "the Japanese system"?
A.26. Competing with "the Japanese system" will require a large

variety of steps. I believe that the first step is to clearly recognize
that in many ways the Japanese system is different from ours and
that the Japanese target and assist certain of their industries in

ways that we do not. Once that recognition is made, the Govern-
ment can begin to put together policies that help our industries
combat these structural barriers. We can assist our companies in

a number of ways. One is to fight harder for changes in the struc-

tural barriers that are causing the imperfections in the market.
Another may be the approach used with SEMATECH and still oth-

ers may be warranted, depending on the nature of the industry and
the kinds of barriers to trade and targeting involved in a specific
case.

Q.27. Do you agree that other steps need to be taken to increase
the manufacturing base of the U.S.? If so, what steps do you think
the Federal Government should be pursuing?
A.27. Rebuilding the U.S. manufacturing base was a major compo-
nent of the Clinton economic plan, and will remain a priority for

the Clinton administration. The administration can play a critical

role in promoting manufacturing exports, supporting civilian re-

search and development, training workers and helping small- and
mid-sized businesses gain access to the latest technology through
programs like manufacturing extension. Changes in the tax code
can be targeted to encourage investment in manufacturing indus-
tries. Finally, the U.S. Government can pursue trade policies de-

signed to open foreign markets to U.S. manufactured goods.

Q.28. United States scientists are very good at applied research,
but U.S. companies seem slower than our international competitors
in taking that research and turning it into new state of the art

products. What should U.S. industry be doing differently to reverse

this trend [trend of slow in taking applied research and turning it

into new productsl? What role, if any, should the Federal Govern-
ment play?

A.28. Commercialization of technology remains a problem for the
United States. Many of the impediments that have hampered pri-

vate investment across the board—such as inadequate access to

low-cost, patient capital
—contribute to private-sector shortcomings

in this area. The Government can play a role, especially in facilitat-

ing commercialization of the technology developed in Federal facili-

ties. Federal programs such as the Small Business Innovation Re-
search program and the Small Business Technology Transfer pro-

gram are steps in the right direction.

Q.29. Is process manufacturing an area worthy of additional fund-

ing?

A.29. Developing new manufacturing processes and methods is an

important element in lowering costs of production and improving
our overall competitiveness. Programs in process manufacturing
thus have significant commercial application. Funding levels for

specific Federal manufacturing and technology programs have not
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yet been set, and it would be inappropriate for me to comment on

them.

Q.30. Is there a relationship between the health of the service sec-

tor and the health of the manufacturing sector?

A.30. Jobs in the manufacturing and services sectors are linked in

that services industries often play supporting roles for manufactur-

ing companies. Jobs in industries ranging from transportation, to

computer programming, to financial services depend to varying de-

grees on the manufacturing sector.

Q.31. Our tax code encourages debt, mergers and acquisitions, pro-

viding incentives for companies to focus on short-term paper prof-

its. What changes in the tax code should be made to reverse this

trend?

A.31. As you know, there are a number of provisions in the tax

code which some experts believe contribute to the number of lever-

aged transactions (LBO's, highly-leveraged transaction, corporate
takeovers and other mergers and acquisition) and to the short-term

orientation of many corporation. Chief among these is the so-called

"double taxation" of dividends. It is not clear yet what changes to

the tax code, if anv, the administration will pursue. In general, I

believe that any changes that are considered will be those that,

among other things, place a greater emphasis on savings and in-

vestment. No decisions have yet been made about the best ways to

achieve these goals, but there is certainly recognition by the admin-
istration that we need to encourage longer-term investments and
the development of more patient capital.

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR BARBARA BOXER

Q.l. Have the United States and its businesses kept up with other

countries in spending on research and development? Assuming you
think that we can spend more as a Nation, how can U.S. Dusi-

nesses be persuaded to [spend more on R&D]?
A.I. It is disturbing that the United States invests much less over-

all than many of our foreign competitors, including Japan and that

our civilian R&D spending as a percent of our GDP is much lower
than that of our major competition. There are several ways for the

Government to encourage private-sector investment, including tar-

geted changes in the tax code. One option that has drawn wide-

ranging support calls for permanent extension of the R&D tax cred-

it.

Q.2.What can the Federal Government do directly to support com-
mercial technology development? Do you think some of the funds

necessary for those tasks should come from the Defense Depart-
ment budget?
A.2. The Clinton/Gore Technology Plan called for a significant shift

in the balance of Federal R&D spending between rnilitary and civil-

ian programs from the current breakdown—which is somewhat less

than a 60/40 split
—to a 50/50 split. While such a shift will promote

commercial technology development, it must be accompanied by a

plan to re-employ defense workers in civilian technology programs.
Also important in supporting commercial R&D are Federal pro-

grams such as the Small Business Innovation Research Program,
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which sets aside a percentage of Federal agency R&D budgets for

small-business projects, and the new Small Business Technology
Transfer Program, which sets aside Federal R&D funds for small-
business technology transfer projects.

Q.3. There are many who contend that we should not concern our-
selves with deficit reduction while in a recession. Are you of that
view or otherwise? Are you of that view Lthat we should not be con-
cerned with deficit reduction while in a recession]?

A.3. As an economist, I believe that too great an emphasis on defi-

cit reduction at a time when we are in a recession can be detrimen-
tal. The amount of deficit reduction that the Nation can absorb is

in part controlled by the robustness of the economy. Presently, we
are seeing some limited economic growth. However, the growth is

not occurring everywhere in the Nation, and certain regions, most
notably California, have not yet seen much growth. In addition, the

growth that we have seen has not resulted in significant job
growth. The goal of the administration is to develop a plan that en-

courages growth in output and jobs while cutting the deficit gradu-
ally. We are considering a plan with three elements: economic stim-

ulus, an increase in public investment and deficit-reduction. Once
this plan has been put together, I look forward to discussing it with

you and the members of the committee.

Q.4. How do you reconcile lowering the deficit with providing the

necessary resources for revitalizing the economy and addressing do-

mestic social needs?

A.4. I believe the administration is committed to both meaningful
deficit reduction and getting the economy growing again. Solid eco-

nomic growth is one of the most important aspects of deficit reduc-
tion. If we can get the economy growing at a more significant pace,
then it becomes easier to achieve greater deficit reduction. In addi-

tion, if we promote greater investment in our economy and our
human and natural resources, we will be setting the economy on
a path of more sustainable growth and greater long-term productiv-
ity. Moreover, our economic programs must focus on job creation.

While we have seen some upward movement in a variety of eco-

nomic indicators, our unemployment rates remain a significant
problem. Clearly, a major emphasis of our economic plan will be
the creation of more jobs and better jobs so that more Americans
have the opportunity to earn enough to feed, clothe, and house
their families.

Q.5. As you know, the semiconductor industry is very important in

my State. The 1980's were a devastating time for the electronics in-

dustry in California. In understanding what happened to the elec-

tronics industry in the 1980's and particularly to the semiconductor

industry—how much of the problem would you say was a result of

the failure of U.S. trade policy in the 70's and 80's, how much was
simply a result of market forces and increased competition, and
how much was allocable to unfair practices?

A.5. There is little doubt that unfair trade practices and foreign
subsidies contributed considerably to the sharp decline of the U.S.
semiconductor industry in the 1980's, although it is difficult to ap-
portion responsibility among various factors. Japan heavily sub-
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sidized its semiconductor industry during the 1970's and 1980's,
while maintaining a market that was virtually closed to non-Japa-
nese firms, first through formal barriers and later through struc-

tural barriers like keiretsu. The fact that Japanese semiconductor
firms were members of vertically integrated keiretsu also gave
them access to inexpensive capital, another advantage over U.S.

firms.

Q.6. How would you have applied your theories of managed trade

given the unfair trading practices of the 1980's—particularly in the
semiconductor industry?

A.6. Many of the unfair trading practices encountered by U.S. in-

dustries—including semiconductors—during the 1980's were not
the kind for which multilateral remedies exists. For example, struc-

tural barriers such as keiretsu, which have posed barriers to Amer-
ican industries such as auto parts and semiconductors, are not cov-

ered by GATT rules. Nor are multilateral remedies for structural

barriers being negotiated in the Uruguay Round.
While it would be preferable to negotiate multilateral rules and

remedies in these areas, such a solution will be slow in coming.
U.S. trade experience in the 1980's taught that carefully selected

sectoral market-access negotiations often prove successful in such
cases in the absence of an effective multilateral procedure. This

was the case in semiconductors—where the United States nego-
tiated an agreement with Japan that included marketshare goals

—
and it will continue to be the case in certain situations.

Q.7. We all share the desire, I am sure, for both healthy corpora-
tions and jobs for Americans. How do you reconcile the occasionally

conflicting needs, goals and interests between business and work-
ers under a managed trade approach? Is managed trade primarily
for the benefit of American corporations or American workers?

A.7. Managed trade can mean many different things to many peo-

ple. My own work has focused not so much on managed trade as

on the need to establish a defensive trade policy that allows for re-

sponsive measures to foreign trade barriers. We must first recog-
nize the type of competition we face and must identify the trade

barriers and impediments erected by other countries in industries

strategic to the United States. We must then use our trade policies
to defend against foreign practices and structural barriers that

harm our Nation's producers. This should result in better markets
for our producers and as a result, more production jobs for our
workers. Both workers and businesses stand to gain tremendously
if we can truly open up foreign markets to U.S.-produced goods.

Q.8. Under the ideal definition of managed trade, how do you de-

fine the Nation's strategic industries and where do you think we
should go with those industries?

A.8. Again, I think managed trade can mean a variety of things.

My work and my views focus more on the defensive steps that can

be taken to address the very real tariff, non-tariff and structural

impediments we face in trying to compete in foreign markets. For

example, in looking at the American and Japanese trade relation-

ships regarding electronics, telecommunications, pharmaceutical,
and computers, I found that Japanese government actions and reg-
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ulations as well as the keiretsu corporate structure enabled the

Japanese to obtain an advantage over American competitors. In re-

sponding to these situations, the administration will need to adopt
a policy that is appropriate to the particular situation, not an
across the board approach. The response might be greater enforce-

ment of our own laws, or new bilateral agreements or sectoral

agreements, or efforts to get foreign countries to do a better job of

enforcing their own laws, or to seek greater international adher-
ence to standards that promote competition. We need to develop a
set of strict rules and a better method of enforcing those rules to

ensure that America's exporters have an effective method of coping
with unfair foreign imports or imports coming from countries which
have targeted those products or corporations in such a way as to

give them an unfair advantage.

Q.9. Given the current recession, where would you advise President
Clinton to spend the first critical Federal dollars?

A.9. As I have noted in response to a number of other questions,
no decisions have been made yet regarding President Clinton's new
budget or where any new emphasis will be placed. Therefore, it

would be premature to discuss where the first dollars should be

spent. In general, I favor and I believe the administration will

come forward with a plan that involves economic stimulus, an in-

crease in public investment and gradual deficit-reduction. Getting
the economy moving again will involve considerable emphasis on

job creation and on the need to shift toward policies which encour-

age greater investment in people, in infrastructure, in research and
development and in new plant and equipment so that we can re-

main competitive and put people back to work. As soon as this plan
has been put together, I look forward to discussing it in detail with

you and the members of the committee.

Q.IO. In a global economy, do the differing ways foreign countries

treat business activities within their own borders in areas like en-

vironmental protection, occupational standards, antitrust policy,
and tax policy need to be reconciled? Do you foresee these types of

issues addressed in future multinational agreements like GATT?
For example, what would you think of an international antitrust

policy to standardize multinational practice?

A.10. The extent to which a country enforces its antitrust, environ-

mental or labor laws can have a major impact on international

trade and investment. This fact has been acknowledged by the

Clinton administration in the context of the negotiation of the sup-

plemental agreements to NAFTA. Worker rights have already been
considered in multilateral negotiations, and it is likely that envi-

ronmental issues will be raised in future trade talks. Lax antitrust

enforcement in Japan has been raised as part of the Structural Im-

pediments Initiative between that country and the United States,
and I would hope that this issue will be tackled more seriously in

future bilateral and multilateral trade talks. In general, I favor

new multilateral agreements to address structural differences in a

variety of areas including the ones you mention in your question,

although I believe that it will take a long time to negotiate such

agreements.
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Q.ll. What kind of policies should be fostered and implemented to

assist displaced workers and communities negatively affected by
defense conversion?

A.11. President Clinton made it clear during the presidential cam-

paign that manufacturing and training programs should take ac-

count of workers and communities negatively affected by defense
conversion. For example, any manufacturing extension program
should try to include extension centers in areas that have been
hard hit by defense cuts, and should employ former defense work-
ers. The CEA will be working with the NEC, the Labor Department
and other interested agencies to develop a comprehensive and co-

ordinated set of policies to deal with the problems and opportuni-
ties posed by defense conversion.
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Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.
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Dear Senator Riegle:

I am pleased to have the opportunity to vnrite in support of
the nomination of Laura D'Andrea Tyson to be Chair of the Council
of Zcononic Advicorc. I have known her as a valued colleague and
fellow administrator at the University of California, Berkeley over
the past fourteen years. She clearly possesses the econonic
capacities and skills requisite for this important position, but
goes beyond to have the qualities of political and public
leadership equally required.

Her purely academic pursuits are impressive. She has
basically focused on two large subject matters over her career. In
the first instance are her earlier interests related to the
economic structure and future prospects of Yugoslavia and Eastern
Europe more generally. Her publications m this arena have been
notable for their ability to combine state of the art technology
with a clear sense of what changing political conditions were
beginning to make possible. I simply cite one sentence she wrote
in 1985: "In the countries of Eastern Europe there are signs that
the experience of austerity is promoting a rethinking of
development strategy and, in some countries, a' renewed interest in
reform of the economic structure as well." Her sense of the
changes that began to emerge clearly some years later is tribute to
her skills as economist as well as her political instincts.

The second area of Ms. Tyson's particular specialization has
been the broad issue of Air.erican responsiveness to economic
policies pursued by competitors in Europe and Japan. She has been
among the leaders in asserting that trade policies followed by our
competitors matter, but at the same time, she has avoided the
excesses aometimcs associated with this view. Thus she has been
opposed to simple United States protectionism as a solution, and
has advocated more leadership in policies like encouraging
expenditures in research and development. What is clear is, that
once more, her innovative pocitionc have gradually emerged into
broad consensual professional stands. Attitudes about trade
policies have been much influenced by her research and h(=r clearly
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written conclusions.

As Chair of the Council of Economic Advisors, Ms. Tyson will
bring such unique skills with her. But shs brings much more. She
has a high degree of competence as a general professional
economist. As such, she has full ability to oversee and respond to
general macroeconomic projections of activity as well as sectoral
microeconomic issues in the important policy arenas of health,
environment, education, etc. Her personal talents in utilizing the
opinions and abilities of her co-workers and assistants are quite
important aids to this essential task. She has the capacity to
understand the broad consequences of economic policy, and to work
extraordinarily well with others in developing a consensus
position.

A final word should also be said of her considerable
competance to communicate effectively. She does so over the widest
gamut, ranging from the most skillful of economists to those active
politically to those only casually interested in economic matters.
This extraordinary talent will permit her to play a position of
considerable importance in the discussion of economic policy to be
carried out by the Clinton administration.

In sum, I heartily endorse her appointment and recommend her
conf irmation. The nation gains immensely from her commitment to
public service, as we will all soon become aware.

Sincerely,

Albert Fishlow
Dean, International and

Area Studies
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January 15, 1993 '^c^^^'^"
CENTER FOR REAL ESTATB AND URBAN ECONOMICS

1680 BANCROFT WAY. SUITE A
BERKELEY, CALIFORNIA 94720

_ ^ ,,,,,„., ,

"

(413)643-6103
Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr. fax: (*iv <ni . 7357

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

United States Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington. D.C. 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

I have known Laura Tyson as a professional economics colleague for over twenty years. We
were first fellow graduate students at MIT. We then taught together in the economics department
at Princeton University and arc now colleagues at the University of Califoniia at Berkeley.

My overall assessment of Laura Tyson is extremely positive. She is an outstanding teacher and

scholar on applied economics topics. She is without question the best teacher of economics at

Berkeley. Her research on mixed economies, international trade, and competivencss issues is

pragmatic and of the highest quality. Laura Tyson is not an economic theorist and so should not

be judged on that basis (some of the negative comments in the press arc implicitly making this

type ofjudgemenL) She combines common sense and good economic judgement to attack pohcy

problems. Her prcscnptions, at times, challenge the mainstream prescriptions of orthodox

economists. I view that as a great virtue which makes her policy input more valuable. Any
economist can mouth the orthodox economics policy solutions but few can define tiew activist

policies as well as Laura Tyson.

On a personal basis, Laura Tyson is an easy person to work with. She forcefully represents her

views, but Ls willing to compromise and listen to all sides of an issue. She is ideal for the role

of Chairman of the Council and Economic Advisors.

I recommend her in the strongest way for the position.

Sincerely,^ /L—
Kenneth T. Rosen

Professor Economic Analysis & Policy

Chairman Center for Real Esute &. Urban Economics



119

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA. BERKELEY

OeiUCKtXT • DAVIS • LHVl-VE • LOS aNCCLES • tUVtnjIDE • SAN DIEGO • 5i,N TTVAMCUCO iCMt- fiS^jJ SANTA BAIUIAJ\A • JANTA CBUZ

DEPAIITMENT OF ECXJNOMICt DEBKELEY, CALIFOFNIA 94710

January 15. 1993

The Honorable Senator Donald Riegle
The Senate Banking Committee

U.S. Senate

Washington, D.C

Dear Senator Riegle:

This is a letter in suppon of the confirraation of Professor Laura D'Andrea Tyson, who ha^

been nominated to be the Chairperson of the Council of Economic Advisers.

This is a very important position. The CouncD of Economic Advisers, in addition to OMB,
serves as a watchdog over governmental economic pohcy. I am happy to say that I can think

of no one who could BIl this job better than Ms. Tyson. She has that unique combination
of economic ability, intelligence, personal tact and persuasiveness which will, I believe, make
her the best Chairperson in the history of the Council. Her ah^ady brilliant choices for

other members of the Council and for economic positions elsewhere in the government,
which have been leaked to the press, confirm that she can assemble and lead the best

possible team to head the government's economic policy.

Let me first say a few words about Professor Tyson's intellectual accomplishments. She has
a reputation for being the leading econonust of her geiieration in one area, socialist

economics, and within a very short period of time has established her reputation as a leading
economist in another very significant area, trade poUcy. Her early papers or Yugoslavia
established a very interesting finding: that inflation m Yugoslavia was not due to the unusual
demands of the worker managed firms, but rather were the results of macroeconomic

policies which had simply gotten out of control. Fifteen years later this Milton Friedman
style analysis, if we wish to caU it that, of a socialist society seems exactly right, if not
obvious. But at the time Tyson's analysis was very novel and it immediately made her one
of the leading authorities on socialist economies. Indeed to this very day her analysis of the
behavior (we should say misbehavior) of socialist and emerging socialist economies exactly
hits the mark. It has been the socialist governments' inabihty to control their

macroeconomics policies which has caused the inflation which almost everywhere has been
their undoing.

Professor Tyson's research on Yugoslavia was indeed nothing but common sense, which was

however, not so common. This of course is one of the most marked features of all of her

writings, and one of her quahties which will make her a superb Chairperson of the Council
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Re: Laura D'Andrea Tyson
January 15, 1993

Page 2 of 2

of Economic Advisers. In this regard I refer you to her next major contribution, her work
on trade policy, which is summarized in her magnificent book Who's Bashing Whom? In

this book Professor Tyson gives a very detailed picture of the trade issues facmg Axnerica'a

high technology industries. Indeed this is the very best account any where of the complex

problems facing these industries. It gives the facts. It is aware of the economic theory. And
it does not simplify or distort the issues. This book is a "must read" for everyone who is

interested in these important topics. Everywhere it conveys the sound judgement of its

author. These are talents which I stress because they are so apparent in her work and also

becaiase they are so needed by a Chair of the Council of Economic Advisers.

So far I have been reviewing Professor Tyson's Intelleaual accomplishments. They are

indications of her intelligence which is a necessary qualification for her proposed job. But
she also has in very high degree those other talents which are needed to be a superb

Chairperson. She has an ability to explain economics to others. Her Crst-year economics

classes were the best taught classes on campus. With 600 to 800 students she received

course ratings which would make instructors teaching just ten people envious. Indeed her

courses have been almost impossibly well taught Furthermore, whatever the occasion, I

have never seen Laura in any way lose her cooL She is indeed unflappable. And she listens

to others. In sum, with all these qualities, in such high degree, there is no one better to lead

the new administration's economic team.

In sum, a new day is dawning. And under the leadership of Laura Tyson I expect U.S.

economic policy to again be restored to the world's best.

Yours sincerely,

George A. Akerlof

Professor

GA/cl
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January 15, 1993

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.
Chairman, Committee ' on Banking, Housing

and urban Affairs
U.S. Senate
534 Senate Dirksen Building
Washington, D.C. 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

I am writing in support of the nomination of Professor Laura
d' Andrea Tyson to serve as Chair of the President's Council of
Economic Advisers. I have had the pleasure of working with
Professor Tyson on a number of projects during the past 4 years
and am confident that she will uphold the tradition of integrity,
intellectual honesty, and effectiveness established by such
predecessors as Walter Heller, Gardner Ackley, and Charles
Schultze.

Improvements in U.S. economic performance require new policies that
acknowledge the limits of the laissez-faire economics of the past
12 years and the theories underlying many of them. Professor Tyson
is well suited to the task of advising President Clinton on these
policies. She will also be extremely effective in another critical
function of the CEA Chair, communicating these policies to
Congress, industry, and the American public.

Professor Tyson ' s research acknowledges the strengths of market-
based mechanisms for resource allocation, while underlining their
occasional limitations in supporting innovation and investment in
the assets that are essential to U.S. competitiveness in a global
economy. I interpret her "cautious activism" as a presumptive
preference for market-based solutions, subject to the caveat that
markets are known to fail. Professor Tyson correctly notes that
the postwar development of such economies as Japan did not rely
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Senator Donald w. Riegle, Jr.

January 15, 199 3

Page Two

exclusively on the market. Instead, government policies supported
investments in the skills, assets, and institutions needed to
complement and support majrket forces. The impressive productivity
and innovative performance of such U.S. industries as agriculture
and contmercial aircraft also has rested on a mix of robust inarKet
institutions and public programs. In refreshing contrast to many
of her professional peers, Professor Tyson bases these conclusions
on observation of the real world, rather thcUi derivations of
mathematical- formulae in her study. But her analytic and
methodological skills are strong, as one would expect in a scholar
with a Ph.D. from M.I.T. holding appointments as a full professor
in both the Economics Department and the Haas School of Business
at U.C. Berkeley, and will enable her to serve this Administration
with distinction.

The policy agenda of the Clinton Administration and the prospects
for improvements in the living standards of the 0.5. population
require policies that recognize the need for open markets for
international trade and investment, along with policies that create
a strong U.S. economic infrastructure of human skills, technology,
and public investment. Professor Tyson's background has prepared
her to meet this challenge and oversee the coordination and
consistency of trade and technology policies. 1 urge you to
support her confirmation as Chair of the Council of Economic
Advisers.

Sincerely,

Davia c. Mowery
Associate Profesj
510-643-9992
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January 15, 199 3

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs
United States Senate
534 Senate Dirksen Building
Washington, D.C. 20510-6075

tel 202-224-7391
fax 202-224-5137

Dear Senator Riegle:

I write in support of the nomination of Dr. Laura D'Andrea
Tyson as Chair of the Council of Economic Advisers (CEA) . I have
been a colleague of Professor Tyson's at the University of

California, Berkeley, for over 13 years. I worked at the CEA in

1983-84, as Senior Staff Economist under Martin Feldstein. In
addition to my position at Berkeley, I am Associate Director for
International Finance and Macroeconomics at the National Bureau of
Economic Research of Cambridge, MA.

Professor Tyson is an outstanding economist. Like many
successful academics, her career thus far could be viewed in two

stages. First, she proved her worth within the profession by means
of scholarly publications in a specific area of expertise. Eastern

European economies. Then, more recently, she branched out to
address broader issues of policy concern for the benefit of broader
audiences, largely in the area of international trade policy. Her
communications skills are spectacular, whether as an expositor to
the public, as a participant in high-level meetings, or as one of
the most popular teachers we have ever had at Berkeley.

Some mainstream academic economists have been quoted in the

press as expressing skepticism regarding Professor Tyson's
nomination. She has no lack of defenders, who point out correctly
that the skills desirable for CEA chairperson are not identical to
those skills desirable for maximum academic publication, that some
critics are jealous, that she is indeed a bit of a "West Coast
outsider," and that the American people elected Bill Clinton
President in anticipation that he would bring in new ideas. I am
concerned that such defense, coming from non-economists, may
confirm in the minds of my fellow economists, most of whom do not
know Professor Tyson as well as I, the notion that she is not a

"real economist." Perhaps my concern is needless, because the
American people are as likely in any case to heed these defenders
as to heed the views of academic economists, probably more likely.
Nevertheless, I would like to try to set the record straight.
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page two

Laura Tyson is a real economist. She is not one of those
social commentators who publicly opines on "managed trade" and
other guestions of economic policy without first deeply
investigating, pondering, and understanding the issues involved.
She is, indeed, a careful scholar who checks her facts, consults
the published wisdom, and thinks analytically. I recommend to
anyone her November book on recent trade issues in high-tech
sectors, particularly to those who say she believes in

protectionist managed trade without having read anything she has
written. Who's Bashing Whom? , published by the Institute for
International Economics, is well-written, informative, thoughtful
and well-balanced. I say this as a strong free-trader myself.

One measure of Professor Tyson's academic repute is that for
the last five years U.C. Berkeley and the Harvard Business School
have been fighting a prolonged tug-of-war over her.

The charge of the Council of Economic Advisers is to argue for
good economics. When other Cabinet agencies promote regulations,
tax breaks, and spending for special interests, the Council member
is typically the only one at the table to defend the economic
interests of the average citizen. This is true regardless of
political party, regardless of who is President, and regardless who
is Chairperson of the Council. It will continue to be true with
Laura Tyson, a highly knowledgeable and skilled economist, as
Chair. The CEA will be in good hands.

Sincerel

Terirey A. Frankel
Professor of Economics
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January 25, 1993

Laura D ' Andrea Tyson
Chair, Council of Economic Advisers

Dear Laura:

with regard to the info, you requested here are copies of ths

pertinent part of the Annual Reporr. To this list I would add that
we received $20,000 from violet Walstrum (Mrs. Bendix's mother) for
the Reinhard Bendiz Fallo-rfship Fund. Also, we did receive the
interest income from the Simpson ($56,000) euid the Sharlin (SS,00O)
fellowship funds for student fellowships.

Please call me if you need further info, or explanation.

It was good to hear from you. Thank you for all of your support
and the best of luck.

<:'

Karia Bertero-Barcelo, MSO

68-191 -0-93-5



126

}s ccaooooucooooootsotroooocooooo •J t; o D o

»^ r>i 2* '^ r^ 2?C <^ ^ ^ ^ ^
C Q O C- C

_ _ O ,3 d —

^ CwC — oocfooooocooooc-
3-0

^ < •© •<— O— ^ — — — i-^'
« o <« >o '

; c: ?: ?^ Ci (zi (c a^

•> ^ t^ «) —
O «0 C^ — *"'

5^ ^ rJ f^ i

<

ii

•3

3

i
a

2 - = ?. « 32o- H - .

*^ «• O ?^ C» O "~
«^ »s -T «K «-i ^ —
r* — -^ oJ ^ 9- •»

-<
z
o
P
<
2

o

I;;

1^

7 ll J !i =

S ^ *^ '^ « S

;
»

i s i J S I E

t OC */^ ^ — I— t— I

= tec-

y -• * J? ^ —

:i i i S i ia
r- ss;Lu;^uuu = <^i;;ji;osicz.uzzooz:2:20£

i -^^

^•' u en

"S-3 2 ir

^ P J 5 c

S fii -X <^ y
v^ UJ ^ lO U

5 3 5
P F «S

a S =

a a d « C
g jj

s s a

C U U L> U



127

'o -o c '^ o t: C G C tr •s o f;oj3c cc-^c

S ? S S g S
-- WJ — — -O _— C O^ ^ Jv ^< < <^ ^ c 3^
^ "t

- c <;: ::;— r-J -o — r^ ON

C ^ » e.
*:^ ^ :3 b

7* rt"^ c> "» t:*

J? 2; i; tr C; 5.

5
S5

3- tt S ^ =iT O -? C <=^

C c •-. f. d^ ^ >0 >0 >0

^ Ci 5 e: *
*-V O O -w C.

S 5 S 5 S
e; iS vC v; =1

I

.- 1 r-. t 8
2 S 5 s" 8
sSS?;

*^ %« 5 S -* i
1^ «-> o »• o —

_

0^ O* r^ "T on o
*-« n f^ ;y

— Gi
ae -r ^ 2 ^f

"^

S e - f^

= S S * ?5 :2 £ i &
-t c -^ « «c
»J K sT f^ f>4

i c rf = z = 2 3 S 2

•s

I
I

•='?

t

II

E



128

OCOO'JOCC

c^ C = ?I Q. <5 C C ^1 5.
»C 'O ^v — •« >£ «« -<» « •<

r^ T-t -^ t^ r* fi r^ f-* ^ rA

3

'O - C U C :

j^ ,„ ^ _2 (*
_ „

5^ £C r.

v-s p «*
V* S —

Of f~- — SjtC"
-r

i::* r: 3^* <* -^' "^ ^'
n« <^ vl — — —

•V H —

§1
> O r«* (^ tJ DC O
S^ S 5 ^ r^ C?*

: :2 s 3 ^ ?^ ^

•JlOCCOtJOOO

S, 2. ^. 15 <^. b £ P S

a

3

I I I

Stu.
c •-

IS 1 1

SI

1- o.

^' i<
•^ . ;= &
f I T

i
K •: =• j^

' » o a c

S I « - '-5

• 5 c ^ .3 "
: Uk

-
, ^ «"

i|fit-.i? ^ <-> 5 '

c e a p «

h o 3 - S

^ £>I 5 J

i X < s :v

s |i£
s a X 2

.S "3s
3 C 5

I I -a

S3 a

s5 §

211
a^IJI

If*
« 1(2

»•= £

i Si

g £ a:

;
O _ =

=22 A.

fc 3 -a
3 g.g

US
•i

^% •a = I 1
b: # J r

U
.

'J O U LI

2^ Si S 2 z ^ z 2 2 22 ^a

ill

i r.i

>. S £
S >. ^

? i-s

111

S 5

= S 3 8 K c ".
i 5 -^ -

'

C £ -^ ^
3 S t= s ^'

11

a 5

r
^ t

si
c i

,

. 6 S :

1-5 §..3
2

o o o
5 o o

, u- a.
"^ jS

S 5 c i
;j :| g. ,-

, & & PC g.

H n i i

= - - - 5 '^ ? ^
III
^ «-. -^i

s: e e e
,^

6 E ^
5 §

-2 -2 *2 o

- -J _• S c

^^-S.J.i.:^a.

5
s S
i 3

a ^

? I

J J J

s b ^ »• e= y y y f"!

i~ H * S

J J ^ _

3
I
t

5
c
S

"a

- -a o

1 1
?

^ -:
-

— 3

1 1 J^

5 ^

g.

•I

1

C £ -o
-V .^ -> «

• • 11
7- <

u z 3 i.

a. 1. c e. c 1. i. I
^ A. c- a. I , 3, fr. A. ^ ^



u

Vi

8 5^5
i

-
5

§ c HC »- n

|0-

« o
u —*

« c u

EO u

V >^ m
V t- a
C I

fc- * o
QJ ^ <

129

1



130

s



131

.9
e

o
o
o

05 — (N CT — <N

^ S? •" ^ 2? 22

o c: ^ o c S
»- »- <o »- 00 t

m
U
«^
o
S

•
•-•

E
p

OO
q

o o o O
o o oodd
to § o
<J5 d in

oo
d
oo
d d

o o
o o
d d

in

o
E
<

<
£
(0

Si
«>

1
9
E
c
a
-s

«

o
c

8

o
9
d
8

c

c
<q

E"

O

m O
a <-'

C u.

Ii2

1X> w

S.

£1

? = =
c J, ^ o a .2 d
I "5 -5 o ™ i f-

« C c ^ -Q

a w O ^ O 5
—t—)—i(as.—t

I-

u
X
e

•o
c
3

oo
_2
u
c



132

UMVERSlTi' OF CALIFORNIA, BERKELEY

ntnicELEY • riAvis • irvine • lo;. am.eles • KivEnsint - san niEr.o • ^a.v euancisco "C •JjiKSJ^i) >anta hmusmh s\sta cmrz

David J. Teece Center for Research in Management

Director. Center for Research in Management S54 Barrows Hall • Berkeley, CA 94720

Mitsubishi Bank Professor Tel (510) 6421075 • Fax (510) 642-2826

Haas School of Business

January 15, 1993

Senator Donald Riegel, Jr.
Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs
United States Senate
534 Senate Dirksen Building
Washington D.C., 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegel:

I am pleased to write in support of the appointment of Professor Laura
Tyson to the chair of the President's Council of Economic Advisors. I

believe she will make a brilliant appointment.

Laura Tyson is a colleague of mine at Berkeley, where she has dual
appointments in both the Department of Economics and the Haas School of
Business. I have know Laura since I accepted an appointment at

Berkeley in 1982. Like her, my Ph.D is in economics; my fields of

study include industrial organization, technological change, and
international business. Overall, my philosophy is one that supports
minimalist government where possible and desirable, incentives that
favor investment over consumption, an open and liberal international
order, and the rebuilding of American competitive strengths through
private and public sector restructuring.

My enthusiastic support for Laura's appointment is based on my respect
for her intellect, my understanding of her views and economic thinking,
and my great confidence in her character and values. Let me briefly
deal with each.

Laura has impeccable academic credentials: a BA from Smith, and a Ph.D
from MIT. She has had appointments at top level institutions
throughout her academic career. Her interests have migrated from the
study of comparative economic systems to the study of trade, technology
and competitiveness.

Laura is clearly a reformist. She notes in her book that "the policies
and institutions that served the nation well when we were the world's
unquestioned technological leader require overhaul now that Japan and
Europe have emerged as our economic equals" (p. 296) . I suspect she
will bring fresh insight to bear on many issues.

For several years she hasn't been quite in the mainstream of economic
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thinking. That's mainly because while we have had a competitiveness
problem for almost two decades, the mainstream of the profession has
wanted to deny its existence until quite recently. The reason Laura
has so much to say about many contemporary policy questions is that the
profession swept many of them under the rug, or simply couldn't deal
with complex institutional policy questions. Indeed, use of the word
"competitiveness" was said to signal woolly thinking.

Laura's approach to problems is to bring economic and institutional
analysis and behavioral evidence to bear on policy questions. Unlike
many of her colleagues, she is less inclined to accept the conventional
wisdom when the evidence flatly contradicts it. Her courage to advance
new ideas, modify them when necessary, and learn from the ensuing
debate is one that will serve her and the nation well. Her willingness
to challenge orthodox presumptions is not motivated by political tastes
but by the desire to clear out a good deal of economic religion which
protects the sacred cows of the status quo. I am very confident that
Laura's deepest passion is to improve the long run competitive
performance of the American economy and its people. The quote from
Abraham Lincoln which adorns the introduction to her latest book Trade
Conflict in High Technology Industries captures the spirit behind her
concerns about how the nation is dealing with problems of US
competitiveness :

The dogmas of the quiet past are inadequate to the stormy present.
The occasion is piled high with difficulty, ahd we must rise to
the occasion. As our case is new, so we must think anew and act
anew. We must disenthrall ourselves and then we shall save our
country.

Some of Laura's views on current policy questions are contained in her
writings. Significantly, Laura believes "that what we as a nation make
and what we trade matters. The composition of our production of trade
does influence our economic well being"*. This is obviously correct,
but her position irks more stolid economic theorists. The proposition
helps undergird Laura's leanings towards a more activist trade policy,
because she's worried that the industries the US gets to own is in part
the consequence of other nations' industrial policies. That is, to
the extent that industrial policies expand high technology activities
abroad, US industry is impaired in its ability to export, and may
simultaneously lose market share in the US to foreign firms which are
supported by their governments. To the extent that existing
multilateral rules don't adequately regulate such policies, Laura

p. 11-12 of Who's Bashing Whom?
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favors modifications to US law to deter or compensate for foreign
practices. Otherwise our own industrial structure will be dictated by
foreign governments. Put differently, complete laissez faire
approaches are problematic especially if other countries are playing by
different rules. Laura also favors a more determined technology policy
to support industries with positive spillovers.

Laura's views on other matters of policy are not so apparent from her
writings, though I'm sure you will ferret them out. I suspect when you
probe you will find that her positions are quite pragmatic. I believe
she favors deficit reduction and policies which favor investment in
education and infrastructure over consumption. On macro policy issues,
which haven't been her primary academic interest, she has a firm
understanding of foundations, and is capable of listening to others
when appropriate. She is keenly aware of her own areas of relative
strength and weakness, and has the courage and capacity to reach out
for specialized expertise when needed.

Finally, let me point out that Laura is of the finest moral calibre.
She is extremely honest, and has the highest ethical standards. She
has gained great respect in the academic world for her ability to
establish consensus and move the enterprise forward. These qualities
will be much needed in Washington, and I look forward to observing her
help shape the policies that are needed to help improve the nation's
prosperity and well being.

Sincerely yours.

David J. Teece

DJT : trm
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Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs
United States Senate
534 Senate Dirksen Building
Washington, D.C. 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riggle:

Laura D' Andrea Xyson has my highest recommendation and
endorsement for the position of chairman of the Council of Economic
Advisors. Professor Tyson played a major role in the development
of issues and action programs relating to competitivenQss in the
United States — first with the Young Commission, then the Cuomo
Commission, and then the Conference at the Carter Center.

As Chairman of Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.
,
a global manufacturer

of telecommunications and instrumentation equipment, and as chair
of the EIA/ATV Coiniaittee* , I had the opportunity to work closely
with Laura Tyson. Professor Tyson prepared a chorough review of a
national position on high-definition television.

My recommendation of Laura Tyson comes from the perspective of
a CEO of a major high-tech company. I have always found that her
viewpoints combine a scholarly background with the deep knowledge
of the realities of the corporate world, global narket place and
the nation-at-large. Professor Tyson articulates her positions in
a thoughtful and persuasive manner. The nation is fortunate indeed
to have a distinguished woman of her stature to represent us and
chair the Council.

I appreciate the opportunity to present this letter of
endorsement.

Sidney Topol
Retired Chairman and CEO,
Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.

Atlanra, Georgia

Electronic Industries Association/ Advanced Tclevicion Comraittee
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January 14, 1993

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking,
Housing & Urban Affairs

SD-534, Dirksen Senate Office Bldg.
Washington, DC 20510-6075
Attn: Steven B. Harris

Dear Senator Riegle:

Laura D'Andrea Tyson is extremely well-qualified to serve as Chair of the
Council of Economic Advisers, and I am happy to give her my strongest
endorsement.

Professor Tyson's accomplishments as

are vital resources for the U.S. at t

debates center around U.S. industrial

policy, and trade relations, especial
leadership from an economist like Pro

outstanding scholarship to these deba

high tech trade with Japan, published
connects the abstract and theoretical
concerns. Professor Tyson possesses
of the application of economic models
facina America.

an international institutional economist
his time when many of the important
competitiveness, national technology

ly with Japan. It is important to have
fessor Tyson who has contributed

tes--especial ly Dr. Tyson's new book on

by the prestigious Insti tute--and who
field of economics to practical policy

a shrewd intellect and stunning knowledge
and principles to the key policy choices

It is to her credit that many of her publications appear in journals that are
interested in practice and policy as well as theory. She wants to delve into
the meaning of economic facts and statistics and use them to build strategy.
She was one of the early economists to warn that the U.S. was losing our

manufacturing edge and under-investing in new technology. She has marshalled
the evidence on the impact of foreign investment on the U.S. economy to show

why domestic ownership of assets matters for America. She has examined with

depth and great insight the way that economic outcomes were shaped by
political choices, especially in the case of Japan. And her book is the best
discussion yet of how to ensure that free trade means fair trade. The focus
of her recent book has been on the high tech industries essential for
America's future, and their prospects in light of Jaoanese strength and

political policy. Yet she is also an expert on Eastern Europe, an area that

interests American business as an opportunity for expansion.
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Her considerable academic and professional skills and achievements were

recognized by Harvard University. In 1989-90 she was offered tenure in the

Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration after a highly rigorous
selection process in which about 90 distinguished senior faculty members

reviewed all of her academic work and discussed her credentials. She is

considered the leading economic scholar on trade policy and has been invited

to contribute to nearly every major forum or national committee on these

issues.

I urge you to confirm this appointment.
I

S-fncerely,

'^^'^fZ0>r^'O-L
Rqsabeth Moss Kanter

RMK/wr
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15th Jan 1993.

Senator Donald W. Riegle Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs,

United States Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington D.C. 20510-6075.

Dear Senator Riegle,

It is a pleasure for mc to support the nomination of Lauia D'Andrea Tyson as

Chairman of the Council of Economic Advdsors. Her knowledge, intellect,

communication skills, and character combine to makp her a superb selecuon.

Dr Tyson has been a major contributor to the academic and the pubUc debates on

how to make the US economy more competitive. As a participant in the field, I have

always found her research insightful, weil-wntten, provocative and firmly grounded in

the real world. Indeed, when Charles L Schultze of the Brookings Institution and I

were looking for the best protagonists of the case for a new strategy for US trade we

naturally chose Laura Tyson to write one of the three key papers in our book An
American Trade Strategy: Options for tfte \99Q^ (Brookings Institution; 1990).

When presenting her views in person, Laura Tyson is highly articulate. I also

admire her integrity. She has never flinched from stating her views, even when

they differed from many of her colleagues. Both the President and the country will

benet'it gready from her leadership and her commitment to improving America's

economic performance.

Sincerely yours,

A^?/
RoberL2f"Lawrence .

Albert L Williams Professor

of International Trade &
Investment.
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January 6, 1993

Profe65oc Louro D. Tyson
Departraent of Economics

University of California

BacKelay, CA 94720

Dear Profeaeor Tyeon:

with othera, I aiu aure, I was more
than slightly appalled, even disgusted,
by the suggeetion, prominently featured
in the prees, that your economic work

and viewe do not extend competently to

the larger range of cconcroic policy.
OC course they do. suggestions to the

contrary carry over from academic life

and the refined division of labor of the

university world. No one can auppoae,
as to Washington, that you will be so

confinad .

YOU will not be distressed by having
Alan Blinder on the council. But his

appointment in no wiee suggests any

inadequacy on your part. That no one

who knowB your work and inteceste -- and

the post to which you move -- will believe.
XOKic arrival in Washington will be a great
step up for the professxon, as I will

certainly tell anyone who happens to ask.

Youra fai

JK«/aab
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MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

DEPARTMENT OF ECONONflCS

U January 1993

CAMBRIDGE, MASSACHUSETTS 021dy-i307

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

United States Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington, DC 20510-6075

FAX: (202) 224 5137

Dear Senate Riegle:

I am jumping at the chance to offer to your Committee a very strong endorsement of Dr. Laura

D'Andrea Tyson, wiio has been nominated to be the Chairman of the Council of Economic

Advisors. I have known Dr. Tyson since she was a first-year graduate student at M.I.T. about

twenty years ago, and I have followed her work ever since.

We are proud of running a tough, highly-competitive Ph.D. program at M.I.T. I can tell you
that Dr. Tyson got an A from me (in a course in macroecoaomic theory, by the way) and came

through as one of the ablest graduate students of her cohort. She ha^ had first-rate training and

has profited from it.

Dr. Tyson is an excellent economist. Her work has built on the latest developments in our

understanding of international trade, and has argued from them to important conclusions about

commercial policy. These are always worth listening to; she argues them forcefully and well.

In one of her papers she has described herself as "a cautious activist" in trade policy, That

sounds to me like a fair description. It is not a bad category to be in. I would not want any
other sort of person on die job, and I hope you feel the same.

My summary view is that Dr. Tyson will be an able, knowledgeable and effective Chairman of

the Council. She will be able to bring the best economic knowledge of the country to the

service of President Clinton. It is an excellent nomination, and should be confirmee with

enthusiasm.

Sincerely yours,

Robert M. Solow
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Massachusetts Institute of Technology
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January 13, 1993

Lester C. Tliurow
_ Telephone: 617-253-2932

Dein FAX: 617-258-6617

E52-473 EMAIL: LTHUROW@EACLE.MIT EDU

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

United States Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington, DC 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

It is my privilege to write a letter in support of Laura Tyson's nomination by
President Qinton to be Chairman of his Council of Economic Advisers. I am writing you
both as the 1993 Vice President of the Amencan Economics Association and as the Dean
of MITs Sloan School of Management.

1 have know Laura Tyson since she was a student here at MIT in our Ph. D.

Program and worked with me on a project looking at the banking systems and the

activities of central banks in a number of different industrial countnes. She is well

trained and on top of the major developments in all major fields of economics, including
macro-economics which everyone must present as a field of study. I found it a pleasure to

work with her then.

Since then I have followed her intellectual activities closely and she has been a

visiting professor here at MIT. The good qualities she demonstrated as a student have

remained with her. She does her homework, she is on top of the analysis required to

make good judgments, she listens to contrary arguments, and it is still a pleasure to work
with her — as I have from time to time done in jointly authored articles.

Perhaps the highest recommendation that 1 can give to her is that both the MIT

Management School and the Harvard Business School have been trying to lure her away
from Berkeley and the University of California. 1 wanted to have her here at MIT and

thought she would have been a great addition to my faculty. In the same mode, she will

be a great addition to President Clinton s offiaal family.

Intellectually her work in recent years has focused on industrial economics.

Professor Tyson thoroughly understands macro-economics but 1 think that an

understanding of industnal economics is even more important for today's Chairman of

the President's Counal of Economic Advisors. As severe as our macro problems arc, the

mapr economic problems facing the United States are not how do you get macro-economic

policies right. That can be done perfectly and the United States will still fail

economically.
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Letter to Senator Riegle, Jr. January 13, 1993

Page Two

The central problem is how do you restore productivity growth and make
American mdustry more competitive in international markets. If we do this, Americans'

real wages can start rising after a 20 year penod of decline. If we cannot, Americans'

real wages will continue to fall.

Laura Tyson's intellectual strengths match America's long run economic needs.

I urge you to confirm her and support her strongly.

Sincerely yours,J -- -/

Lester C. Thurow
Dean
MIT Sloan School of.Management

Vice President,

American Economics Association
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American GectronicsAssociation AEA
5201 Great America Parkway, Santa Clara. California 95054. Telephone: (408) 987-4200

1225 Eye Street. N W . Suite 950. Washington. DC 20005. Telephone: (202) 682-9110

January 19, 1993

Honorable Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman

Committee on Banking Housing
& Urban Affairs

United States Senate

Washington. DC 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

As members of the Advanced Technology Coalition (ATC), we wish to express our strong

support for the confirmation of Dr. Laura D'Andrea Tyson as Chair of the Council of

Economic Advisors.

As you may know, the ATC is a broad coalition of high-tech companies and associations,

traditional manufacturing industries, labor, professional societies, and research consortia that

have a common goal of ensuring America's industrial and technological leadership. The

Coalition includes organizations which represent 5 million U.S. workers, 3,500 electronics

firms, 325,000 engineers and 13,500 companies in other manufacturing sectors.

We believe that Laura Tyson will be an exceptionally influential and imaginative Chair of the

CEA. Dr. Tyson's work has concentrated on some of the most important policy issues that

face the United States economy. Her recent book CWho's Bashing Whom? Trade Conflict in

High-Technology Industries) is based on exhaustive research of key high-tech industries and a

sophisticated understanding of the global environment in which American firms and workers

compete. Her policy recommendations are thoughtful and balanced, and fumly grounded on

fu-st-rate empirical research.

if America is to maintain its industrial and technological leadership, our top economic

decision makers must have a thorough understanding of the realities of the global economy,
and have innovative ideas for strengthening America's economic competitiveness. America's

standard of living and economic and geopolitical strength will increasingly be determined by
its ability to commercialize new technologies. We believe that Dr. Tyson's insights into trade

and technology policy will be invaluable as the United States seeks innovative solutions to the

challenges of the post-Cold War era, and we urge you to join us in supporting her

confirmation.

AEA
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Sincerely,

J. Richard Iverson

President & CEO
American Electronics Association

Edward A. Miller

President

Nanonal Center for Manufacturing Sciences

Kent Hughes
President

Council on Competitiveness

Arvid Larson

Chairman

IEEE-USA Technology Policy Council

Russell
^

64mes W. BishopJack Russell

President

Modernizauon Forum

Luanne James

President

Information Technology Association

of America

ames W. Bishop
Executive Director

Southeast Manufacturing Technology
Center

Albert W. Moore

President

AMT - The Association for Manufacturing

Technology



145

Karl F. Landegger Program
IN

International Business Diplomacy
school of foreign service
georgetown uniyersity
washington. dc 20057-0889

Dr. Theodore H Moran

Ds JotIN M. KUNE
Ocpav Ouwuv

Ms Ca«ol V, EvAbS

BO\RD OF ADVISORS
Mb, Frederick H S Aij-En

IP. MoiKfi A Civniami

Mb. William N Ajsortws
McUon Bulk

Db Habvfv E, Bale. Jr-

The Honorable Joseph W Barb
Mb LA\fcHE>CE J BBAiNARD

r«Jilnwn. Sads & Compuiy

Mb Robert a, Brawer

Db John L Caldwell
U.S. Tntktt^ A \fivKMmrr* Conpuiy

Mb. Robert G, Cox
VUnthuUT. Inc.

Mb. Bi-\iN6 E. Davis
MAT

VtB. IvOui*: E Demp^-T
brown &rc*f«r« H&m/nan Ji Con^min'

Mb. Pall E. Ebdman
Atatta

Ms. Lynn Feintech

Mb. Jlffbey E. Garten
The BlaUoione Gttmd

Mr Charles N Goldman
ITT r>TT*'Uian

Mr WrLLiAM R. Gra>t
Takn ***"'""

Dr i-RL-ZSlNA M. HaRSAKYI
\atm Brown tkrven

.Mb Edward E R Hearle
Sooa. Alkn A HurJlan

Mr. H. Robert Heller
VISA U.S A

Db Michael W Hodin
Pturr IrUTTwiiand

M« CoRDELL W Hull

Mr G E JONCIOIEER
lr<cTi«iK>«k NeJrrkndrn Cn*^

.Mr, Abdon B Judd. Jr.

Mrs. tV C LA>DEOr.EH
The bimik C\mw*on Company

Dr. Elcene K Lawson
Elipo(T-linp«i Buut c« ^}w U.S.

Dr Kl^LS M IXISINGER

Mb Kobfrt M Mr<iEE
<>.0(Kf«Mj l>«eTT«iiu«J CTptmion

D«, H'^SAJtA t.' Samlels. [I

'^)c ( hkar Man)«iaBn itank

Mr S^DAMl (ClIHlS) WaDA
."vwiv (." L»T»»«ui)n it A/nenta

Mr. MaRCLS W^U.tNBERO
-tivw hciJmuAk AG,

Mr Richard S Weinlrt
Lc*lic, 'AnFvrl eV Cani|Bnv

Mr S( urr I-. Wendeljn
"Wumnn br<mncT«

Da. JoiLS O WH.SON

Mb Dolclas E Wf.sters
XiJitaU, Inc. im.I

Mh Doif-LAS t' Worth
;ijM CcrpiTWjdn

Dr -Martin B. /:mmkr.man
Tic f'urd MiUB Company

January 14, 1993

The Honorable Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking,

Housing and Urban Affairs

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington, DC 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

I am writing with great enthusiasm on behalf of Dr. Laura

D' Andrea Tyson's nomination to be Chairman of the Council of

Economic Advisers in the Clinton Administration.

Dr. Tyson's chairmanship greatly expands and enhances the

traditionally rather narrow focus of the Council on aggregate

macroeconomic analysis. Her particular expertise comes from

looking closely at the international context in which high technology

industries are created, rise, struggle with competition across borders,

and (if successful) expand to new heights. The outcome is

particularly important because such industries typically offer great

positive spill-overs for the countries where they are located and

generate high skilled, high wage jobs in the communities where they

are found.

The kind of detailed knowledge that Dr. Tyson possesses about

competition in high tech industries has been alarmingly rare within the

ranks of prior Chairmen of the Council of Economic Advisers. Yet it

is precisely this kind of background that will be vital in making the

policy decisions we need to enhance American competitiveness as we

approach the twenty-first century.

The issues that Dr. Tyson has established her reputation

addressing are particularly sensitive, since they deal with sectors

where many governments have kept markets closed by subsidizing as

well as protecting their own national firms. Given the publicity that

Dr. Tyson's nomination has generated in the press, I would urge the

(202) 687-5854 Fax (202) 687-6033



146

The Honorable Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

January 14, 1993

Page Two

Members of the Committee to go ahead and question her closely on

matters concerning managed trade and public sector targeting. What
the Members will discover is that Dr. Tyson is extraordinarily careful

and precise in delineating the exceptional circumstances in which

intervention on the part of the U.S. government might be warranted.

When she describes herself as a "cautious activist," I believe she will

place emphasis on the "cautious." Overall, her commitment to

enhance the working of markets is no less firm than her predecessors

in the Cliairmanship of che Council. But she is acutely sensitive to

the dangers of ignoring protectionism and intervention on the part of

other governments in high tech industries where the economies of

scale are large and the pace of change is extremely rapid.

Finally let me make a few observations about Dr. Tyson's

personal qualities. She is open, engaging, approachable, frank,

persuasive, and honest. I mention these personal qualities because,

given the legacy of aloof disdain toward Congress on the part of

several senior officials of the previous administration, the Members of

the Committee will find, I am sure, that they will come to look

forward to exchanging ideas with Dr. Tyson and working together

with her in addressing the major economic challenges that confront

our nation.

I hope that these remarks are helpful to your deliberations.

Respectfully,

Theodore H. Moran

THM:may
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January 14. 1993

Honorable Donald W. Rieglc, Jr.

Qiainnan, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

United Stales Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington. D.C. 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

I am pleased and honored to support the nominaiion of Dr. Laura Tyson for tJic Chair of

the President's Council of Economic Advisors. 1 have known and worked with Dr. Tyson
for several years, when I was Director of the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency
(DARPA) and currently as Chanman and CEO of the Microelectronics and Computer
Technology Corporation (MCC) consortium of information technology and aerospace

companies. Dr. Tyson has assumed a leadership role in focusing, most effectively, on

U.S. economic competitiveness, productivity and growth.

Dr. Tyson has superb training and experience in classical economics. She has such deep
command of her craft and science that she is able to innovate in light of changing
circumstances and environment for the U.S. Changes include a U.S. economy
increasingly driven by worker and management skills and training, ratlier than natural

resources or geography; globalization of corporations, finance and markets; and, high

technology as a key to success not only in 'liigh tech" industry but in all indusa7, large

corporations
and sinall businesses alike. Anybody with a lesser background woukl be

adrift, applying textbook lessons by rote rather than reason.

Dr. Tyson's sphere of experience extends well beyond academia. She has had sufficient

engagement witli Federal and state government to realistically understand what can and

cannot be done. Slic lias strong and long standing relationships with industry, appreciating
the problems and prospects tor the U.S. business and labor conununitics. Wlien her

nomination was announced tliere was uniform suppon from the indusuy segments in my
consortium, electronk^s and aerospace

-- two of the industries providing the most medium-
and high-value-added jobs for the Nation. Her understanding of and constructive

relationships with industry means that she is trusted. That trust can be an invaluable asset

for tlie new Administration as it seeks to buiW a partnership between industry and

government.

On a personal level Dr. Tyson is warm, open and easy to work wiili. When she makes a

decision everyone
is sure they have had their fair opportunity to express their views. She

is one of the fastest learners I have ever encountered, and is open to new ideas. She can

play an important role in building consensus on the Nation's economic future among
departments in the government and witJi committees of tlie Congress.
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January 14, 1993
Senator Donald W. Rieglc, Jr.

Page 2

History will sliow tliat Dr. Tyson's nominaiion Is one of the wisest of Prcsideni-Elect
ainton. and I liavc every confidence slie will be confirmed by, and fully supported by, the
Senate.

Sincerely,

Craig Fieldr
Chainnan and CEO
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UNI VERSITY of PE.\.\S YL VA NIA
PHILADELPHIA 19104

Lawrence R. Klein Department of Economics

Benjamin Franklin Professor of Economics 3718 LOCUST Walk CR
Emeritus

13 January 1993

The Hon. Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing
and Uiban Affairs

United States Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington, DC 20510-6075

FAX: (202)224-5137

Dear Senator Riegle:

The designation of Professor Laura Tyson as Chairperson of the Council of Economic

Advisers is a very thoughtful selection. I enjoyed participating with her for several years (2

rounds) on the Cuomo Commission, dealing with matters of competitiveness and growth of the

US economy.

I found her to be an excellent committee participant who consistently did the appropriate

homework and had much to contribute. I sympathize a great deal with her position on our

country's trade and the need to advance our position both through vigorous market competition

and associated policies at all levels of government. Her latest book on this subject, Who is

Bashing Whom?, shows strong professional competence, as well as an ability to see through

trade problems from various sides - business, government, multilateral agencies.

At an earlier stage of her career, she participated very constructively in lively discussions

on the building of statistical models of the Soviet economy. Her economics background on the

economies of Eastern Europe showed up clearly in the interchanges among specicdists, and she

impressed me as one who has certainly mastered the technical details.

Without hesitation. I support Professor Tyson's selection for appointment as head of the

Council of Economic Advisers.

Sincerely, /

LRK/BAM
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Council on Competitiveness

January 15, 1993

Honorable Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman

Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

United Staets Senate

Washington, D. C. 20510

Dear Senator Riegle:

1 am writing to strongly endorse the nomination of

Professor Laura Tyson to be the Chair of the President's

Council of Economic Advisers.

She brings to the position solid academic credentials

and a growing body of scholarly work. In her latest volume,
she explores the question of international trade in a range of

industries where markets are impert'ect and there is, as well.

an active government role. The Council's current project on

trade, technology and investment is building on Professor

Tyson's work and insights.

In addition to her research. Professor Tyson brings
several other very important qualities to the position. She has

taught in business schools as well as departments of economics

which has given her a heightened sense of a world in which

risk and uncertainty are common elements. She will bring that

added perspective to her advice for a President who, like the

private sector, faces an uncertain economic future.

As the country enters the post-Cold War era, we are

adding a growing concern about our long-term economic

prospects to a decade-long preoccupation with a geopolitics of

containing international communism. Professor Tyson and her

colleagues at the Berkeley Roundtable on International

Economics have been among the leaders in thinking about the

long term road strategy for an America that is \cry much part

of the global economy. Several of her colleagues contnbuted

to the report of President Reagan's Commission on Industrial

Competitiveness, better know as the Young Commission after

its chairman John Young, just reured CEO of Hewlett Packard.

900 17'" Street. NW • Suite 1050 • VVashinmon. DC 20006
(2021785-3990 • FAX (202) 785-3998
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Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

January 15, 1993

Paee Two

I am sure that Professor Tyson will be an effecuve and creative voice in the

Clinton Administranon. Our economic policy will be the better for her advice. It is

with real enthusiasm that I can speak on her nomination.

Sincerely,

Kent H. Hughes
President
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January 14, 1993

Senat-.cv i' "aid W. Riegle, Jr.
Cha ; rra^ ',

Cott . itt*? DanJcmg, Housing, and Urban Affairs
Uniu d Scates Senate
534 Dir)csen Building
Washington, DC 20510-6075

Dear Mr. Chairman:

I write in support of the appointment of Dr.
Laura D' Andrea Tyson to the position of Chairman of
the Council of Economic Advisers.

I first became acquainted with Dr. Tyson's work
seven or eight years ago. At that time I was working
for a high-technology American company with growing
business interests overseas. I also chaired a working
group on Japan at the National Association of
Manufacturers. Dr. Tyson's analysis of what other
governments do to promote their own industries struck
me as extremely well-informed and realistic.

Here at the Institute I'm working on a book about
what to do with the post-Cold War global defense
industry. I continue to draw inspiration from Dr.

Tyson's work, especially her clear, rigorous and well
thought out discussion of "strategic" industries.

Dr. Tyson combines many virtues: intelligence,
modesty, tough-mindedness and warmth. She is a well
trained economist with "mainstream" credentials, but
she has had the courage to depart from conventional
economic thinking. She will bring fresh perspectives
to what may well be a critical turning point for the
U.S. economy. I strongly support her confirmation.

Sincerely,

5^.-33<S

Ellen L. Frost
Senior Fellow
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Jani-ary ;5, 1993

Senator Donald W. Rlegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs
United Stat«8 Senate

Daar Senator Riegle,

I would lik« to endorse In the strongest poeelble terms
the candidacy of Laura D'Adr«a Tyson for the position of
ohairwoman of the Council of Economic Advisors.

I have known Ms. Tyson for over five years, and, In my
view. 8h« is an excellent economist, an extremely astute and
balanced policy analyst, an extraordinary team player. You
win not find anyone else who has given more thought -- and
original thought — to national and International problems,
nor someone with a greater gift for articulating her Ideas to

experts and laymen alike. You will not find anyone who Is more

capable of making a valuable contibutlpn tc heated debates
where the "right" answer is not black or white but painted 1n

shades of grey.

Without question, her contibutiona to deliberations 1n-
the Executive Branch will be enormous, and I predict that she
will elevate the CEA's position in all the arenas of national

policy. But I alao believe that she will become one of the

Congress's most sought after officials to exchange views

privately and in public hearings, so powerful is her ability
to explain the complicated intersection of economics and

public policy, to separata the real choices, and to put
forward thoughtful recommendatlona.

I hold these views not just as someone who has one foot in
the academic world, being as I am a professor at the Columbia
Graduate School of Business. In addition, I have spent the

past fourteen years on Wall Street, and prior to that I held a

variety of senior economic policy posts in the Nixon, Ford and
Carter administrations. I have also had the privilege, I might
add, to testify before your committee on such subjects ae
third world debt, competitiveness, and Japan. In all these
experiences I have had the chance to interact with a broad

range of the nation's most accomplished economists.

I can put it simply. Ms. Tyson represents the very best
that America has to offer.

Cft^
Jeffrey E. Garten
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Econonilc Strateirv IiL^iitute

1100 (,"()ntH'ctifui Avenue. NW
Suite 1300

Washington, DC 20036

Telephone: 202/728-OW3
Facsimile: 202/728-0gg8

January 14, 1993

Senator Donald W. Reigle, Jr.

Chairman

Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

United States Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington, DC 20510-6075

Dear Don:

I am writing conceming the nomination of Laura Tyson as Chairman of the Council of

Economic Advisors.

I believe she is an outstanding choice. She brings a knowledge of the real world that has

been sorely missing at the CEA for a long time.

I urge her speedy confirmation.

Best regards.

Clyde V. Prestowitz, Jr.

President

ESI
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January 15, 1993

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking,
Housing and Urban Affairs
United States Senate
534 Senate Dirksen Building
Washington, D.C. 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

I write to urge your favorable consideration of

the nomination of Laura D' Andrea Tyson to head the Council
of Economic Advisers. As Chairman of Governor Cuomo 's

Commmission on Competitiveness, I have worked closely with
Laura Tyson during the past six years on our studies of
national economic policy. This experience convinces me that
she is an outstanding choice to lead the Council.

It should be evident that Laura Tyson has the
academic and intellectual credentials for the task. Her
work has demonstrated that she has a realistic understanding
about the economy and the many factors that influence
economic performance. Just as significant, Laura Tyson has
the personal qualities and skills to make an important
contribution to the President-elect's economic team.

Throughout our work together on the Cuomo Commission, she
has been an outstanding team player, advocating her position
effectively and at the same time helping form a consensus
and responding with grace and style to the positions
advocated by others .
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On Sunday, the New York Times Business Section
will publish an op ed piece by Lee Smith and myself on Laura
Tyson's appointment. I am enclosing a copy of that article.
It makes the argument, which I would like to repeat to the
members of your Committee, that the challenge of global
competition makes it important that the head of the CEA be
able to articulate not only the options available for
macroeconomic policy, but also the initiatives needed to
address long term structural problems that influence
economic performance and the standard of living for all
Americans. America's competitiveness determines how well
Americans live. Our economic performance turns not just on
macroeconomic factors but also on such factors as

technology, trade, education, training, corporate governance
and public investment. During the campaign the President-
elect spoke of a realistic and aggressive program to deal
with the underlying structural issues that have contributed
to stagnating standards of living and sub-par performance of
America's economic system. Laura Tyson's expertise on these
issues as well as her understanding of macroeconomics gives
the new Administration a leader for the Council of Economic
Advisers capable of participating with other members of the
economic team in shaping a long-term program to rebuild
America's economic strength.

In addition to these important qualifications,
Laura Tyson is a terrific person, who will bring to the job
personal qualities of openness, integrity and candor that
will help all of you as you tackle the serious challenges
confronting our economy.

For all these reasons, I commend Laura Tyson to

you and your colleagues. I hope that your consideration of
her nomination will convince you, as my experience with her
has convinced me, that she will be a distinguished leader of
the Council of Economic Advisers .

Very truly yours,

Lewis B. Kaden
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Tyson's a Terrific Choice

by Lewis Kaden and Lee Smith

A few disgruntled economists have criticized the appointment

of Laura Tyson, suggesting that she lacked sufficient background in

quantitative theory to head the Council of Economic Advisers (CEA).

We know Laura Tyson well, having worked closely with her for the

past six years on the development of new national economic

policies. We believe that her far-ranging knowledge, her realism

about the global economy, and her consensus-building skills make

her an outstanding choice to chair the CEA.

By tradition, past presidents have given the top job at the

CEA to economists with reputations in macroeconomics -- experts on

how government monetary and fiscal policies influence the level of

demand, hence the rate of growth and level of unemployment. For

moat of the post-World War II era, we could afford to worry just

about managing the business cycle, with little global competition

and the world's most modern factories, American industry achieved

the high levels of productivity growth necessary for a steadily

rising standard of living.

Starting in the late 1970s America's economic problems spread

beyond the cyclical problem of growth and recession to the long-

term structural problem of a declining standard of living caused by

68-191 -0-93-6
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diminiahing competitivenos . The conventional view was that our

corapetitivenese problem was due to an overvalued dollar, which

would be corrected by the proper nxacroeconomic policy -- dollar

devaluation. Yet despite a cheaper dollar for the past five years,

our trade deficits remain huge, and American standards of living

continue to stagnate.

Tyson, like our Commission, has argued that a purely

raacroeconomic response to competitiveness problems, primarily by

lowering the value of the dollar, was too narrow a policy. How

well we produce determines how well we live. Excellence in

production in turn depends on factors such as technology, trade

policy, public investment, education, employee participation, and

corporate governance. These concerns are now widely understood, in

and outside academia, to be critical to economic performance.

To address these problems, the president-elect is seeking a

more realistic, structural approach to economic policy that will

hasten the needed reforms in America's economic system. One

element of the strategy is a new macroeconomic policy to increase

private and public investment, thus spurring demand to strengthen

the current recovery, as well as to make industry more competitive

and to achieve major deficit reduction over the course of the next

five years .

But we should not stop with investment and long-terro deficit

reduction. The second element is structural reform of schools,
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training systemG, corporate governance, and the policy-making

proceeB. The shortcoming of America's institutions -- from labor

markets to inner-city schools -- are holding Americans back. While

managers, workers, investors, parents, and educators will have to

take the lead in most of these reforms, Washington can help

enormously if policymakers understand the institutions that make

for excellence in production and the role for positive government

action.

The president's chief economist has to be able to articulate

the administration's structural economic policy. That is one of

the reasons that Tyson is such an excellent choice for CEA. She

will provide the economic realism and expertise in trade,

investment, industrial structures, technology as well as

macroeconomics needed to help the president-elect shape a long-tenn

program of economic renewal.
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15 January 1993

The Honorable Donald W. Riegle, Jr.
Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs
United States Senate

Dear Senatof Riegle:

I am writing in support of the nomination of Laura D' Andrea
Tyson to be Chairman of the President's Council of Economic
Advisors. Ms. Tyson is a superb choice whom I believe with aerve
with great distinction in this position.

The choice of Laura Tyson represents an obvious departure
from past Presidential appointments to chair the CEA in one
significant respect. Laura Tyson's published work, her extensive
experience, and her interest; emphasize the importance of the
composition of the American economy as well as aggregate levels
of activity. This is a profound difference that is vital to our
country's interests as we enter the Post Cold Mar Era. U.S.

manufacturing and high value-added services have been ignored by
much of the academic economic profession and by many of the
economists who have served in government. The United States can
no longer afford to be indifferent.

The time has come for the Executive, Congress, industry and
labor to work together to improve American competitiveness. I

know that the Semiconductor Industry Association, with whom I

have worked for the last 13 years, is very favorably impressed
with Ms. Tyson and her work. Basic industries can benefit
equally from the fresh approach and interest which Ms. Tyson
brings to this field. Many in industry believe that she can help
formulate public policies that will support America's maintaining
and enhancing its position in world industry. The Committee
should recognize that the appointment of Ms. Tyson is clearly
part of the mandate which the President-elect received for
change.

I urge prompt and favorable action on Ms. Tyson's
nomination.

Very truly yours,

// /'

Miwiom TiSniKCTO!* U)S OCEIXS LO.XDO.N
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Felix G. Rohatvn
One Rockefelxer Plaza

New York.N. Y looso

January 14. 1993

Senator Donald W. Riegle.'Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

UNITED STATES SENATE
534 Senate Dirksen Building
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20510-6075

Dear Don,

I know that you will be holding hearings on the confirmation of
Laura Tyson for Chairman of the Council of Economic Advisors. I

have had the pleasure of knowing and working with Ms. Tyson, most

recently as a member of the Cuomo Commission which did extensive

work on the economy over a period of two years or so. I have the

highest regard for Ms. Tyson as an econonrust and I have found her a

pleasure to work with and to know personally.

I support her confirmation without any hesitation whatsoever.

Kindest regards.

Sincerely,
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i
4780 Docccr Sircct

Washington DC 20007

; Januar.- 14, 1993

Dear Senator Riegle: . ;

i

I im writing to express enthusiastic support for the nomination of Laura Tyson to

chair of the Council of Economic Advisors. In my view, the choice of Ms. Tyson for this

post is the single bcsc selection Presidenc-clect Clinton made in narmng his senior

appoinrrrx. I hope, aoH a.«;iimr, that your commirrrr: will approve her
fa.<;ily.

I am sure thic you arc aware of Ms. Tyson's professional background. She has

written for more dian a decade abouc the very issues that liavc concerned your conuiiittcc

and tlut President-elect Clinton has said he will emphasize: strategics for raising the

national growth rate, the ingredients of nadonal competirivcncss, the proper conditions to

foster high-tech industries, and the right interaction between govemment pohcy and

private indusoial giowtfi. Her new book. Who V Bashing Whom, considers these issues and

many others in a thoughcfiil and practical-minded wa.y. '_-. . _,...

You are aware that the selection of Ms. Tyson initially provoked grumbling from a

number of other economists. Some of this wis pure sour grapes, from young men who

had felt endtled to the job. More of it reflected a difference within the profession
- and a

difference that reflects endrely to Ms. Tyson's credit. The CEA has often been considered

a redoubt for thcorcucally-oricntcd macroecono mists, whose main specially was ahstraa

modeling of the rmnomy. M.i. Tywin'.-; .^perialry ha.<; hern a miir.h more rralisrir, derailffi

analysis of how the modern economic world aaually fiinctions. In my view, it leajt, the

time is certainly right for her approach. (I attach a commentary I did for Niiionii Public

Radio on this subject.)

I

For purposes of idcndfication, I should disclose that I am the Washington Editor

of the Atlantic Monthly magazine, and a regular commentator for Nadonal PubLc Radio.

This is, however, a personal lener of support for Ms. Tyson, based on having followed her

work for several years. Naturally the organizadons for which I work are not taking any

posidon on this issue.

Again, I hope very much that you recommend Ms. Tyson for coniirirudon. I am

sending a signed copy of this letter by regular mail

Sincerely,

janio I'allows
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I
/\nochcf ol Preidoni-eJect Climon's nominacions is expected to encounter vcrv Lttie resistance in

Congress: tiiit ol Laura Tyson, in economist !rom the University ot CiJomia at ueikdey, to bead ii>e

Council of Economic /vdvisors. But other economists hive been loudly criticizing the choice in the press.

Contincntator Junes FiUows says that the confiplaincs say more about tJie deficiencies of the protession

thin (hose of ibe nominee.}

Laura. Tyson hii spenc the last decade on subjects that would seem quite relevant in the

Clinton age
— shifts in narionaJ competidvencss, how high-tech industries rise and fall. But

when her appointment was announced squeals of wounded pride went up from the economics

csoblishmcnt. Robert Lawrence of Harvard, for mstancc, said the choice must mean that

Clinton wanted to advise himself. Paul Krugman of MIT, an early favorite for the job, pointed

out that the cstahlLshed "pecking order" among economists had been ignored. There were many
similai complaints.

Why should economists be such sore losers, compared, say, to disappointed ondidatcs

for secretary of state? The dispute has less to do with Tyson than with the conflict between two

approaches to economics: hers, with its look at specific burcaucnacs and poliaes and firms,

and the highly theoredcal economics now in academic vogue.

In the days of Adam Smith or even John Maynard Keynes, economists wrote mainly

with words, not graphs or niunbcrs, and they knew that their real subject was human behavior,

which foQowed certain patterns but was not subject to hard scientific proof. After World War

II uiuversity economics, espeaally in America, became much mere matii-bound and abstract.

Its big names, the macroeconomic analysts, rose above the details of how factories or

govcriinicnl agencies actually behaved — ihc kind of details Tyson liai enipliasi/rj. Tlicy

specialized instead in theoretical models of how economies should behave. TTie Creadon of a

Nobel award in economics in 1969 reinforced the idea that economics was a branch of pure

science, a kind of physics that happened to deal with the vclodty of money rather than the

speed of light.

In reality economics remained about as precise as polidcal science. That is, it used

mathcmadcal tools and constandy refined its understanding but was completely in the dark

about many big quesdons. Since the Nobel award was esablished, American economists have

virtually monopolized it, and Japanese, Koreans, and Germans have been shut out. During that

same period, of course, the dollar lost two thirds of its value against the yen. Good theoretical

economists and a good economy remain two different things.

Nonetheless, theoreacal economics retained its glamour, and its sciendfic aurai— and, to

bring us back to Laura Tyson, its view of the Council of Economic advisors as the enddcmcnt

for its brightest luath-gciiius stais. Many of these same high-flyeis. as die coluinrust Robat

Kuttner has pointed out. display a Bobby Fisher-like imbalance between their anal\'ucal and

their social skills. And so when Tj-son
— a woman who wrote about history and scmiconducror

pohcies and was perhaps not as good at math — took the job ihac was righthillv theirs, their

sense of basic justice was outraged, and dicy let out their primal criv

As we wait for tlic din to die down, the rest of us know hc~ wc U imije Ijurs Tvsoii:

not on the elegance of her models but by v/bcdier her ideas worL
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January 18, 1993 '"*''^^*

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.
Chairman, Committee on Banking,
Housing and Urban Affairs

United States Senate
534 Senate Dirksen Building
Washington, D.C. 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

I write on behalf of Laura Tyson to Chair President-
Elect Clinton's Council of Economic Advisors.

I have known Dr. Tyson, professionally and socially,
since the early 1980' s, when I met her at the Berkeley Roundtable
on the International Economy. My professional and academic
interests were, and have been, largely focused on competition
issues, and increasingly on our corporate sector's capacity to
meet international competition in global markets. Accordingly, I
had, and have, a real interest in Dr. Tyson's works and writings,
and have read much of them. I have, moreover, participated in
professional meetings with her, and served with her as a member
of Governor Cuomo 's Commission on Competitiveness.

I believe, therefore, that I eun gualified to speak of
her competence as an economist, and as the potential Chairperson
of the Council.

I enclose a copy of an Op-Ed piece from the New York
Times of January 17, 1993. I concur totally with the views
expressed by the Chairman and Executive Director of Governor
Cuomo 's Commission, with whom Dr. Tyson and I served. I could
not say it any better.

Of equal importance to me, however, are two more of Dr.

Tyson's characteristics: she is articulate, and can communicate
complex concepts in an understandable manner. While I hesitate
to say this is uncharacteristic of some in her field, it surely
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WEiu GoTSHAL 6, Manges

Senator Donald w. Riegle, Jr.
January 18, 1993
Page 2

is a useful and desirable characteristic for someone who will
need to articulate complex economic concepts; and, she has,
additionally, a capacity to listen patiently, and to understand
many points of view. I have never found her to be doctrinaire or
unwilling to listen meaningfully to all sides of an issue being
considered. Indeed, at close hand, in earlier work with her on
the Governor's Commission, I observed her ability to bring
consensus out of some highly divergent views on the trade issue.

In short, I believe Dr. Tyson will bring to her new
position high intelligence, outstanding integrity, and leadership
qualities, in addition to the qualities described in the enclosed
Op-Ed piece.

Very truly yours.

Lstein*

Enclosure

* Ira M. Millstein is Chairman of the Board of Advisors of
Columbia University School of Law's Institutional Investor
Project, the Lester Crown Visiting Faculty Fellow at the Yale
School of Organization and Management, and Senior Partner at the
law firm of Weil, Gotshal & Manges. In 1989, he served as
Chairman of the New York State Pension Investment Task Force- He
recently served on the Project Advisory Committee of the Council
on Competitiveness and as a member of the Corporate Governance &
Financial Markets Subcouncil of the Competitiveness Policy
Council, &ii<± the Cuomo Commission on Competitiveness.
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Economic Policy Institute
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January 15. 1993

Senator Donald W. Riegle. Jr.

Chairman
Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

United States Senate
534 Dirksen Senate Office Building

Washington. D.C. 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

It is with great pleasure that I write to support President-elect Clinton's

choice of Laura D'Andrea Tyson to be the Chair of the Council of Economic
Advisers and to urge the Senate to confirm her nomination.

Laura Tyson will bring to the leadership of the Council an impressive
academic background and strong expertise in economic research which will

enable her to lead the Council in its traditional role of providing
macroeconomic analysis and advice to the President. In addition, her work on

international competitiveness and trade, and on the link between technology
and manufacturing will help the President and his Administration promote the

national interest in this new era in which other nations are using government
policy to create comparative advantage in industries which are crucial to

economic success.

Dr. Tyson's academic career of scholarship, research and teaching at

MIT. Princeton, and at the University of California at Berkeley have put her at

the forefront of the economics profession. Her work as a founder of the

Berkeley Roundtable on the International Economy, as a member of the

Economic Policy Institute's Economic Advisory Board, as a member of the

Cuomo Commission, and as an active participant in policy fora in Washington
and around the country has made her a leading voice in the debate about what

government can and cannot do to build a strong economy. Her work has also

given her a systematic exposure to the problems faced by government,
business and labor in trying to devise policies to build successful firms and

high performance (and high-wage) workforces.



167

Senator Riegle

January 15. 1993

Page 2

When he announced tJiIs nomination. President-elect Clinton indicated

that "the CouncU of Economic Advisers will be more central to my
administration than in any since the administration of President Kennedy."
In Laura Tyson he made the perfect choice of someone who can lead the

Council, advise him and his Administration, and work In a colleglal fashion

with the other members of his National Economic Commission to forge the

policies to rebuild the American economy and economic opportunity for

Americans.

I highly recommend Dr. Tyson for this position and urge you to approve
her nomination.
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Januarv 13, 1993

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

Chairman, Committee on Banking,

Housing and Urban Affairs

United States Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington, D.C. 21510-6075

Dear Chairman Riegle:

It is my understanding that your Committee will be holding a confirmation hearing on

January 21st for Laura D'Andrea Tyson as Chairman of the Council on Economic
Advisors. I am writing to support her nomination.

I have worked with Laura during the last several years, first during 1990 and 1991 when I

served as Chairman of the .Manufacturing Forum of the National Academies of Science and

Engineering, and then dunng 1992 as Chairman of the Manufacturing Subcouncil of the

Competitiveness Policy Council. She was a member of the Subcouncil.

As you know, Laura has been in a leadership position at the Berkeley Roundtable on

International Economics at the University of California at Berkley for a number of years
and has done extensive personal research and writing on issues and policies related to

economic growth, international trade, technology development, industrial productivity, and

competitiveness. She has participated in a wide variety of public policy study groups
related to these subjects.

Her high integrity and distinguished relevant experience qualify her for confirmation. She
will serve the nation well.

With best regards.

Sincerely,

Ruben F. Mettler

Retired Chaimian and CEO, TRW Inc.
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George M. C. Fisher

Chairman of the Board

Chiei Executive Officer

January 18, 1993

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.,

Chairman
Committee on Banking, Housing and

Urban Affairs

United States Senate

534 Senate Dirksen Building

Washington, DC 20510-6075

Dear Senator Riegle:

I am delighted to support Laura Tyson's nomination as Chair of

the Council of Economic Advisors. Dr. Tyson has been in

regular contact with Motorola throughout her involvement in

the Berkeley Roundtable for International Economy. She also

has been advisor to and facilitator for Motorola University. In

all of these interactions. Dr. Tyson has demonstrated superb
intellectual skills, excellent judgement, and outstanding
communications abilities.

Based on her extensive knowledge of the trade distorting

practices often used by cur global economic competitors, I

believe Dr. Tyson would bring a much needed dimension of

realism to the economic policies of this country. I believe Laura

Tyson is eminently qualified to Chair the Council of Economic

Advisors, and I wholeheartedly support her nomination.

Regards, ^_ -

George Fisher

GF:paf

Motorola inc.. Corocraie Offices

13J3 E. .Aiooncuin RociC, ScnaumDurq. iL cC196-i065 (708> 576-2200
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STATE 0"= NEW YORK

Executive Chamber

Albany 12224

(5 1 8) 474- 1 238

January 19, 1993

Senator Donald Riegle
Chairman of the Senate Committee on Banking,

Housing and Urban Affairs
Dirksen senate Office Building
Room 534
Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Senator Riegle:

I am writing to you to express my strong support for the
appointment of Laura Tyson to head the President's Council of
Economic Advisers. Over the past five years I worked with Ms. Tyson
on Governor Cuomo '

s Commission on Competitiveness, which afforded me
the opportunity to see first hand her exceptional intellectual
capabilities, her wide-ranging knowledge, and a personal style which
enables her to persuasively present complex ideas and to work with
others to reach consensus. In short, she has the expertise and the
personal capacity to be an extremely effective and influential
economic adviser to the President.

In her work with the Commission as well as in her professional
career, Ms. Tyson has argued that America's economic problems, in

particular our decline in international markets and stagnant living
standards, cannot be simply solved by purely macroeconomic
responses. Ms. Tyson argues that how well we live is determined by
how well we produce and she recognizes that excellence in production
in turn depends on structural economic factors such as technology,
trade policy, public investment, education, employee participation
and corporate governance.

As the State's Director of Economic Development, the structural
nature of our economic problems is very apparent. Despite a very
aggressive economic development program we have had a slow gradual

^ 1
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loss of jobs. The jobs are lost at the local level, but the process
Starts at the national or global level because of forces largely out
of the states' control. For example. Long Island has lost almost
100,000 defense-related jobs because Washington policymakers started
the cutbacks in defense spending without putting in place a parallel
program of conversion. When Smith Corona, and Trico, and other New
York companies moved thousands of jobs to Mexico, the proximate
cause was global, not local.

The President-elect is now seeking a more realistic, structural

approach to economic policy. One element of the strategy is a new
macroeconomic policy to increase private and public investment, thus

spurring demand to strengthen the current recovery, as well as make

industry more competitive, and to achieve major deficit reduction
over the course of the next five years. The second element is

structural reforms of schools, training systems, corporate
governance, and the policy-making process. The shortcoming of

America's institutions -- from labor markets to inner-city schools
-- are holding Americans back. While managers, workers, investors,
parents, and educators will have to take the lead in most of these

reforms, state and federal government can help. In areas as diverse
as university and business partner^LIps , development of new high
tech companies, promotion of energy efficiency, and facilitation of

employee buyouts. New York, like other states, has developed
innovative approaches and techniques that can be the base for a new
federal-state partnership for competitiveness.

In closing. Professor Tyson has what it takes to help the
President forge the comprehensive program the nation needs. I am

very pleased to be able to voice my support for her confirmation.

Sinderely;,

•Virtc'en^^Tese
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October 1991). The Europeans instead offered to cap launch aid at 45 percent
of total development cost.

Despite a number of promising contextual factors, including the growing
market share of Airbus, the budgetary constramts of its supporting governments,
and the more aggressive antisubsidy stance of the European Commission, nei-

ther the Americans nor the Europeans were willing to compromise much further,

and the talks broke down in early 1991. The United States then reactivated its

GATT complaint against the German exchange rate guarantee and lodged a second

complaint against other Airbus subsidies as a violation of the 1979 aircraft code.

In early 1992 a GATT panel finally ruled in favor of the United States in the former

case.**

The 1992 US-EC Bilateral Agreement

Under the pressure of this decision and the other pending gatt case, bilateral

talks between the two sides resumed. Surprisingly, these talks finally produced
a bilateral agreement that addressed all of the major points of contention. Box

5.2 contains a summary description of the 1992 agreement, which applies to all

future government involvement in the development of commercial aircraft of

100 seats or larger in both countries.

The agreement has several remarkable featiires. First, it establishes specific

quantitative limits on both direct and indirect (military) subsidies for the de-

velopment of new aircraft. The maximum allowable direct subsidy rate of 33

percent for the development cost of a new aircraft is dearly a compromise.
Identifiable benefits from indirect subsidies cire also restricted to 4 percent of

the value of each firm's annual sales. In light of earlier European charges that

American producers had benefited from huge indirect subsidies, this limit ap>-

pears low, but it reflects the fact that such subsidies are likely to be considerably
less imjx)rtant in the future than they have been in the past.

Second, the agreement resolves the dispute over which interest rate should

apply to the repayment of launch aid. Although the Europeans prevailed in

their choice of the government cost of borrov^ng over the commercial interest

rate, the Americans won terms that accelerate the repayment of such aid, thereby

reducing the value of lower borrowing costs. The United States also won another

major victory on the highly contentious question of transparency. The agreement
contains detailed reporting requirements that are essential to its enforcement.

Irondally, these requirements should also prove useful to the Europeans in their

ongoing efforts to increase the efficiency of the Airbus consortium.

Third, the agreement mandates at least two annucil meetings a year for the

purpose of monitoring its implementation, with additional meetings required
at the request of either side. Coupled with the transparency requirements, these

meeting requirements establish a framework for settling disputes.

Finally, the agreement explicitly proposes that its new disciplines be incor-

porated into the 1979 gatt agreement on civil aircraft and be adopted by all of

^. In July 1992, as part of the terms of a deal to complete the full pnvatization of Deutsche

'Airbus, the exchanee rate guarantee was offidaily terminated (New York Times. 20 July
1992. C5).

COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT INDUSTFIY 207
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Box 5.2 Provisions of the 1992 agreement between the United States and the

European Community on trade in civil aircraft

Aircraft covered

AJJ aircraft of 100 seats or larger are subject to the provisions of the agreement.

Direct support levels

Funds advanced by governments for aircraft development may not exceed 33 percent

of total development costs and are to be provided only to programs in which there

is a reasonable expectation of recoupment within 17 years.

Interest rates

Airbus will repay the first 25 percent of total development costs at the government
cost of borrowing (GCOB) within 17 years of first disbursement; the remaining 8 percent

will repaid at the GCOB plus 1 percent within 17 years of first disbursement.'

Repayment conditions

Airt)us will make repayments on a royalty or per-plane basis and in a specified manner
that limits backioading. Under previous practices, the terms and conditions on gov-

ernment launch aid to Airbus had allowed it to delay payment unhl late in the

repayment cycle, thereby increasing the value of low-cost support.

Prior commitments
The agreement does not apply to any prior or outstanding government support
committed to large civil aircraft programs.

Indirect supports
Both sides agree that indirect (i.e., military) supports should neither confer unfair

advantage on manufacturers of civil aircraft nor lead to distortions in international

trade in such aircraft.

Identifiable benefits from indirect support are limited to 3 percent of the value of

industry-wide turnover in each signatory and 4 percent of the value of each firm's

annual sales. Benefits will pnmarUy be calculated as cost reductions in the devel-

opment of a dvij aircraft program realized from technology acquired through gov-

ernment R&D programs.

Transparency
Both sides agree to exchange, on a regular and systematic basis, information on the

total amount of government support for new development projects and its share in

total development costs; the terms and conditions of such support; aggregate data

on disbursements and repayments relating to direct government support; and ag-

gregate amounts of identifiable indirect support. In addition, both sides agree to

provide a complete list of prior disbursements and commitments, including infor-

mation on the type of repayment obligation and the planned repayment period.

Inducements and offsets

By clarifying rules on inducements in the 1979 catt agreement, the 1992 agreement

strengthens the prohibition on governments conferring special favors in exchange
for aircraft purchases. Both sides agree that such inducements include foreign military

or economic aid and landing rights.

Escape clause on emergency aid

Either side may temporarily derogate from the agreement, with the excqjtion of the

develoyment support provisions, if the survival and financial viability of an aircraft man-

ufacturer are m jeopardy. Any such withdrawal would require consultations with

representatives of the other side, full disclosure of information to justify the with-

drawal, and full explanation of the remedy to be used.

Production supports
No further production subsidies are allowed.

208 WHO'S BASHING WHOM^
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Equity infusions

Equity infusions are excluded from the agreement. However, both sides commit
themselves not to provide equity in such a manner as to undermine the effectiveness

of the agreement.

Oispute settlement mechanisms
Both sides will consult at least twice a year to ensure the functioning of the agreement.
Either side nwy request consultabons related to the agreement at any time. Such
consultations must be held no later than 30 days after they are requested.

1. The United States had wanted commerdal interest rates to apply but finally accepted the

European position.

SouTxx: Adapted from "Agreement Concerning the Application of the Gatt Agreement on Trade

in Gvil Aircraft."

its signatories. In fact, the Europeans had hoped to get them to participate in

the new agreement from the beginning, but this strategy was seen as a delaying
tactic by the Americans, who suggested multilateralizing the bilateral agreement
at a later date. The United States prevailed on this point, but both sides have

wasted no time in recommending the extension of their bilateral deal to other

interested gatt members.

Despite its specificity on some bitterly contested issues, the 1992 agreement
does contain some important loopholes. An emergency escap>e clause allows

either side to derogate temporarily from its terms—with the exception of those

covering direct development supports
— if the surviva' and financial viability of

an aircraft manufacturer are jeopardized. Such a withdrawal requires prior con-

sultations and the disclosure of full information for justification. In the event of

a withdrawal, the agreement's prohibitions on production subsidies, induce-

ments, equity transfusions, and other forms of government assistance could be

temporarily relaxed. Given the highly cyclical nature of the market for global

aircraft, both sides saw an escape clause as a necessary condition for accepting
the agreement.
The agreement also explicitly allows the use of national trade laws to address

all conflicts other than those relating to the magnitude and terms of direct and

indirect government supp>orts. This means that trade actions involving such

issues as dumping, intellectual property protection, and business practices are

not precluded.

Finally, the agreement can be terminated by either side at the end of one year.

Thereafter, unilateral withdrawal from the agreement can only take effect 12

months after prior notification of an intent to withdraw.

Overall, the 1992 agreement is a noteworthy accomplishment for both sides

*nd a major improvement over the 1979 aircraft agreement. Although it has

t*en criticized by some US observers (but not by the American producers, who
support it) because it allows the Europeans to continue to subsidize Airbus, this

criticism overlooks a crucial point: because of the industry's underlying eco-

nomics, government support for the development of new aircraft cannot and

should not be ruled out altogether. Rather the challenge is to specify parsimon-
ious and precise rules that permit subsidies for beneficial innovation and corn-

Petition while precluding rent-shifting subsidies that injure all parties. The 1992

COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT INDUSTRY 209
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agreement meets this challenge by proscnbing certain kinds of
beggar-thy-neigh-

bor and efficency-reducing subsidies, such as inducements and production sub-

sidies, while controlling potentially beneficial development subsidies
through

specific rules and enforcement mechanisms.

Why were the United States and the European Conunuiuty finally able to

agree in some detail on issues they had been debating for years? The
growing

competitive success of Airbus was a major consideration on both sides. By I992

Europe had realized its long-term goal of building a European producer that

was Boeing's comf>etitive equal. As Airbus's share of the market grew, its need

for public development assistance diminished, and some of its European sup-

porters seized upon the opportumty to economize on their future commitments.

It also seems likely that, having realized their goal, the Europeans wanted to

secure Airbus's place in the global industry by deterring the entry of new sub-

sidized foreign comp>etitors in the future. In this respect, ihe proposed deal

between McDonnell Douglas and Taiwan Aerospace (discussed below) may have

been a factor encouraging the Europeans to compromise, in the expectation that

a bilateral deal with the United States would cover the possible provision of

subsidies by Taiwan and other Asian governments to McDonnell Douglas.

The success of Airbus also motivated the American producers, especially Boeing,

to accept a compromise. By the end of 1991, their patience with the Europeans
was wecuing thin. Infant-industry subsidies to level the playing field were one

thing; generous beggar-thy-neighbor subsidies to grab mairket share were quite

another. Even Boeing, which had previously counseled patience, was beginning
to cu-gue that unilateral American action would soon be required if bilatend

negotiations continued to fail.*^ Clearly, however, a bilateral agreement was

preferable as long as it imposed enforceable limits on European subsidies that

left the playing field relatively level for the development of future aircraft models.

Finally, both Europe and the United States may have been moved to com-

promise because of excess capacity conditions in the global market^ and the

growing danger of a trade or subsidy war that would dissipate rents for both

sides.

Challenges Facing the American Commercial
Aircraft Industry

The 1992 agreement contains but by no means eliminates the external challenge

to the American aircraft industry posed by continued European support for

Airbus. And it does nothing to reverse the damage done by past support. Boeing

49. Boeing is understandably intent on trying to reach some 'level-playing-field" agree-
ment on the Launch subsidy question before Airbus makes good on its intention to Launch

the 350, which would pose a major competitive alternative to the Boeing 747. In a January
1992 speech before the Council on Foreign Relations, Boeing Chief Executive Officer Fnmk
A. Shrontz argued that "enough is enough" and expressed his opinion that Boeing had

a strong case for retaliatory action against Europe under US trade law.

50. According to Wall Street projections, with which Boeing officials Largely concur, total

annual demand for new aircraft deliveries is not likely to exceed 600 airplanes per year
for the next decade, whereas current industry production capacity is 1,000 airplanes per

year and climbing.
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WASHINGTON POST December 12, 1992

Tyson \^llling

To Confront

Rivals of U.S.

By Peter Behr
W.ishingion Host Sl;ilf Wriltr

Turning his back on the main-
stream economics profession. Presi-

dent-elect Clinton yesterday picked
as his chief economist Laura D'An-
drea Tyson, a University of Califor-

nia at Berkeley professor known for

her willingness to cont'ront Japan and

Europe over the issue of industrial

competitiveness.

Unlike many of her predecessors
as chairman of the president's Coun-
cil of Economic Advisers (CEA), Ty-
son. 45, is not a top-ranked econo-

nust whose vita boasts studies of the

broad forces at work in the economy
and forecasts.

Her realm is the finer detail of

semiconductors, jet engines and alu-

minum smelters, which she and her

colleagues at Berkeley have exam-
ined. Tyson is best known for her

case studies of American industries

in trouble.

Tyson has argued that the federal

government must monitor the health

of the most critical industries, steer

federal research funding their way
junder certain conditions and use

trade sanctions to keep foreign com-

petitors from unfairly targeting
these industnes.

"She's a very good, formal eco-

nomic modeler. She has the techni-

cal side of it," said a Berkeley col-

league, Michael Borrus. "But her
focus is on the way the economy ac-

tually works, rather than just what
the models say."

LAURA D'ANDREA TYbON
. . . calls herself a "cautious activist"

Tyson's microeconomic focus on

specific industries and her willing-

ness to mix it up with Japan and Eu-

rope on trade provoked some ques-
tions from her colleagues in the

economics profession.

"She's a good economist," said

Massachusetts Institute of Technol-

ogy economics professor Paul Krug-
man, but "not one of the superstars.
It's a bit surprising that Clinton did

not name an economist with a really

strong macroeconomic side." Krug-
man, who wanted the job himself,

said fellow economists feel a lot of

goodwill toward her.

Barry Bosworth, a Brookings In-

stitution economist who served in

the Carter, Nbcon and Johnson ad-

ministrations, predicted Tyson
would have trouble recruiting top-

ranked colleagues to fill out the oth-

er two positions on the council.

Bosworth said Clinton's decision

to create a new National Economic

Council in the White House to coor-

dinate economic policy, with Wall

Street executive Robert E. Rubin in
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charge, and the choice of Tyson may
signal a downgrading of the CEA.

But Clinton—perhaps anticipating

the criticism—sought to elevate the

council's role yesterday.

In selecting Tyson, T looked for

someone who possesses not only an

exceptional analytical reputation, but

someone with a capacity to under-

stand the underlying political and

global realities that affect our ability

to compete."

And Tyson did not apologize for

breaking the mold.

"We definitely need sound fiscal

policies. We definitely need sound

monetary policies," she said, citing

the traditional policy cornerstones of

budget discipline and inflation re-

straint. "But we need other things as

well. . . . We need competitive
American companies. We need new

technologies. . . . We need an open
international trading system."

While she declines the label of an

"extreme" free trader, she says
she's no protectionist, either.

"Cautious activist," is the tag Ty-
son pins on herself: "activist," be-

cause of the more direct role for

government that she advocates and

"cautious" because of the risks that

entails.
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Robert Kuttner j„p Washington Post January 7, 1993

Real-World Economist
The nation's leading economists,

who gathered this past week for the

annual meeting of the American

Economic Association, are upset

that Bill Clinton did not draw from

the old boy network to select his

chief economist. Instead he picked

Laura d'Andrea Tyson of the Uni-

versity of California at Berkeley, an

unconventional economist with a

dazzling intellect who chooses to

work in English rather than algebra

and to study the real economy rath-

er than build sand castles.

When Tyson was named, collect-

ing uncharitable comments from the

profession's leading macroeconomists

was as easy as trolling for bluefish

during a feeding frenzy. Economics,

especially macroeconomics, tends to

attract mathematical theorists, many
of whom are astonishingly iiuiocent of

actual economic institutions. These

whiz kids, often tenured before age

30, thrill each other with arcane ma-

nipulations of models, many of which

depend on assumptions not rooted in

economic reality.

Tyson is a different sort of econo-

mist. She received her doctorate at

MIT, perhaps the leading graduate

department in economics. But as di-

rector of the Berkeley Roundtable on

the International Economy, most of

Tyson's scholarly work has been on

technology, trade and competitive-

ness—issues of no small interest for,

say, a president of the United States.

Mast standard economic models

assume what economists call "perfect

competition," in which supply, de-

mand and price are set by purely

market forces. But in the real world

of commerce, governments often in-

tervene to promote economic devel-

opment, military R&D spending spills

over into commercial technology, and

companies conspire to set prices.

Most economists don't like the

real world of imperfect competition,

because it requires investigation of

actual institutions that are too

messy for neat computer modeling.

Instead, they urge policy-makers to

seek a world more like the one in

their textbooks.

Tyson's recent book, "Who's

Bashing Whom?," is a study of inter-

national commerce, and its attendant

politics, in a world where most gov-

ernments intervene to seek competi-
tive advantage for their industries. It

is grounded in Tyson's careful re-

search, at Berkeley and the Harvard

Business School, of several real-

world industries, their interactions

with their governments and their

government's conflict with each oth-

er about what constitutes fair play.

In the past, most macroeconomists

have insisted that it doesn't much
matter if other nations protect their

industries and that the main job of the

U.S. government is to set a good ex-

ample. Tyson noticed that several

American industries were going un-

der because of foreign government-

industry collaborations and assessed

the practical policy choices.

As Tyson's work came to promi-

nence in the late 1980s. C. Fred

Bergsten, head of the prestigious In-

stitute for International Economics,

gamely invited Tyson to write her

book under his institute's auspices.

This raised eyebrows, because Ty-

son was not a member of the free-

trade club that IIE epitomizes.
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I recall Bergsten saying that if _
^managed trade" were going to be

taken seriously, he wanted the best

professional economist sympathetic
to that view to make the best possi-

ble case, so that the issue could be

properly debated. Bergsten con-

vened a panel of trade experts,

economists and others to meet sev-

eral times to critique Tyson's manu-

script as it evolved.

I happened to be a member of that

panel; I participated, admiringly, as

Tyson engaged some of her toughest
critics with grace, wit and real

knowledge and honed the manuscript
into a superb book. So I am not im-

partial. But I have come by my par-

tiality through a careful reading of

Tyson's work.

Some of Bergsten's colleagues

may now regret his invitation, since

it was the quality of the book and

the imprimatur of HE that helped

give Tyson one more credential that

put her on the short list to chair the

Council of Economic Advisers.

When President-elect Clinton

nominated Tyson, there was a spate
of rather lazy newspaper stories

based on some quick telephone re-

porting. The stories quoted leading

economists, mostly unnamed, saying
that Tyson was unqualified for the

job. Many of these anonymous crit-

jSl of course, had wanted the job for

themselves, or one of their col-

leagues, or at the very least for

their brand of economics.

These stories contained enough
sour grapes to fill a vineyard. Many
quoted senior economists churlishly

predicting that no economist of any
stature would deign to take one of

the other two positions on the coun-

cil, serving under Tyson.
WeU, this week Clinton named

Princeton economist Alan Blinder,

one of the two or three most distin-

guished macroeconomists of his

generation, to serve on the council

under Tyson. The New York Times'

Louis Uchitelle, a writer whom I

normally admire, broke the story of

the appointment in an article that

implied Blinder had been imposed
on Tyson to compensate for her

own lack of qualifications. In fact,

Tyson had energetically recruited

Blinder herself.

As the profession's princelings
deal with their wounded vanity, they

might wish to reexamine those eso-

teric models. Given its recent track

record, no academic disdpline has

less reason for the stunning arro-

gance so characteristic of econom-
ics. As an act of reflection and re-

education, they might begin by

reading Tyson's book.
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WALL STREET JOURNAL December 14,1992

Tyson to Bring Nontraditional Views

To Council of Economic Advisers Job

By Rick Wartzman
Staff Reporter of TiiK Wall Strekt Jol-rsal

WASHINGTON - Since its founding 46

years ago. the Council of Economic Ad-

visers has been a vociferous voice for free

trade in internal White House disputes.

Laura D'Andrea Tyson may well turn that

tradition on its head.

In fact. President-elect Clinton's pick to

run the panel "is a proponent of many of

New Chief of Staff

President-elect Clinton's decision to se-

lect Thomas McLarty as his chief of staff

bucks recent history. See article on page
.\12. In other developments:

Reich and Magaziner have an oppor-

tunity to test their theories, A12.

Backgrounds of latest cabinet-level

nominees are summarized. A4.

the things that previous council chair-

men would have tried to prevent," says

Carnegie-Mellon University's Allan

Meltzer.

In her new book "Who's Bashing
Whom," for example, Ms. Tyson begins
with the notion that "free trade is not

necessarily and automatically the best

policy." While making a strong case

against protectionism, she argues that

the U.S. should provide "countervailing
subsidies" to industries that can demon-
strate that they have been harmed by the

subsidies other governments give to their

companies.
The choice of the 45-year-oid Ms. Ty-

son, an economist at the University of

California at Berkeley, surprised many of

her colleagues, including some in the Clin-

ton camp. Her standing in the academic
world doesn't match some of her rivals for

the post. "She's more of a translator

and communicator of economic ideas than

a front-line theorist." says Paul Krugman
of the .Massachusetts Institute of Technol-

ogy, where .Ms. Tyson earned her Ph.D.

Mr. Krugman. who nonetheless says he

admires her work, also was considered for

the CEA job.

But it is Ms. Tyson's stance on giving
federal aid to specific sectors that is most

troubling to mainstream economists.

Charles Schultze. who was chairman of the

CEA under Jimmy Carter, was critical of

Ms. Tyson's views at an economics forum

just a couple of weeks ago. He said

that, while he agreed with several specific

policy recommendations in her new book,

he didn't like the sound of the "background
music" -

namely, the idea that high-tech
industries deserve special support from
the government.

Exactly what impact Ms. Tyson will

have in the Clinton White House isn't

clear. Although the president-elect said the

CEA would "be more central in my admin-
istration" than in any since President

Kennedy's time, he announced Ms. Ty-
son's appointment a day after nominating
five more-moderate members of his eco-

nomic team. Two Nobel laureates. James
Tobin and Robert Solow. have expressed
concerns that Mr. Clinton's creation of a

National Economic Council may relegate
the CEA to second-tier status.

Over the years, the CEA has been
led by some of the top names in academia.

including Arthur Okun. Martin Feldstein

and President Bush's chairman. Michael

Boskin. Many less-renowned figures also

have headed the panel, and Ms. Ty-
son's credentials are certainly stronger
than some of her predecessors.

Perhaps what is most unusual about the

selection is that Ms. Tyson is more of an

expert on specific trade and technology
issues than she is on broad macroeconomic

policies. Two other members of the CEA.
who could provide strength in the macroe-

conomics area, are still to be named.

Some are encouraged by Ms. Tyson's

fresh perspective. "She represents cutting-

edge thinking," says Jeff Faux, president

of the liberal Economic Policy Institute.



181

Laura Tyson to Bring

Nontraditional Views

To Economic Council

Continued From Paqe A2

"^She's part of a new generation of econo-

mists that look at how you compete in

a world where borders are porous."
Yet some fear how her ideas will play

out. especially in Washington. "There
has been a line of thought developed that

some degree of managed trade can be

good." says Lyle Gramley, a CEA member
in the Carter administration. "The prob-
lem is that when you start down that path,

you may not know where to stop. .\nd

even if you do, the politicians may not

let you."
Those who have worked with Ms. Tyson

say she isn't as extreme as she is often

painted. M.I.T.'s Mr. Krugman says Ms.

Tyson tends to set higher hurdles for

an industry to receive a government sub-

sidy than do many others who promote
"industrial policy." An industry "would
"Rave to make a more convincing case in

Tyson's world" that it has spillover effects

that benefit the economy as a whole. Mr.

Krugman says. He puts her in the school of

"deft interventionists." Ms. Tyson takes a

similar line, describing herself as a "cau-
tious activist."

But in some eyes, her words are

hardly cautious. Four years ago, Ms. Ty-
son wrote that "some industries are more
strategic than others" and deserve extra

help from the government. "The next

president will have to force this issue," she
wrote in the Harvard Business Review,
"because his economic advisers almost

assuredly will not."

This time around, of course, at least

one of them assuredly will.
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HEADLINE: Clinton aide mulls options for activism: Michael Prowse profiles a

key member of the president-elect industrial team

BYLINE: By MICHAEL PROWSE

BODY:
LAURA D'Andrea Tyson is one of those 'cautious activists' who surround Bill

Clinton. If there is a more aggressive US inaustrial policy unaer the new
president, much of it will be put down to her.

'I have always walked a tightrope,' says Ms Tyson, a professor of economics
at the University of California's Berkeley campus and one of the few women
likely to exert an important influence on the Clinton administration's economic
policy.

She performs something of a balancing act within the US economics
profession. She is far more sceptical of free market theories than many
colleagues. She was one of the few US academics willing to defend the 1986
semiconductor trade deal between the US and Japan under which Tokyo agreed to
assist foreign companies in achieving a 20 per cent share of the Japanese
market. Many theorists regard such 'managed trade' agreements as covert
protection.

Yet she is anxious not to be typecast as a believer in crude government
intervention. 'I was defending a particular form of managed trade in special
circumstances,' she says.

Ms Tyson is a senior member of President-elect Bill Clinton's economic
transition team and is likely to get an important economic post in the new
administration, probably in a revaunped commerce department or the proposed new
Economic Security Council.

Over the next month her main task is to prepare policy options for Mr
Clinton in high-technology and manufacturing industry. In other words, she will
be mulling the options for a more aggressive US industrial policy.

'Cautious activist' is Ms Tyson's self description. It is a phrase that

accurately Describes most of Mr Clinton's advisers, including his economic czar,
Mr Robert Reich of Harvard's Kennedy School of Government. Mr Reich - who has
hinted he wishes to return to Harvard after the transition - has argued for a

bigger government role, especially in education, training and infrastructure.

Mr Lawrence Summers, chief economist at the World Bank and another leading
economic transition team member, is a cautious activist too. He has long
supported tax incentives to spur industrial investment and at the World Bank has
directed a project analysing east Asian industrial development, which stressed
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the role of government more than has been fashionable in the US.

However, main economic innovations in the Clinton administration are likely
to occur in industrial and technology policy - Ms Tyson's field.

She sets out her thinking at length in a new book, Who's Bashing Whom: Trade
Conflict in High-Technology Industries, published last week by the
Washington-based Institute for International Economics. This focuses on trade
conflicts in areas such as semiconductors and commercial aircraft as a platform
for articulating a new activist agenda.

The message is that the US must react domestically to competitors' policies:
'Flawed domestic choices, not unfair trade practices, are the main cause of the
nation's long run economic slowdown,' she writes. Trade oolicies 'cannot
compensate for domestic programmes that remain fiscally and intellectually
impoverished' .

As part of a strategic response to the end of the cold war, she wants the US
to 'develop an institutional capability for assessing competitive and
technological trends in high-technology industries and begin to shift its R&D
(research and development) moneys from military to civilian programmes'.

Such an agency, possibly within the Coimnerce Department, could provide
'industry-specific information' to formulate domestic strategies for winning
back market share. To improve US competitiveness she favours more generous tax
incentives for corporate RSD, heavy federal investment in civilian R&D and
targeted subsidies for strategic industries, such as semiconductors and
supercomputers .

She says the wisest response to subsidies abroad is often to introduce
subsidies at home. The scope for action is large: US industrial subsidies are
worth only 0.5 per cent of gross domestic product, compared with 1 per cent in
Japan and 3 per cent in Europe.

On trade, she believes the US should continue to promote a multilateral
rule-based system. But the rules should be modified to permit domestic
subsidies. She believes the European Community was justified in subsidising
Airbus .

What Ms Tyson regards as cautious activism, however, may be seen abroad as
threatening behaviour. If her thinking proves a good guide to the Clinton
administration's approach, other countries will have to come to terms with a DS
which pursues its own interests far more nakedly than in the past.
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High marits for

DCs Tyson's

stew of views

THBNOMINATXXofUC

Bcricclcy coooomka Pjo-

fcssor LJura D'Andrea

TyscjQ to bead President-

elect Bfll Ointoo's Council of Eco-

Domic Advisos seail shudders

through the balls of Washiagtoa'i
cooscrv^ve think tanks.

If cxxifirmed, the 45-year-oid
sdf-dcsaribed "cautious activist*

will beoocnc the first woman to chair

the oxiacil since its ciralioQ 46 years

ago and ooe of the few to aclvxxale «

shlA away frocn unbridled firee-trade

policies. Her sxipport of more tnai>-

aged trade and industrial poticies has

pTocQpted a cl>orus of groans ftoui

firce-trade advocates who believe her

policies win lead (he country fiotber

into ecxxKxnic decline. B«Abcr oacn-

inatioQ has been bailed by progres-
sive and moderate ccooomists who
view her policies as a breath of &csh

air for the natioo.

"I can't think ofanyone better to

deal with the global economic issues

in a docDcstic cofiie.it,' said

ocxxKxnist and columnist Julianne

Malvcaux.

"Sbc willbc a distinguished,

haidworldng. energetic and enor-

mously productive chair of the

council," said John Quiglcy, chair of

Berkeley's ecooomics department.
"She will bring &rsh ideas and a

new perspective (to the job)."

Tysoo, who served as one of

CUoloa's economic advisers during
(he campaign and is part cf his trao-

sidoQ icanx, did not return Bay
Guarcfian phooc calls.

Tyson's specialty as director of

the university 's Bcrisley
Roundlable oo the IntcmatiaQal

Ecoootsy and bead of the Institute

of Inirmarimal Studies has beca in

comparatrve aixl Intemarional eoo-

tiomics, with a recent focus on higb-

techi»logy. Like the president-elect,

Tyson eschews tnkftioDal labeh

and has created a niche for bersetf

with a mix ofviews that defy

pigeooboGng. She has been a strong
advocate for hi gh lednx)logy sufasi-

<fics and transfer of the "peace <fivi-

dead" from military programs 10

selected industries in an effort to

promote high-paying U.S. Jobs,
which she says b crucial to a healthy

ocooomy. Tysoo has said that

nadooal seaxity depends oa eco-

nomic secudty.

TysoQ has also promoted tough
trade rcstrictioQS in rctaliatkn for

Intcxnatkxial rcstrictioos as a way to

bcrease VS. marksts around (he

world, tmmodiale federal spoxfing
on (he tattoo's infrastructmc, a tar-

geted caprtal-gains tax cut, and addi-

tiooal de5cit spcocEng to boost the

U.S. eoooomy.

"My trade policy is a defensive

one," Tysoo wrote in hex new booc.

Who '5 Rishing WhomTThuU Con-

flict in High-Technology Indusoits.

, *I recomioetxl that the natioo's trafk

,
laws be used to detex or compensate
for foreign practices that arc not

adequately reguiaied by existing

multilaleral rule*."

Tysoo'f stew ofviews prompted
Malvcaux to pbce her philosophy as

somewhat to the right ofCUntoo's

labor scu etary-nnm iryr. and Har-

vard lecturer Robert Reich, and to

the lef^ of Brooldngs Institutioa

economist Alice Rivlin. tapped by
Qlnloo to serve as deputy budget
(£rcctor. Certainly she wiU be much
tnorc progressive than CGntoa's

choice of Uoyd Bentscn as secre-

tary of the Treasury.
"The place 1 would raise (fjes-

dcns is (be macroccoGotnic

approach she b likely to take,"

Malvcaux said. "It may not trickle

down, unless she b careful, to poor

people and people of color."

Tysoo'a bigjjcst impact may
come in Ibe aatioo's technology
industries. Much ofher recent focm
has been 00 high-tech andocdjvcr-

sioQ of tbc "peace dividend* (o llxBe

markets. That focus b likely to pro-

vide economic support for Califoc-

nia't ailing indvis&ics. In Who's

Bashing Whom. Tysoo wrote that

"Vrhn
irdogy-tnt/Tyd

yy industries, in

particular, make special oootribo-

tioDs to the long-term health of the

American ecxjooaiy." (Cotnddca-
taDy or not, the day before Tyson's
noodnatioo, her current bass, UC
presjdeal Jack Pcltasoo, unveiled a

new plan to create a new cotpor*-
tioo designed to market the universi-

ty 'a technology research for oom-

merdalusc.)

Tysoo also appears ready to

expand the trac&tknal role of the

council chair and to work 00 a vari-

ety ofdomestic issues— from
hcafafa care to euv liuumental policy.
She has repeatedly called for greater
attmtvjo to (he ttatloo's tn&astruc-

tlBVL

"An emergency federal speacEng
program to repair (he tiatioo's

bridges, highways, and airports,

cotnbined with a temporary cxtcn-

sioo oftmemploymcnt benefits,

oould cure (he ecooomy 's tecessioo-

ary tnalaise and provide (he grouod-
work for its long-tcmi revival,"

Tysoo wrote in (he Los Angeles
Times last year.'

Cutting (be deficit has tkot been
ooe ofTyson's major goals, and in

(be same article, she noted that her

plana "would hkcicase tl^ budget
deficit, but additional defkjt spcnd-

bg. not a defidt-Dcutral tax break as

some Dfanocrats have proposed, B
what'a iK«ded to prime the pump of

recovery."
Another area ofcoocem for

Tysoo'f cxitks has been her support
of managed trade over free trade.

Tyson has argued (hat many cout>-

trics engage in some form of man-

aged trade and (hat (he Unilcd Slates

must aggressively foQow sui( if it

expects to compete into the next

century.

In a 1990 paper, Tysoo wrote,
"for infooned policymaking, the

real choices axe not choices between

pure free trade and protrctioo
—

which most economists incorrectly

equate with ounagcd trade — but

chokes about (he appropriate oom-
binatioQ of liberalizatioa and gov-
ernment that will lmp»ove (he

national economic welfare."

Dion Nissenbaum
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